

LUND UNIVERSITY

Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

Cloodt, Erika

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Cloodt, E. (2022). Knee contracturé in children with cerebral palsy. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00







Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

ERIKA CLOODT

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

Erika Cloodt



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Festsalen Sigfridsområdet, Växjö, on Friday, October 28th, 2022, at 1.00 pm.

> *Faculty opponent* Docent Per Åstrand, The Karolinska Institute, Sweden

Organization	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION									
Department of Orthopedics	Date of issue										
Clinical Sciences, Lund	2022-10-28										
Author: Erika Cloodt Sponsoring organization											
Title and subtitle Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy											
Abstract											
Background: Lower limb contractures are a common problem among children with cerebral plasy (CP). Knee contractures affect both ambulant and non-ambulant children and may affect their ability to move, stand, walk and transfer, and increase the risk of asymmetric posture and further contracture development. To prevent severe contracture development it is crucial to identify children with reduced range of motion early and begin targeted treatment.											
Purpose: To increase knowledge ab of contracture development and the r	out the development of knee contractue eliability of popliteal angle measureme	rres; prevalence, risk factors, sequence ents.									
Methods: Study I was a cross-sectional study of the total population of children with CP in Sweden. Data from the CPUP registry was used to identify factors associated with knee contracture. In study II, the interrater reliability of the unilateral- and bilateral popliteal angle tests were evaluated in children and youth with CP. Study III and IV were logitudinal cohort studies analysing the location and sequence of contracture development in the lower limb. Children at levels I-V of the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) were included.											
Results: Knee contractures occur in children at all GMFCS levels and the prevalence increases with lower motor function and higher age. Of all children with CP, 22% have a knee contracture. Knee contracture is strongly associated with short hamstring muscles. When measuring hamstring length in children with CP both unilateral and bilateral measurement of the popliteal angle are reliable.											
While comparing hip, knee- and ankl with GMFCS level I or II and the knee 34% of all legs and the median time I primary contracture, 44% developed more likely to develop a second knee or ankle contracture as a second con	While comparing hip, knee- and ankle contracture development, the ankle contracture occurs earliest in children with GMFCS level I or II and the knee contracture in children with GMFCS level III-V. Contracture developed in 34% of all legs and the median time to the first contracture was 10 years from first examination. Of legs with a primary contracture, 44% developed a second contracture. Children with a primary hip or ankle contracture were more likely to develop a second knee contracture. Children with a primary knee contracture developed either a hip or ankle contracture as a second contracture.										
Conclusion: Knee contracture is a common problem for children with CP and occurs in children at all GMFCS levels. Knee contractures are associated with higher GMFCS level and are the first contractures to occur in children at GMFCS level III-V. A primary contracture affects the development of further contractures. Early interventions to prevent knee contractures should be considered.											
Key words cerebral palsy, contracture, knee, ROM, musie length, reliability, children											
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)											
Supplementary bibliographical information Language English											
ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-8021-297-7											
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 72	Price									
	Security classification										

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

signature EnterClert

Date 2022-09-07

Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

Erika Cloodt



Contact information

Erika Cloodt Tel: +46 703 22 78 02 Mail: erika.cloodt@med.lu.se

Cover photo by Sally Cloodt. Figures used with permission from Playmobil Europe

Copyright © Erika Cloodt

Paper 1 © 2018 the Authors

Paper 2 © 2021 the Authors

Paper 3 © 2021 the Authors

Paper 4 © 2022 the Authors

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Section of Orthopedics

ISBN 978-91-8021-297-7 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN Play is the highest form of research

Albert Einstein

Table of Contents

Original papers	9
Abbreviations	10
Definitions	11
Thesis at a glance	12
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	13
Introduction	17
History of cerebral palsy	
Definition	17
Prevalence	
Classifications of subtypes	19
Classification of gross motor function	20
The muscle in cerebral palsy Muscle pathology	22
Knee contracture Clinical implication Management	24 24 25
CPUP: The follow-up program for cerebral palsy The clinical examination in CPUP	26
The popliteal angle measurement	29
The aims of this thesis	
Materials and methods	
Study design	
Participants and methods Study I Study II Study III	33 33 34 34
Study IV	35
Statistics	35
Ethics	36

Results	37
Study I: Risk factors associated with knee contracture	37
Study II: Interrater reliability of the popliteal angle tests	
Study III: First lower limb contracture	
Study IV: Sequence of lower limb contracture development	41
Discussion	43
Prevalence of contractures	43
Clinical Measuring	44
Sequence of contracture development	46
Early detection and interventions	47
Limitations	52
Study I	
Study II Study III and IV	53
Clinical implications	55
Conclusions	57
In summary	57
Future research	58
Acknowledgements	59
Grants	61
References	63

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following original papers and are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Cloodt E, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Demographic and modifiable factors associated with knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018 Apr;60(4):391-396.
- II. Cloodt E, Krasny J, Jozwiak M, Rodby-Bousquet E. Interrater reliability for unilateral and bilateral tests to measure the popliteal angle in children and youth with cerebral palsy. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2021 Mar 13;22(1):275.
- III. Cloodt E, Wagner P, Lauge-Pedersen H, Rodby-Bousquet E. Knee and foot contracture occur earliest in children with cerebral palsy: a longitudinal analysis of 2,693 children. Acta Orthop. 2021 Apr;92(2):222-227.
- IV. Cloodt E, Lindgren A, Lauge-Pedersen H, Rodby-Bousquet E. Sequence of flexion contracture development in the lower limb: a longitudinal analysis of 1,071 children with cerebral palsy. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022 Jul 2;23(1):629.

Abbreviations

CI	Confidence Intervals
СР	Cerebral Palsy
CPUP	Cerebral Palsy Follow-Up Program and National Quality Registry
GMFCS	Gross Motor Function Classification System
GMFM	Gross Motor Function Measure
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
KM	Kaplan Meier
OR	Odds Ratio
ROM	Range of Motion
SCPE	Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe
SD	Standard Deviation

Definitions

Ankle flexion contracture	Contracture of the ankle joint, placing the ankle in plantarflexion and preventing full dorsiflexion.
Cerebral palsy	A group of permanent disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing activity limitations which are attributed to non-progressive disturbances that occur in the developing fetal or infant brain. The motor disorders are often accompanied by disturbances of sensation, perception, cognition, communication, behaviour, epilepsy and secondary musculoskeletal problems ^{1,2} .
Contracture	Reduced range of motion in a joint due to a permanent shortening of a muscle-tendon unit that occurs when soft tissue loses elasticity and cannot be stretched, either passively or by antagonistic muscles ³ .
Hip flexion contracture	Contracture of the hip joint, placing the hip in flexion and preventing full extension.
Knee flexion contracture	Contracture of the knee joint, placing the knee in flexion and preventing full extension.
Spasticity	Disordered sensori-motor control, resulting from an upper motor neuron lesion, presenting as intermittent or sustained involuntary activation of muscles ⁴ .

Thesis at a glance

Study	Questions	Methods	Results	Conclusions
I	What is the prevalence of knee contracture in children with CP and how are they associated with GMFCS level, age, sex, spasticity and muscle length?	Cross-sectional study of a total population of 3045 children with CP, born 2000-2014.	A knee contracture occurred in 22% of the children. The prevalence was higher in older children and in those with higher GMFCS level. Knee contractures were associated with reduced muscle length of the hamstrings.	Knee contracture is associated with higher GMFCS level, older age, and shorter muscle length; spasticity has a small effect. Maintaining muscle length, especially of the hamstrings, might be important for reducing the risk of knee contracture.
II	Are the unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests reliable measures when used in children and youths with CP?	Two independent physiotherapists examined 70 children and youths with CP, aged 5-22 years, at GMFCS level I- IV. Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated.	The interrater reliability was high for both measurements. The ICC values were 0.80 on the right and 0.86 on the left for the unilateral test and 0.82 on the right and 0.83 on the left for the bilateral test.	Both unilateral and bilateral measurement of the popliteal angle are reliable methods for estimating hamstrings length.
Ш	Which lower limb contracture occur earliest in children with CP?	Longitudinal cohort study of 2693 children with CP born 1990- 2018 and registered in CPUP before 5 years of age.	A contracture developed in 34% of all legs and the prevalence increased with higher age and GMFCS level. The first contracture to occur in children with GMFCS level I or II was an ankle contracture, and a knee contracture was the first contracture to occur in GMFCS level III to V.	Early interventions to prevent knee and ankle contractures in children with CP should be considered.
IV	How is a primary hip, knee or ankle contracture associated with the time to and sequence of contracture development in adjacent joints?	Longitudinal cohort study of 1071 children with CP born 1990- 2018, registered in CPUP before 5 years of age with a primary contracture of the hip, knee or ankle.	A second contracture developed in 44% of the legs. The frequency of multiple contractures increased with higher GMFCS level. Children with a primary hip or ankle contracture were more likely to develop a second knee contracture. Children with a primary knee contracture developed either a hip or ankle contracture as a second contracture.	Multiple contractures were associated with higher GMFCS level. Lower limb contractures appeared in specific patterns where the location of the primary contracture and GMFCS level were associated with contracture development in adjacent joints.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Cerebral pares (CP) är ett samlingsnamn för olika typer av motorisk funktionsnedsättning. CP beror på en skada i hjärnan som inträffar antingen i fosterstadiet, vid födseln eller innan två års ålder. CP är den vanligaste orsaken till rörelsenedsättningen hos barn och ungdomar och varje år föds cirka 200 barn i Sverige som får diagnosen CP. Symptomen varierar från knappt märkbara till mycket begränsande för individen och innebär bland annat nedsatt rörelseförmåga och nedsatt förmåga att stabilisera kroppen.

Barn med CP har mindre och svagare muskler än andra barn. Muskeltillväxten är försämrad vilket gör att musklerna inte växer i samma takt som skelettet. För att kompensera för detta blir muskelsenorna istället längre och fibrerna inuti muskeln utdragna. Trots detta är det mycket vanligt att barn och vuxna med CP får en sådan muskelförkortning att de inte längre har full rörlighet i sina leder. Detta kallas kontraktur. En av de vanligaste kontrakturerna bland personer med CP är knäkontraktur som innebär att man inte kan sträcka ut knät till rakt läge. Detta påverkar både de som kan gå och de som inte är gångare, försämrar gångmönstret, gör det svårt att klara förflyttningar och gör det svårt att ligga och stå rakt.

Syftet med denna avhandling var att studera hur vanligt det är med knäkontrakturer hos barn med CP, vilka faktorer som kan kopplas till förekomsten, utvärdera två metoder att mäta muskellängd på lårets baksida (hamstringsmuskeln) och undersöka var och i vilken ordning kontrakturer i höft, knä och fotled uppstår.

Sedan 1994 finns ett uppföljningsprogram för barn med CP i Sverige (CPUP). Sedan 2005 är CPUP också ett nationellt kvalitetsregister och från 2009 inkluderas även vuxna med CP i programmet. Syftet med programmet är att följa individer systematiskt med mätningar av ledrörlighet, röntgen och andra undersökningar för att kunna ge förebyggande insatser i rätt tid om det upptäcks försämring. Personer med CP kan beskrivas utifrån sin grovmotoriska förmåga med hjälp av The Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) som är en femgradig skala baserad på förmågan att sitta, stå och förflytta sig. Personer i nivå I kan sitta och gå själv utan hjälpmedel medan personer i nivå V inte kan sitta utan stöd och har stora svårigheter att förflytta sig även med hjälpmedel.

I studie I undersöktes förekomsten av knäkontrakturer och eventuella samband med ålder, kön, GMFCS, muskellängd och spasticitet hos samtliga barn inkluderade i CPUP. I studie II testades två sätt att mäta längden på muskeln på lårets baksida (hamstringsvinkeln) för att se hur väl mätresultaten stämde överens mellan två oberoende bedömare. I studie III och IV följdes barn med CP över tid för att undersöka vilken led som först drabbades av en kontraktur och hur många barn som sen fick fler kontrakturer och i vilka leder.

Resultaten av studierna visade att knäkontrakturer förekom hos barn på samtliga GMFCS nivåer och att totalt 22% av alla barn med CP hade en knäkontraktur. Sannolikheten ökade med svårare grad av CP (högre GMFCS nivå) och med högre ålder. Barn med försämrad hamstringsvinkel hade särskilt stor risk att ha knäkontraktur och en hamstringsvinkel under 120 grader tio-dubblade sannolikheten för knäkontraktur. Både unilateral och bilateral mätning av hamstringslängden är reliabla metoder, dvs tillförlitliga mätmetoder som visar god överensstämmelse mellan olika bedömare. Hos barn på GMFCS nivå I och II var det vanligast att den första kontrakturen uppstod i fotleden. Hos barn på GMFCS nivå III till V var det vanligast att första kontrakturen uppstod i knäleden. Den första kontrakturen uppstod efter en mediantid på 10 år från första bedömning. Totalt fick 34% av barnen en kontraktur. Det var vanligast att få den andra kontrakturen i en intilliggande led till den först drabbade.

SLUTSATSER:

Knäkontrakur är vanligt hos barn med CP och förekommer hos barn på alla GMFCS nivåer. Förekomsten ökar med svårighetsgrad av CP och med ålder. En hamstringsvinkel under 120 grader tio-dubblar sannolikheten för knäkontraktur. Spasticitet i lår- eller vadmuskel har ett svagt samband med förekomsten av knäkontraktur.

Unilateral och bilateral mätning av hamstringslängd visar god reliabilitet.

Det är vanligast för barn på GMFCS nivå I och II att få en fotledskontraktur först, medan barn på GMFCS nivå III-V oftast får en knäkontraktur först.

Kontrakturer i nedre extremitet uppstår ofta tidigt. Tidigare insatser för att förebygga knä- och fotledskontrakturer bör övervägas. Insatserna bör anpassas efter barnets GMFCS nivå. "Having cerebral palsy can be difficult sometimes. That is something you don't always understand. I'm not as fast as the other children and everyone else can ride a bike. I notice this a lot. In school they have this rule; you must carry objects with two hands in the stairs. But I have to hold on to the rail with one hand when walking in stairs. Therefore, others must carry my belongings. I think about situations like this a lot. I think you should also think more about it. Children's thoughts are important!"

Smilla, 10 years

Introduction

History of cerebral palsy

Cerebral palsy (CP) is the umbrella term for a group of brain disorders affecting motor function, movement and posture. CP is caused by an injury to the developing brain during pregnancy, at birth or before two years of age. CP is a permanent, but not degenerative, disorder ².

CP was first described in 1862 by an English orthopaedic surgeon, William Little. He described children with spasticity and stiff extremities and understood that there was a connection between the neurological system and the muscle deformities. He described contractures and deformities as a result of the brain injury. He stated that CP was caused by difficult birth and classified the children based on their clinical symptoms into hemiplegic rigidity (one side affected), paraplegic rigidity (legs more affected than the arms) and generalized rigidity ^{5,6}. Little, however, never used the term "cerebral palsy" himself. The first recorded use of the term was by William Osler in 1888. Sigmund Freud (1856-1939) stated that CP could be caused by abnormal brain development even before birth. He also linked changes to the brain with types of paresis. In the early 1920s the American orthopaedic surgeon, Winthrop Phelps made an important contribution to the understanding of CP when advocating physical therapy, orthoses and nerve blocks as management of CP and being conservative to surgery. He grouped all movement disorders under the term dyskinesia and classified spasticity, athetosis, dyskinesia, ataxia and tremor as subtypes ^{7,8}.

Definition

In 1959 Mac Keith et al. published a definition of CP as "a permanent but not unchanging disorder of movement and posture, appearing in the early years of life due to a non-progressive disorder of the brain, the result of interference during its development" ⁸. In 1992 Mutch et al. defined CP as "an umbrella term covering a group of non-progressive but often changing, motor impairment syndromes secondary to lesions or anomalies of the brain arising in the early stage of development" ⁷. The most common definition of CP today is from Rosenbaum and colleagues ² from 2006; "Cerebral palsy (CP) describes a group of permanent

disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing activity limitations, that are attributed to non-progressive disturbances that occurred in the developing fetal or infant brain. The motor disorders of cerebral palsy are often accompanied by disturbances of sensation, perception, cognition, communication, and behaviour, epilepsy, and by secondary musculoskeletal problems".

The surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE), a collaboration of CP registers and surveys, have created a decision flow chart for clinicians with standardized inclusion and exclusion criteria of CP (Figure 1)^{9,10}.



Figure 1. The SCPE decision tree for inclusion or exclusion of cases of CP. The figure is reprinted with permission from Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 2000;42:816-24 ¹⁰.

Prevalence

CP is the most common motor disability in children ¹⁰ with a prevalence of 1.7/1000 live births in Sweden¹¹ and 1.77/1000 live births in Europe ¹². Worldwide, over 17 million people live with CP and approximately 200 children in Sweden are diagnosed with CP every year. The prevalence is highest among children born

before 28 weeks' gestation ¹³. A decrease in the birth prevalence of CP has been reported from high income populations during the first decades of the 21st century ^{14,15,11}. The reasons for this are multifactorial, including a decline in maternal smoking, children born post-term and improved neonatal care ¹⁶. CP is a lifelong condition and the estimated life expectancy has increased. For individuals with a mild form of CP the estimated life expectancy is similar to that of the general population ¹⁷.

Classifications of subtypes

The characteristics of CP depend on the location of the brain damage and the neurological symptoms. Spastic CP is the most common form.



Figure 2. Location of brain damage and CP types. The figure is reprinted with permission from the United Cerebral Palsy Association of Hawaii.

Since the first description of CP subtypes were made by Little, several different classification systems of subtypes have been used. The Swedish classification by Hagberg was used for many years in Sweden¹⁸. Hagberg categorized CP into spastic hemiplegia, spastic diplegia, spastic tetraplegia, ataxic CP (divided into ataxic diplegia or congenital ataxia), dyskinetic CP (divided into dystonic CP or choreoathetotic CP) and mixed form. Since the beginning of the 21st century, registers and databases for children and adults with CP, have used the SCPE classification with subtypes divided into spastic unilateral, spastic bilateral, ataxic,

dyskinetic and non-classifiable CP (Figure 3)^{9,10}. The SCPE classification has been used in this thesis.



SCPE Collaborative Group. Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2000;42:816-24.

Figure 3. The SCPE hierachical classification tree of CP subtypes. The figure is reprinted with permission from Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 2000;42:816-24 ¹⁰.

Classification of gross motor function

In addition to the classification of subtypes, children with CP are often described by their functional performance with a classification developed by Palisano et al.¹⁹ known as the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) (Figure 4). GMFCS is a 5-level classification system describing the child's self-initiated mobility such as sitting and transfer, and the use of assistive devices such as walkers and wheelchairs at different ages. Level I describes the highest level of function and level V the lowest. The GMFCS level tends to remain stable over time ²⁰. The GMFCS helps clinicians to objectively classify children with CP, predict future function, design treatment interventions and translate research into practice. The classification system has a high interrater reliability and validity, good content validity and high test-retest reliability^{19,21}.

GMFCS E & R between 6th and 12th birthday: Descriptors and illustrations



GMFCS descriptors: Palisano et al. (1997) Dev Med Child Neurol 39:214-23 CanChild: www.canchild.ca Illustrations Version 2 © Bill Reid, Kate Willoughby, Adrienne Harvey and Kerr Graham, The Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne ERC151050

Figure 4. The Gross Motor Classification System (GMFCS), level I to V for ages 6-12 years. The figure is reprinted with permission from Professor H. Kerr Graham, Royal Children's Hospital in Melbourne.

The muscle in cerebral palsy

Muscles are essential for our life and for everything we do. The interest for, and the understanding of, the skeletal muscle in CP has increased during the last years. Until recently, the skeletal muscle was seen as an "end organ" affected secondary to the neurological impairment. Instead, a lot of focus and research has been on spasticity and spasticity reducing treatment to prevent secondary complications. The latest research has now challenged the role of spasticity in contracture development and showed that spasticity and contractures develop parallel with each other rather than as a result ²²⁻²⁴. Treatment of spasticity has not managed to significantly prevent contractures and deformities ^{25,26}.

Muscle pathology

The skeletal muscle in children with CP differs from skeletal muscles of children without CP ^{27,28}. Children with CP have reduced muscle size and studies have estimated a reduction of 20-40 % compared to children without CP ²⁸⁻³¹. In general, the muscles are shorter and smaller in cross-sectional area and thickness but have longer tendons ²⁸. The reduced muscle growth can be seen already in toddlers with CP and the level of reduction increases with lower levels of motor function (higher GMFCS levels) ³². It is not known if the reduced muscle size is a result primarily of atrophy or an inability to grow ³³. The link between the neurological lesion and the cellular muscle pathology is not fully understood, and muscle size is not equally affected in all individuals with CP ²⁹.

A skeletal muscle consists of bundles of muscle fibres. Each muscle fibre consists of myofibrils that are composed of thousands of sarcomeres in series. In children without CP the sarcomere overlaps to optimize muscle function. In children with CP, the sarcomeres are significantly less in number and longer in length ³⁴, with a non-optimal overlapping which reduces the muscle's ability to generate force and speed (Figure 5) ²². Even though the muscle is shorter than in children without CP, the sarcomeres are highly stretched, sometimes beyond their normal operating length ³⁴. Functionally, long sarcomeres generate very low active tension which results in a weak muscle ³⁵.



Figure 5. Skeletal muscle hierarchy. (a) In children with cerebral palsy (CP) the ratio of belly to tendons and the muscle cross-sectional area is significantly reduced compared to children without CP. (b) Muscle belly divided into bundles of muscle fibers surrounded by collagen-based epimysium, perimysium and endomysium. (c) Each muscle fiber is comprised by myofibrils, contractile organelles made of serial arranged sarcomeres. (d) In TDC, actin and myosin filaments overlap to optimize the sarcomere length. (e) In CP, sarcomeres are overly long with sub-optimal actin-myosin overlap and reduced force genreating potential²². The figure is reprinted with permisson from Professor H. Kerr Graham, Royal Children's Hospital in Melbourne.

The skeletal muscle in CP also contains less satellite cells compared to children without CP. The satellite cells are responsible for muscle growth and for repairing the muscle ³⁶. Biopsies from hamstrings muscles from individuals with CP show less than half as many satellite cells compared to children without CP. The decreased

number of satellite cells might be a cause behind decreased longitudinal growth of muscles in CP that leads to fixed contractures and reduced ability to strengthen the muscles ³⁷.

Knee contracture

Contractures are defined as reduced range of motion in a joint due to a permanent shortening of a muscle-tendon unit that occurs when soft tissue loses elasticity and cannot be stretched, either passively or by antagonistic muscles ³. Contractures are a common problem for children with CP and one of the most discussed and challenging tasks in clinical settings ^{3,38}.

A contracture in the knee joint prevents the knee from reaching full extension and forces the knee into a permanent flexed position. Therefore, knee contractures are often referred to as a "knee flexion contracture". Knee extension contractures, when the child cannot bend their knee to full flexion also occur but are much less common than the knee flexion contractures described in this thesis. From now on, a knee flexion contracture will be referred to as a "knee contracture".

Clinical implication

A contracture can involve ligaments, capsule, tendons and muscles and arises when the structures develop limited extensibility and increased stiffness ³⁹. The main symptom of a contracture is the limited ability to move a joint but contractures can also cause secondary symptoms⁴⁰.

The ability to move is an important activity in daily life. Decreased mobility and contractures may lead to limited levels of activity and difficulties affecting participation ⁴¹⁻⁴⁴.

Ambulant children

For ambulant children a knee contracture primarily affects their gait pattern. Differences in gait patterns in persons with CP has been a cause for attention both in clinic and in research⁴⁰. The most common gait abnormalities of the knee occur in the sagittal plane ^{45,46}. A knee contracture can lead to decreased walking speed, stride and step length, higher energy cost during walk and fatigue ^{47,48}. Stronger forces on the knee joint can also lead to pain ⁴⁹. The most common gait pattern associated with the knee is the crouch gait (also referred to as flexed knee gait). Crouch gait is defined as excessive flexion of the knee with increased hip flexion and/or ankle dorsiflexion throughout the stance phase of gait ⁴⁵. Crouch gait can be categorized in severity levels based on the degrees of knee flexion: mild 20-30°, moderate 30-40° and severe $\geq 40^{\circ}$ ⁵⁰. The causes behind crouch gait are

multifactorial including muscle weakness of ankle plantar flexors or knee extensors, spasticity or contracture of hip or knee flexors, lever arm dysfunction or a combination. Short hamstrings muscle has been seen as the primary cause of crouch gait and most treatments for crouch gait focus on surgical lengthening of hamstrings. However, other studies have shown that many persons with crouch gait have normal hamstrings length and that an increased shortening of the hamstring length seems to occur secondary to walking in crouch rather than contributing to the development of the gait pattern ^{51,52}. On the other hand, a knee contracture of -10 degrees of extension or worse might have a major effect on development of crouch gait ⁵³. Tight hip flexors ⁵⁴ and weakness in gastrosoleus muscles ⁵⁵ also seem to be important contributors to crouch gait.

Non-ambulant children

For non-ambulant children a knee contracture impacts both the ability to stand and the ability to transfer from sit to stand ^{44,56}. A knee contracture is also a predictor for scoliosis which mainly affects children at GMFCS level IV and V ⁵⁷. In supine lying, limited knee extension may cause the legs to tilt to one side resulting in a rotation of the hips and pelvis which can affect the spine. Ágústsson et al. ⁵⁸ showed that adults with CP who were immobile and spend long periods in a lying position (>8 hours per day) had a higher likelihood for scoliosis and windswept hip deformities. Furthermore, knee and hip contractures are associated with postural asymmetries in both sitting and lying. Both contractures and postural asymmetries are associated with pain ⁵⁹ and pain is a common problem for children with CP, specially at GMFCS level V ⁶⁰.

Management

Knee contractures are challenging to treat. The management normally focuses on increasing hamstrings length ^{61,62}. Non-operative treatment includes orthoses, serial casting, botulinum toxin injections and strength training ⁶³⁻⁶⁵. However, the evidence for those treatments is limited. Using knee orthoses during night can be difficult for the child to tolerate and soft versions are often preferred. Even with the soft version, few families are able to maintain the treatment for more than 12 weeks in a row. Children with less severe knee contractures seem to tolerate the orthoses better ⁶⁶. Botulinum toxin injections to reduce spasticity of the hamstring muscles can provide temporary benefits for young children but are not as helpful for older children with fixed contractures ⁶⁷. Serial casting of the knee is also used as an initial treatment for knee contractures ⁶⁸. Although there are risks of skin break down and nerve stretch associated with the casting, it can in some cases successfully reduce resistant contractures and stretch the posterior capsule ⁶⁶. Serial casting is most likely to be a successful treatment in children under 12 years of age and for children with mild

contractures ⁶⁸. The evidence of strength training to prevent or treat knee contractures and improve hamstrings length is limited ⁶³. Limiting the time in sitting and lying with flexed knees and increase and support standing for children at higher GMFCS levels are also part of the prevention and treatment of knee contractures ⁶⁶.

Surgical treatments to improve knee extension and hamstrings length include hamstring lengthening, distal femoral extension osteotomy, distal tenotomy, hamstring transfer, rectus femoris transfer, patella tendon shortening, guided growth and knee capsulotomy ³⁸. Hamstring lengthening can improve knee extension and gait ³⁸ but should be combined with strength training, orthoses and reduced time spent with flexed knees during the day ⁶⁶. The risk for recurrence is highest for non-ambulant children, children at older age at the time for surgery and for children without additional treatment or follow up ^{66,69}.

CPUP: The follow-up program for cerebral palsy

The cerebral palsy follow-up program (CPUP) is a national surveillance program for children and adults with CP in Sweden. The program was initiated in 1994 as a collaboration between the orthopaedic departments and habilitation centres in southern Sweden. The aim of starting the program was to prevent the large number of hip displacements, contractures and deformities seen in children with CP. In 2005, the Swedish CPUP was certified as a national health care quality registry. Today, the program has a coverage rate of over 95% of all children with CP in Sweden, representing all 21 health care regions with a total population of 10.4 million inhabitants ⁷⁰. Since 2009, CPUP also includes adults with CP, and at present, over 2500 adults are followed in the program ⁷¹.

The priorities of CPUP are to prevent hip dislocations, severe contractures, scoliosis and other deformities with the goal of reducing pain and increasing quality of life for individuals with CP. The program also aims to describe the function and development of individuals with CP, evaluate treatment, increase knowledge about the diagnosis and improve collaboration between professionals and between professionals and families. The National Healthcare Quality Registry enables quality control and research ^{70,72}.

The systematic follow-up through CPUP has reduced the incidence of hip dislocations from 8% to 0.5% in Sweden ⁷³. The prevalence of scoliosis, windswept deformities⁷⁴ and severe contractures has also decreased significantly since the start of the program and the need for surgery to treat severe contractures has been reduced ⁷⁵.

Other countries have been inspired by CPUP and started similar follow-up programs such as Norway (2006), Denmark (2010), Scotland (2010), parts of Iceland and New South Wales in Australia (2012) and the Netherlands (2018).

Children with suspected CP are included in the program as early as possible. The diagnosis is verified by a neuropaediatrician from the age of 4 years. Children who do not fulfil the criteria for CP leave the program. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are in accordance with those identified by the SCPE (Figure 1)^{9,10}.

The clinical examination in CPUP

In CPUP, all children are followed with regular examinations by their local multiprofessional habilitation team. The examination includes gross- and fine motor function, dominant neurological symptoms, measurements of ROM, spasticity assessment, spinal assessment, posture, mobility, physical activity, pain and also standardized radiographic examinations of the hip and spine. The received treatments are also reported such as surgeries, use of orthoses, botulinum toxin injections, serial casting, physiotherapy. The result of the examination is reported into the CPUP database ⁷⁰. The examiners follow standardized protocols (https://cpup.se/) and the frequency of examinations depends on the child's age and GMFCS level (Figure 6).

Age, years	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
GMFCS I																								
GMFCS II		¢				¢																		
GMFCS III	ø	ø	¢	ŵ	¢	ø	ŵ	÷		÷		¢		¢		¢		÷		¢		÷		ġ
GMFCS IV	Ŷ	ø	Ŷ	¢	ø	¢	Ŷ	ŵ		Ŷ		÷		Ŷ		ŵ		Ŷ		Ŷ		Ŷ		Ŷ
GMFCS V	¢	¢	¢	¢	¢	¢	ø	÷		÷		÷		÷		¢		÷		÷		÷		ø
Clinical examination twice a year 🗾 Clinical examination 🙀 Hip radiograph																								

Figure 6. Guidelines for clinical examinations and hip radiograph within the Swedish Cerebral Palsy Follow-Up Program (CPUP).

Measuring range of motion (ROM)

The routine for measuring passive ROM in clinic is the goniometric measurement.

In CPUP, when measuring ROM of the hip extension, knee extension and ankle dorsiflexion the child is placed in a supine position on the examination table. When measuring hip extension, the tested leg is placed in extension outside the examination table. The contralateral leg is kept in hip and knee flexion (Figure 7).

Knee extension is measured with the hip and knee extended and ankle dorsiflexion is measured with the knee extended (Figure 8).



Figure 7. Hip extension measurement.



Figure 8. Knee extension measurement (left) and ankle dorsi flexion measurement (right).

The Modified Ashworth scale

To examine the spasticity level, CPUP uses the Modified Ashworth Scale ⁷⁶. The child is placed in a supine position. When testing a muscle that primarily flexes a joint; the examiner places the joint in maximum of flexion and then move to a position of maximal extension in one second. The examiner scores the muscle tone based on the following classification:

- **0** No increase in muscle tone.
- 1 Slight increase in muscle tone, manifested by a catch and release or by minimal resistance at the end of the ROM when the affected part(s) is moved in flexion or in extension.
- 1+ Slight increase in muscle tone, manifested by a catch, followed by minimal resistance throughout the remainder (less than half) of the ROM.
- 2 More marked increase in muscle tone through most of the ROM, but affected parts(s) easily moved.
- 3 Considerable increase in muscle tone, passive movement is difficult.
- 4 Affected part(s) rigid in flexion or extension.

The popliteal angle measurement

The popliteal angle test aims to measure the passive length of the hamstring muscle. This method is frequently used in clinic. In order to measure the ROM of the knee joint, the examiner places the child in a supine position at the examination table and measures knee extension with the hip in 90° flexion. There are different ways of performing the test, however, the unilateral and bilateral measurements are the most common ⁷⁷. For the unilateral test, the contralateral leg is placed and fixed in a fully extended position compared to the bilateral test where the contralateral leg is flexed at the hip to a position in which the anterior superior iliac spine and the posterior superior iliac spine are vertical (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Tests to measure the popliteal angle. (a) The unilateral popliteal angle is measured with typical lordosis, contralateral hip extended, and the ipsilateral hip flexed to 90°. (b) Bilateral popliteal angle is measured with the contralateral hip flexed until the anterior superior iliac spine and the posterior superior iliac spine are vertical. Reprinted with permission from Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy, 2nd edition, by James R. Gage, Michael H. Schwartz, Steven E. Koop and Tom F. Novacheck, published by Mac Keith Press (<u>www.mackeith.co.uk</u>) in its Clinics in Developmental Medicine Series, 2009, 9781898683650.

The aims of this thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase knowledge about the development of knee contractures; determine the prevalence, analyse risk factors, follow the time to and sequence of contracture development in the lower limb and evaluate the reliability of popliteal angle measurements in children with CP.

Study I	To determine the prevalence of knee contracture and its association with GMFCS level, age, sex, spasticity and muscle length in children with CP.
Study II	To evaluate the interrater reliability of unilateral and bilateral tests to measure the popliteal angle when used in children and youth with CP.
Study III	To analyse whether contracture preventing hip extension, knee extension, or ankle dorsiflexion occurs first in children with CP at GMFCS level I to V.
Study IV	To analyze if and how a hip, knee or ankle contracture affects the time to and sequence of contracture development in adjacent joints in children with CP at GMFCS levels I–V.

Materials and methods

Study design

Study I was a cross sectional study of children with CP followed by the CP followup program, analysing factors associated with knee contracture. Study II was a reliability study evaluating the interrater reliability of the unilateral and bilateral measurement of the popliteal angle. Study III and IV were longitudinal cohort studies analysing the occurrence and location of the first and following lower limb contractures in children with CP.

	aay me			
Demographics	Study I (%)	Study II (%)	Study III (%)	Study IV (%)
Participants	3045	70	2693 (4751 legs)	1071
Age range	1-15	5-22	0-30	0-30
Male/female	1756/1289	38/32	1598/1095	636/435
GMFCS I	1330 (44)	17 (24)	1901 legs (40)	185 (17)
GMFCS II	508 (17)	31 (44)	765 legs (16)	206 (19)
GMFCS III	280 (9)	12 (17)	540 legs (11)	156 (15)
GMFCS IV	449 (15)	10 (14)	752 legs (16)	234 (22)
GMFCS V	478 (16)	0 (0)	793 legs (17)	290 (27)

Participants and methods

Table 1 Participants in study I-IV

Note: The sum of all percentages may not total 100% due to rounding

Study I

Data for all 3045 children at GMFCS level I-V with CP aged 1-15 years from the Swedish CP registry born between 2000 and 2014 was included. The latest physiotherapy examination for each child performed in 2014-2015 was extracted and used for analysis. Passive knee extension was analysed according to age, sex, GMFCS level, spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors and the length of the gastrocnemius and hamstring muscles. Passive ROM of the knee, ankle and popliteal angle was measured with goniometric measurement according to the standardized protocol in CPUP (https://cpup.se/in-english/manuals-and-evaluation-
forms/). A knee contracture was classified as a mild contracture if the extension was -5° to -14° and as severe if the extension was -15° or worse. The hamstrings length was measured as the popliteal angle with the hip of the examined leg in 90° flexion and the contralateral leg fully extended. We classified a mildly reduced hamstrings length as a popliteal angle of 120° to 139° and a severely reduced hamstrings length as below 120° . The gastrocnemius length was classified by measuring the ankle dorsiflexion with the hip and knee extended. A dorsiflexion of 9° to 0° were considered a mildly reduced muscle length and $<0^{\circ}$ as severely reduced. Muscle tone in the hamstring muscle and the gastrocnemius muscle was measured according to the Modified Ashworth Scale ⁷⁶.

Study II

Measurements of the unilateral and bilateral test in 70 children and youth, age 5-22 years, with CP were analysed. The children were recruited at a rehabilitation centre in Poznan, Poland, between 10 June and 2 September 2019. Children with unilateral CP were excluded to ensure that no unaffected legs were analysed. All measurements were performed by two independent examiners on the same day for each child. Both examiners were recently graduated physiotherapists without previous experience of measuring children with CP. The test was performed according to figure 9.

Study III

The study included all available measurements from the start of the CP follow-up program in 1994 until the end of December 2018. Data for 2,693 children with a first examination in CPUP before 5 years of age were included in study III. The children were followed for an average of 5 years (range 0-24) during a study period of 24 years with 27,230 measurement occasions. ROM was measured as in study I. Repeated measures of passive hip extension, knee extension and ankle dorsiflexion were followed to analyse in which joint the first contracture occurred and when. A contracture was defined as a hip-, knee- or plantarflexion contracture of 10° or more. Legs that underwent soft tissue- or bony surgery and children with intrathecal baclofen pump (ITB) or who underwent selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR) before the onset of the first contracture were excluded from further analysis at the date of surgery. For children with unilateral CP, only the affected leg was followed in the analysis. Children with surgery on the upper extremity or the spine, fractures, serial casting or botulinum toxin injections were included in the analysis. The frequency and location of additional contracture development was recorded. In total 1071 children born between 1990 and 2018 and registered in CPUP before the age of 5 years were included.

Study IV

Study IV included all available measurements of children with a lower limb contracture in the hip, knee or ankle to analyse the frequency of additional contracture development. Children with at least one examination after their first measured contracture from the start of the CPUP follow-up program in 1994 until the end of December 2018 were included. Data for 1,071 children included in CPUP before 5 years of age were followed for an average of 4.6 years (range 0-17 years). A contracture was defined as in study III and legs that underwent lower limb surgery were excluded at the date of surgery according to study III.

Statistics

IBM SPSS statistics version 23-26 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA) was used in all studies. R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) was used in study I, III and IV. STATA (version 14, Stata-Corp, College Station, TX, USA) was used in study III. P-values < 0.05 were considered significant for all analyses in this thesis. Categorical variables were described by frequency (n) and percentages (%) in all studies.

In *study I* age was categorised into five groups (1-3 years, 4-6 years, 7-9 years and 13-15 years). The Ashworth levels were divided into three groups (0, 1-1+ and 2-4). The ROM measurements were also categorised into normal ROM, mild contracture and severe contracture. Pearson x^2 test was used to analyse the categorical data and x^2 test for trend to analyse knee contracture in relation to GMFCS level and age. The Watson-Williams test for homogeneity was used to compare the mean direction of knee extension and levels of categorical variables. Multiple binary regression was used to analyse the outcome knee contracture (Yes/No) with explanatory variables; age, sex, GMFCS level, muscle length and spasticity. The results of the regression analysis were presented as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence interval (CI). Nagelkerke R2 was used as a measure of goodness-of-fit.

In *study II* the interrater reliability was evaluated using the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) ⁷⁸ and a CI of 95% with two-way random and absolute agreement for single measures. The ICC calculates the degree of disagreement and should exceed 0.75. The ICC was estimated for the right and left side separately.

In *study III* hip, knee and ankle contractures were dichotomized into two groups: contracture/no contracture. The follow up time for each leg was calculated with separate Kaplan-Meier (KM) curves drawn for each leg's ROM to illustrate the proportion of contracture free legs at a given time. A 95% CI were generated for equally spaced time points every 2.5 year for each KM curve.

In *study IV* the time from the first to second contracture for each leg in each child was calculated using Cox proportional-hazards model, adjusting for GMFCS level. This was done both for all legs and separately according to the joint where the first contracture occurred. Legs with more than one contracture measured at baseline were only included in the descriptive analyses and when analysing the time between contractures. They were then excluded when analysing the sequences of contracture development. The x^2 test was used to analyse in which joint the second contracture occurred according to the GMFCS level; this analysis was performed separately for joints with a baseline contracture of the hip, knee, or ankle. The p-for-trend was calculated using logistic regression to analyse systematic, linear, associations of contracture development in these joints relative to the GMFCS levels.

Ethics

Ethical approval was granted by the Medical Research Ethics Committee at Lund University for study I, III and IV (383/2007, 443-99) and permission was obtained to extract data from the CPUP registry. Study II was approved by the Ethical Committee of Poznan University of Medical Sciences (nr 244/20) and written informed consent was obtained from a parent or guardian for participants under 18 years of age.

Results

Study I: Risk factors associated with knee contracture

A knee contracture was reported in 685 (22%) of the 3045 children. Of these, 12% had a mild contracture (-5° to -14°) and 10% had a severe contracture (-15° or worse). The prevalence of knee contractures increased with higher GMFCS level. None of the children at GMFCS level I had a severe contracture compared to 35% of the children at level V. The prevalence of contracture also increased with older age and was slightly more common in males than in females (Table 2).

	Knee extension					
Variable	Level	Normal ROM ≥-4° <i>n</i> (%)	Mild contracture -5° to -14° <i>n</i> (%)	Severe contracture ≤ -15° <i>n</i> (%)		
Sex	Male	1300 (75)	220 (13)	199 (12)		
	Female	993 (79)	149 (12)	117 (9)		
Age (years)	1-3	461 (93)	30 (6)	5 (1)		
	4-6	611 (85)	85 (12)	25 (3)		
	7-9	576 (77)	90 (13)	66 (10)		
	10-12	443 (67)	103 (16)	112 (17)		
	13-15	262 (61)	61 (14)	108 (25)		
GMFCS level	I	1214 (94)	73 (6)	0 (0)		
	П	447 (89)	49 (10)	4 (1)		
	Ш	199 (72)	43 (16)	33 (12)		
	IV	236 (53)	96 (22)	112 (25)		
	V	197 (42)	108 (23)	167 (35)		

Table 2. Distribution of knee extension in relation to sex, age and GMFCS level.

Note: GMFCS; Gross Motor Function Classification System, ROM; range of motion

The risk factors demonstrating strongest association with knee contracture were GMFCS level IV and V, severely reduced hamstrings length and an age over 10 years. Reduced hamstrings length with an angle below 120° increased the likelihood of having a knee contracture by almost ten times. Severely reduced muscle length in the gastrocnemius muscle also had a small association with knee contracture whereas spasticity had a very small effect (Table 3).

Variable	Level	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Sex	Male	Ref.		
	Female	0.95	(0.71–1.27)	0.714
Age (y)	1–3	Ref.		
	4–6	1.88	(1.02-3.49)	0.044
	7–9	3.27	(1.80–5.94)	<0.001
	10–12	5.18	(2.84–9.45)	<0.001
	13–15	6.80	(3.62–12.77)	<0.001
GMFCS level	I	Ref.		
	Ш	0.95	(0.58–1.57)	0.849
	III	3.52	(2.14–5.79)	<0.001
	IV	7.91	(5.03–12.46)	<0.001
	V	13.17	(8.42–20.60)	<0.001
Muscle length				
Hamstring muscle	Normal length	Ref.		
	Mildly shortened	3.05	(2.24–4.17)	<0.001
	Severely shortened	9.86	(5.49–17.69)	<0.001
Gastrocnemius muscle	Normal length	Ref.		
	Mildly shortened	1.70	(1.24–2.32)	0.001
	Severely shortened	3.62	(2.31–5.66)	<0.001
Spasticity				
Knee flexors	0	Ref.		
	1–1+	1.49	(1.03–2.15)	0.035
	2–4	2.10	(1.27-3.47)	0.004
Plantar flexors	0	Ref.		
	1–1+	1.00	(0.70-1.42)	0.984
	2–4	0.80	(0.51–1.24)	0.317

Table 3. Results of multiple binary regression for the association between contracture (yes/no) and sex, age, GMFCS level, hamstring- and gastrocnemius muscle length and spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors.

Note: Results based on 2,168 of 3,045 individuals with complete data set. Nagelkerke R2=0.499. Cl, confidence intervals, GMFCS; Gross Motor Function Classification System, OR; odds ratios, Ref; reference.

Study II: Interrater reliability of the popliteal angle tests

The mean popliteal angle was 31° measured with unilateral test and 15° in the bilateral test. The mean popliteal angle increased in both tests with higher age and there was a tendency for slightly higher values in males (Table 4).

	Unilateral test Mean (SD)	Bilateral test Mean (SD)
GMFCS		
I	26.47 (10.17)	13.46 (9.9)
II	32.58 (10)	15.56 (10.02)
III	33.23 (7.84)	17.6 (8.13)
IV	32.38 (10.82)	16.25 (11.32)
Sex		
Female	29.14 (9.04)	12.81 (8.03)
Male	32.89 (10.54)	17.76 (10.61)
Age group		
0–6	28 (9.23)	11.63 (8.46)
7–12	30.64 (9.34)	15.03 (8.71)
13–18	32.98 (11.12)	17.31 (11.62)
19–22	47.5 (10.61)	33.75 (10.61)

Table 4. Popliteal angle with mean value and standard deviation (SD) for GMFCS, sex and age

Note: Average values for unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests of both examiners together presented for the different subgroups. GMFCS; Gross Motor Function Classification System

Both the unilateral and bilateral test to measure the popliteal angle in children and youth with CP had a high interrater reliability (Table 5).

Table 5. Internate reliability for the unilateral and bilateral popilitear angle tests.						
	Unilte	eral test	Bilate	eral test		
	ICC	95% CI	ICC	95% CI		
Right						
Single measure	0.80	0.67-0.87	0.82	0.72-0.88		
Left						
Single measure	0.86	0.78–0.91	0.83	0.74-0.89		

Note: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients (ICC) with 95% Confidence Intervals (CI) for the right and the left leg

Study III: First lower limb contracture

A contracture in either the hip, knee or ankle joint occurred in 34% of all 4,751 legs during follow up. The median time for a first contracture was 10 years from the first examination. Within 10 years of follow up, 937 legs (20%) were operated on. The most common operation was soft tissue surgery of the hip (6.7 %) followed by soft

tissue surgery of the foot and bony surgery of the hip. Contractures were more common in older age and at higher GMFCS levels. All lower limb contractures had the highest prevalence in children at level V. The most common contracture to occur first was an ankle contracture for children at GMFCS level I and II, and a knee contracture for children at GMFCS level IIII-V (Figure 10). After 10 years of follow-up, 10% of the children at GMFCS level I and 20% at level II had an ankle contracture compared to 40% of the children at level V. In addition, 70% of the children at level IV and 80% of the children at level V had a knee contracture after 10 years of follow up (Table 6).



Figure 10. Proportions of contracture free legs stratified by GMFCS level and 95% pointwise confidence intervals for equally spaced time points every 2.5 years during the follow-up. Note: GMFCS level; Gross Motor Function Classification System

Table 6. Proportion of legs free from hip, knee and ankle contracture, stratified by GMFCS level and 95% pointwise confidence intervals after 10 years of follow up.

GMFCS level	Нір	Knee	Ankle
I	1.0 (0.9–1.0)	1.0 (0.9–1.0)	0.9 (0.9–0.9)
Ш	0.9 (0.8–0.9)	0.9 (0.9–0.9)	0.8 (0.8–0.9)
III	0.9 (0.8–0.9)	0.5 (0.4–0.6)	0.7 (0.6–0.8)
IV	0.8 (0.8–0.8)	0.3 (0.3–0.4)	0.7 (0.7–0.8)
V	0.8 (0.7–0.8)	0.2 (0.2–0.3)	0.6 (0.6-0.7)

Note: GMFCS; Gross Motor Function Classification System

Study IV: Sequence of lower limb contracture development

Within the follow-up period, 720 legs (44%) developed additional contractures (Table 7). The second contracture occurred after an average of 5 years from the first contracture. The time from the first to second contracture varied depending on the location of the first contracture. Children with a primary hip or ankle contracture developed their second contracture earlier than those with a primary knee contracture.

 Table 7. Location of the baseline contracture and prevalence of a second contracture during follow up and number of limb-years for children at GMFCS I-V.

	Loc	Location of the first contracture			Second contracture		
GMFCS level		Legs n (%)			Legs n (%)		Limb- years (mean)
	Hip	Knee	Ankle	> 1 joint	1 joint	> 1 joint	(moun)
I	41 (19)	83 (39)	78 (37)	10 (5)	53 (25)	2 (4)	899 (4.2)
П	43 (16)	98 (36)	112 (42)	16 (6)	101 (38)	2 (2)	989 (3.7)
III	40 (16)	124 (50)	66 (27)	19 (8)	115 (46)	3 (3)	747 (3.0)
IV	58 (14)	210 (52)	90 (22)	47 (11)	203 (50)	8 (4)	1,212 (3.0)
V	77 (15)	294 (59)	90 (18)	40 (8)	248 (50)	9 (4)	1,256 (2.5)
Total	259 (16)	809 (49)	436 (27)	132 (8)	720 (44)	24 (3)	5,103 (3.1)

Note: GMFCS Gross Motor Function Classification System

When analysing legs with only one baseline contracture and one follow-up contracture, hip contracture was the primary contracture in 259 legs. Of these, 47% developed a second contracture, most commonly in the knee (74%) and less frequently in the ankle (26%).

A knee contracture was the primary contracture in 809 legs. A second contracture occurred in 297 (37%) of these legs and the distribution between hip (47%) and ankle contracture (53%) as the second contracture was even. Children at GMFCS level I-IV were more likely to have an ankle contracture as their second contracture while children at level V were more likely to have a hip contracture.

Ankle contracture was the primary contracture in 436 legs, and a second contracture occurred in 151 (35%) of these legs. An ankle contracture was more likely to be followed by a knee contracture (79%) and less likely by a hip contracture (21%). Having an ankle contracture at baseline increased the likelihood of the second contracture to be a knee contracture in children at all GMFCS levels (Table 8).

First	GMECS	Second contracture					
contracture	level	Legs n	Hip n (%)	Knee n (%)	Ankle n (%)	p value	
Hip joint						0.002a	
	I	8	-	5 (63)	3 (37)	< 0.001b	
	П	21	-	10 (48)	11 (52)		
	111	19	-	12 (63)	7 (37)		
	IV	28	-	22 (79)	6 (21)		
	V	45	-	40 (89)	5 (11)		
	Total	121	-	89 (74)	32 (26)		
Knee joint						0.003a	
	I	15	4 (27)	-	11 (73)	< 0.001b	
	П	32	7 (22)	-	25 (78)		
	III	54	25 (46)	_	29 (54)		
	IV	80	36 (45)	-	44 (55)		
	V	111	65 (59)	_	46 (41)		
	Total	292	137 (47)	-	155 (53)		
Ankle joint						< 0.001a	
	I	18	3 (17)	15 (83)	-	0.59b	
	П	30	10 (33)	20 (67)	-		
	111	20	3 (15)	17 (85)	-		
	IV	40	7 (17)	33 (83)	-		
	V	43	9 (21)	34 (79)	-		
	Total	151	32 (21)	119 (79)	_		

Table 8. Results for chi-square and p- for trend analyses of the association between each baseline contracture and the location of a second contracture during follow up at each GMFCS level for legs that developed one single baseline contracture and one single follow up contracture.

Note: GMFCS; Gross Motor Function Classification System

Discussion

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase the knowledge about the development of knee contractures; prevalence, risk factors, sequence of contracture development and the reliability of popliteal angle measurements.

We found a prevalence of 22% for knee contractures in children with CP. Knee contractures were strongly associated with GMFCS level, age and short muscle length (Study I). When measuring hamstrings length, different types of measurements are used in clinic, with unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle test being the most common. We found that both tests had a high interrater reliability (Study II). When studying the contracture development in the hip, knee and ankle we found that the location of the first contracture depends on GMFCS level and that children at level I-II were most likely to develop an ankle contracture as their first contracture and children at level III-V a knee contracture. In total, 34% of all children developed at least one lower limb contractures, we found that 44% developed at least one additional contracture. The second contracture. The second contracture tended to occur in a specific pattern based on the location of the first contracture. The second contracture.

Prevalence of contractures

We found that 22% of all children with CP had a knee contracture. There is limited evidence about the prevalence of lower limb contractures from previous studies. A recent study from Denmark found a prevalence of 44% knee contractures in their population of children with CP followed within a similar program to CPUP ⁷⁹. They identified the biggest difference compared to our study in age group 0-3 years but when comparing the results, the prevalence of knee contractures was higher in all age groups and at all GMFCS levels in their study. A potential reason for this could be that Sweden has followed the CPUP program since 1994 compared to Denmark where the program was initiated 2010. Sweden has a yearly reporting rate of 90-95% ⁷¹ and Denmark 74% ⁸⁰. The health system in Denmark differs from the system in Sweden. In Sweden, the children are followed by multi-professional teams, working in close collaboration, while in Denmark, healthcare professionals are employed by different health care systems, mostly by the community-based

healthcare providers. Clinicians in Denmark prescribes less orthoses and standing aids than Sweden and has less access to occupational therapists ⁸¹.

We found that knee contractures are present at all GMFCS levels but are very rare for children at GMFCS level I (6%) and level II (11%) compared to level V where more than half of the children are affected (58%). CP is a heterogenous group and being able to discriminate between groups within the CP diagnosis enables better predictions about development and function and directed treatment ^{19,82}. We found a clear difference between GMFCS levels in contracture prevalence and contracture development in study I, III and IV. The GMFCS level is relatively stable over time ^{20,83,84} and by following the child's gross motor function curves (GMFM) and their GMFCS level we can predict future function ^{85,86}. Despite this, international studies report that less than half of the parents to children with CP know their child's GMFCS level ⁸⁷. It's still a need for clinicians to include description of the GMFCS level and how this affect treatment plans and future ability in discussions with parents ⁸⁸.

We also found that the prevalence of knee contractures increased with higher age. Even though CP is a non-progressive disorder it is well known that the secondary symptoms can change and worsen over time ^{29,89-92}. Study I confirmed that the oldest age group (13-15 years) had the strongest association with knee contracture (OR 6.80). However, a high GMFCS level had a stronger association with knee contractures than age (OR 7.91 for level IV and 13.17 for level V).

We found that 34% of all children with CP develop at least one lower limb contracture. The prevalence of multiple lower limb contractures developed with higher GMFCS levels. This correspond with previous findings ⁹³.

After 10 years from first follow up, an ankle contracture is the most common flexion contracture for children at GMFCS level I-II with a prevalence of 10 to 20%. For children at GMFCS level III-V, knee contractures are the most common contracture after 10 years of follow up with a prevalence of 50 to 80%. Contractures increase the risk for pain ⁵⁹ and our results correspond with the most common pain locations for children at level I and II, foot, and level III to V, knee and hip ⁹⁴. Pain decreases function and quality of life and is important to address and treat ^{95,96}.

Clinical Measuring

In study II we found a high interrater reliability for the unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests. A previous study by Ten Berge et al. ⁹⁷ showed a low interrater reliability for the unilateral test. They instructed the examiners to extend the knee three times before measuring the angle in the position where the "next endpoint of resistance was felt". It was not specified how much pressure the examiners applied

to extend the knee. In our study, the examiners were instructed to extend the child's leg with as much pressure as tolerated by the child and reach the end ROM. One challenge with comparing studies about hamstrings measurement is that not all studies specify whether the test is performed according to the unilateral or bilateral procedure ^{98,99}. Our study showed that the mean values are different between the two measurements. The positions of the pelvis yield different results measured in ROM ¹⁰⁰ and the muscles activated during the test differ ⁷⁷. Therefore, it is important to specify how the test is performed in terms of the child's position and the pressure added by the examiner. Another challenge with measuring hamstrings length is that several studies have showed a limited correlation between the results of the test and the actual length of hamstrings ⁵². The hamstrings muscle is a biarticular muscle, crossing two joints, which makes it difficult to measure the actual length in clinic. Instead, we measure the indirect length by the popliteal angle tests ¹⁰¹. Previous studies have shown that the results of passive measurement of the popliteal angle tend to underestimate the maximal length of hamstring during gait ^{54,102}. Thompson et al. ⁵² found a correlation between the bilateral popliteal angle and maximal hamstrings length and no correlation between the unilateral test and hamstrings length. It is recommended that passive popliteal angle ROM is combined with gait analysis before treatment decisions are made and the outcome measure after treatment should be functional rather than a static test ⁵².

In study I, we found a limited association between knee contracture and spasticity in hamstrings or gastrocnemius measured with the Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS). Spasticity is a challenging term to define and assess in clinic. The term spasticity is used in different ways with different meanings. One aspect of it refers to the physical signs measured at clinical examinations and another aspect to the underlying pathological process in the child ¹⁰³. Studies are inconsequent in assessment methods for measuring spasticity and in a review by Scholthes et al. ¹⁰⁴, 13 different assessment methods were used. The most commonly used assessments of spasticity are the Ashworth Scale and the Tardieu scale. The reliability of the Ashworth scale varies between studies and is questioned ^{105,106}. It can also be difficult to distinguish between a resistance of a muscle to stretch caused by alteration in reflex response or by muscle pathology and muscle stiffness in children with CP compared to children without CP ¹⁰⁷.

In study I, only 2% of the children had a reported MAS grade 3 or 4 although 37% had a reduced hamstrings length and more than 10% of the children had a severe knee contracture. In a study by Fosdahl et al. ¹⁰⁸ none of the children had a reported MAS grade higher than +1. This indicates that it is challenging to distinguish between levels of the scale and between spasticity, muscle stiffness and contracture ^{105,107,109}. Therefore, we regrouped MAS into 3 groups.

It is important to describe our findings from physical examinations, such as the perception of resistance to passive stretch rather than only referring to the concept as "spasticity" ¹⁰³.

Sequence of contracture development

Our studies contribute to the existing body of knowledge since no previous studies have investigated the sequence of contracture development. Our studies showed that lower limb contractures occur early. After 5 years of follow up, over 50% of the children at GMFCS level V already have a contracture. When seeing contractures as a result of muscle stiffness, this corresponds to previous findings of early reduction of skeletal muscle volume and altered gene expression seen in young children with CP ^{110,111}. The main finding in study III was that the first contracture is likely to occur in different joints depending on the child's GMFCS level. Children at GMFCS level I and II most likely get an ankle contracture first and children at level III-V most likely a knee contracture. Only 13% of the children at GMFCS level II get a lower limb contracture in the sagittal plane compared to 63% of the children at level V. Changes in the sagittal plane are the most common gait abnormality for ambulant children ^{45,46}.

After 10 years of follow up, 80% of the children at GMFCS level V have developed a knee contracture. This shows that there is still more to learn and understand about contracture development to fully manage to prevent them ⁶⁶. Children with one contracture have an increased risk of additional contractures. We found that second contractures most often occur in the closest adjacent joint to the first contracture. For the knee joint, with two adjacent joints, the location of the second contracture was dependent on GMFCS level. Non-ambulant children were more likely to get a hip contracture after their initial knee contracture and ambulant children an ankle contracture ¹¹². Non-ambulant children usually spend more time sitting in a wheelchair and in lying. Adults with CP, in need of standing devices, spend less than one hour per day standing ¹¹³. In supine position, a knee contracture might force the hip into flexion and gravity will tilt the legs to one side causing a windswept position ⁵⁸. Asymmetric postures are highly associated with the inability to change and maintain position ¹¹³, and increase the risk of having contractures ⁵⁹. When Petersson et al. ⁵⁷ created a risk score for scoliosis in children with CP they identified knee contracture as an independent predictor for severe scoliosis.

For ambulant children, a knee or ankle contracture of -10° or worse changes kinematics and affects gait ¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁶. A knee contracture may force the child to walk in equinus due to lever arm dysfunction and an ankle contracture in children with unilateral CP might force the child to walk with a flexed knee due to leg length discrepancy ¹¹⁷. The gastrocnemius muscle involves both the knee and ankle joint and affects knee flexion and plantar flexion which probably also explains the increased risk of an additional contracture in an adjacent joint.

Early detection and interventions

The results of our studies showed that lower limb contractures develop early and that the incidence increases with age. It is easier to get a better outcome from treatment if it's initiated early ^{66,68}. Orthoses are commonly used to improve function or to prevent contracture development and deformities. They can be used to improve and maintain the biomechanical alignment of a joint or body segment. Ankle-Foot Orthoses (AFO) are the most common orthoses ^{118,119} and are used by 50% of all children with CP in Sweden, either to improve function (10%), ROM (11%) or both (30%)¹²⁰. A study by Wingstrand et al.¹²⁰ showed that the use of AFO increased with higher GMFCS level and was most frequently used in young children aged 4-6 years. This corresponds to the results of study III showing that ankle contractures are most common at GMFCS level V and that contracture development starts early. Study IV showed that ankle contractures in children were most commonly followed by a knee contracture. Miller ⁶⁶ recommends immobilizers for the knee when using AFOs at night. Stretching gastrocnemius at the ankle can pull the knee into flexion and potentially lead to a knee contracture. Our results show that this might be especially important for non-ambulatory children where knee contractures are common. It is important to be aware of the low evidence for orthoses to prevent and treat contractures¹²⁰⁻¹²³. The prescription should therefore be decided together with families and with the child's goals, comfort and function kept in focus. Interviews with families describe a frustration over both the provision and difficulties to wear orthoses but also a positiv perception that orthoses support mobility and participation ^{118,124}.

Short time stretch does not increase ROM, reduce pain or improve function in people with CP ^{39,125}. Long-time stretching with orthoses ¹²⁶, standing ¹²⁷, active stretching (through exercise and activity) ¹²⁸, stimulation of muscle growth through exercise ¹²⁹ and maintaining biomechanical alignments through positioning ⁵⁸ might have a positive effect on the child's overall function and potentially reduce the risk of secondary contracture development. The evaluation of 10 years of multiprofessional follow up of children with CP in Sweden showed a decreased prevalence of severe contractures ⁷⁵.

Botulinum toxin injections are also frequently used to reduce spasticity, improve function and prevent secondary contracture development. Injections are most common in the gastrocnemius muscle and in particular for children at GMFCS level I ¹³⁰. Injections in gastrocnemius are most common in younger children, 4-6 years old ¹³¹. This corresponds to our results showing that the first contracture to occur in children at GMFCS level I was an ankle contracture and that contracture development starts early. Injections in the hamstring muscles are most common for children at level IV-V which also correspond to our results showing that reduced hamstrings length are associated with higher GMFCS level. The injections of hamstrings are most common in older children, 10-12 years ¹³¹. Our

findings indicate that problems in hamstrings start early and, therefore, treatment should be initiated earlier if the aim is to contribute to a possible prevention of contracture development. Botulinum toxin treatment should be combined with orthoses, casting and therapy to affect ROM ¹²³. Botulinum toxin injections should be used thoughtfully. Many studies have reported changes in muscle tone after injection but not many report changes in function. Botulinum toxin injection can cause damage to the muscle and a decreased frequency of injections to once every 12 months is recommended ¹³².

In study I, we found a limited association between spasticity and knee contracture. As mentioned previously, spasticity as a phenomenon is difficult to define and address. The clinical model that muscles need to be stretched if they grow and that spasticity limits this ability and therefore must be treated is not proven ¹⁰³. When it comes to contracture development, reduction of spasticity in terms of botulinum toxin injections and selective dorsal rhizotomy has not been effective to reduce contractures long term which indicates a need for further knowledge about spasticity might still increase the child's function, facilitate positioning or the use of orthoses, reduce pain, or improve gait and through that contribute to less deformities. To directly prevent contracture development, a deeper understanding of the musculoskeletal system and the interaction between components within the system is needed (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Reproduced with permission from 'The Musculoskeletal System in Children with Cerebral Palsy: A Philosophical Approach to Management by Martin Gough and Adam Shortland published by Mac Keith Press (www.mackeith.co.uk) in its Clinics in Developmental Medicine Series, 2022, 9781911612537.

Further, we determined a strong association between reduced hamstrings length and knee contracture. This finding corresponds to other studies describing interventions for hamstrings as the most common way to treat knee contractures ^{38,61,62}. Nordmark et al. ⁹³ found that hamstrings starts to become shorter before the development of knee contracture in a total population of children with CP. The popliteal angle increases during childhood in children with CP at all GMFCS levels ^{93,108}. Short hamstrings muscle is challenging to treat and non-surgical interventions are most likely to succeed in younger children with a mild reduction of ROM or a mild contracture ⁶⁶.

Study III showed that the age at first surgery varied between types of surgery and body segment. The median age was 4 years for soft tissue surgery of the hip, 6.5 years for soft tissue surgery of the foot/ankle, and 9 years for soft tissue surgery of the knee. The median age for bony surgery was higher for all joints. According to Hagglund et al. ankle surgery is the most common surgery for children at GMFCS level I-II and hip and spine surgery for level IV-V. Reduced hamstrings length can be more difficult to treat with a risk of overlengthening of the muscle ⁶⁶ which can be a reason why knee surgery is performed at a higher age when other treatments might not have succeeded. Also, the risk for hip displacement is higher in younger children and this might be a reason for the lower median age of soft tissue surgeries of the hips.

Our findings that one contracture increases the risk for additional contractures and that a second contracture most often occurs in an adjacent joint indicates a need for postural management to facilitate good postural alignments and reduce the risk for further contractures. Children with asymmetric postures sustained over longer periods of time and those unable to change position have a higher risk for scoliosis, windswept hip deformity, hip contracture and knee contracture ⁵⁹. Asymmetric postures can be seen already during a child's first year of life with an association to a later development of deformities ¹³⁴.

Systematic follow-up of children with CP in Sweden has reduced the number of severe contractures and the need for surgical treatment. Early detection and treatment for reduced ROM that interferes with function is an important reason to continue to follow children with CP in a standardised way ^{74,75,135}.

Understanding the underlying mechanisms behind contracture development in children with CP is essential to develop treatment strategies¹⁰³. In study IV, we found that lower limb contractures tend to occur in a specific pattern where the location of the first contracture affected the location of the second contracture. It is tempting to think that if we could manage to treat the first contracture we might automatically avoid the second one. Unfortunately, the musculoskeletal system is more complicated than that. Our results strengthen the existing body of knowledge about differences in contracture development between children at different GMFCS levels and the potential effect that one contracture has on adjacent joints due to

biomechanical alignments ⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹. We do, however, need to put this information in a larger causal loop to increase our understanding of the musculoskeletal system and to be aware of how our interventions can affect other parts of our patients' bodies or function. A contracture is both the result of, and the start of, an interaction between many aspects involving nutrition, movement, visual ability, body mass, muscle strength, balance, proprioception, confidence of the child etc. ¹⁰³ (Figure 11).

Interventions focusing on body structure and function do not automatically lead to improvements in activity or participation ¹³⁶. Traditionally, disabilities have been seen as a "within-the-person" issue that treatment is expected to fix. The importance of environmental factors has often been neglected ¹³⁷. In 2001, the World Health Organization published The International Classification of functioning, disability and Health (ICF) as a framework for health professionals to think about health and how it might affect different aspects of a person's life. In 2011, Rosenbaum & Gorter developed an alternative framework based on ICF called "The F-words" (Figure 12)¹³⁸. The aim of the F-words was to recognise that all areas are equally important and encourage clinicians to adopt this way of thinking when meeting children with disabilities. Our attempts to prevent, and treat contractures, must be added to the bigger framework representing the child's life. When evaluating treatment, activity and participation outcome measures should be added as a complement to ROM and spasticity to evaluate changes in quality of life ¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹. Health care providers should always strive to promote child and family development and use our best available medical, technical and therapeutic resources to do so ¹³⁷.



Figure 12. The F-words in childhood disability.

Limitations

There are several limitations to our studies. Three of our studies are based on data from a national CP registry. Register based data provides a large number of data but can be difficult to translate to clinical settings. Register studies can however be a good complement to randomized control trials which are challenging in our field due to small study populations and difficulties to double-blind¹⁰³. Register data can be advantageous in the identification of associated factors, start- and endpoints and development over time. Furthermore, register data provides large, unselected datasets with repeated measurements collected in a consistent way over long periods of time.

In Sweden, all children with CP have access to free healthcare services including regular follow ups by multi-professional paediatric teams, assistive technology devices, orthoses and surgeries ¹⁴². These factors should be taken into consideration when translating the results to other populations. Study III and IV cover a period of 24 years and interventions have changed over time from more hands-on therapy and "fixing the child" to new treatment options, technology and "fixing the environment" with focus on participation and activities in daily life.

A general limitation was the definition of a contracture. There is no standard definition of degrees in ROM for a contracture. In study I, we used two different cut-offs, mild and severe. In study II and III we wanted to use one cut-off and chose -10° for all joints since these values are often used in clinical practice and severely affect biomechanical alignment, gait, function and positioning ^{114-116,143}. We also ran the statistical analyses in study III and IV with 0° as a cut-off and got similar outcomes. The reliability of goniometric measurement varies with position and joint¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁶ but even though the reliability can be low, it is still the most commonly used method in clinical settings. We validated the data to correct measurement errors e.g. 180° of knee extension instead of 0° and reporting errors e.g. 300° of dorsiflexion instead of 30°.

Another general limitation is that we did not include CP subtypes in our analyses due to the large number of missing reports. The CP subtype is usually verified between 4 to 7 years and we excluded children who were not reported into the register before the age of 5. There is also a lack of neuropaediatricians in Sweden and they are responsible for classifying the child's subtype.

Study I

We used the MAS to measure spasticity and the scale has a relatively low reliability. still, the Ashworth and Modified Ashworth scales are currently the only available tools in clinical practice. The study did not reflect the natural development of contracture since we included children in a systematic follow-up program who received treatment. It was a cross sectional study so we did not follow the contracture development over time and could not establish any causal relationships.

Study II

A potential that the examiner was influenced by the result of the first test when performing the second test. No children at GMFCS level V were included in the study. The popliteal angle is likely more difficult to measure in children at level V depending on contractures and severity of diagnosis. The lack of children at level V also affected the mean value of measured popliteal angles.

Study III and IV

We censored children who had lower limb surgery at the date of surgery. In Sweden, children at risk of hip dislocation have their first hip surgery early (median age 4 years) and often before a confirmed contracture. This may have affected the results especially for children at GMFCS level IV and V because these children most often receive hip surgery. We included children treated with botulinum toxin injections and serial casting and it can be argued that this interfered with the results. However, given the large number of treated children and the fact that the effect of casting and injections is not permanent, these children were included. The intervals between examinations varies between GMFCS levels which results in different number of each GMFCS level.

Clinical implications

This thesis provides new knowledge that can help to improve clinical practice. We now know that knee contractures are a common problem for children with CP and affects children at all GMFCS levels.

Further, we should be extra observant on reduced dorsiflexion for children at GMFCS level I-II and reduced knee extension for children at GMFCS level III-V since these are the most common locations of the first lower limb contracture. We know that lower limb contractures occur early and therefore we should focus on early prevention. We know that it is common for children with one contracture to develop additional contractures. The location of the first contracture affects the location of the second contracture, and we should be aware of this when prescribing orthoses and positioning equipment to avoid further contracture development.

The majority of all children with higher GMFCS levels will develop a knee contracture during childhood. It is the first contracture to occur in children at GMFCS level III-V and increases the risk for other deformities such as windswept hips and scoliosis. Sweden has half as many knee contractures compared to Denmark which indicates that our multi-professional work has paid off and that through monitoring the child's development, providing appropriate equipment, promoting standing, positioning and timely surgery we have managed to reduce the number of severe contractures.

Knee contractures have a strong association with reduced muscle length and only a weak association with spasticity. We should therefore focus on helping the child maintain muscle length. However, we still do not fully understand the mechanisms behind muscle pathology and contracture development and which interventions that are the most successful and when. By stimulating healthy muscle growth, promote activity, increase standing and walking options, reduce time in sitting and optimize positioning we might contribute to better function and less secondary contracture development in children with CP.

Since there are different ways to measure popliteal angle in children with CP, and as the results depends on which test is being used, it is important to document how we performed the test. Both the unilateral and bilateral test are reliable. We should also be aware of the fact that true length of hamstrings and spasticity is difficult to measure in clinic and a combination of results from measurements, functional tests and analysis of gait are recommended. I wish to end this thesis with a quote by Mulderij 2000¹⁴⁷:

"What I would like to emphasize above all is that we are not only treating a moving body, we are treating a child who is out to explore the world physically, to enjoy freedom of action, and to confer his or her own meanings on the world"

And as Smilla answered me when I asked her about CP, contractures and measures, in the foreword of this thesis, she doesn't even think about it. She thinks about difficulties in daily life and how to be able to participate with her friends. This provides us with important information that we have to bring our knowledge about knee contracture, measuring and sequence of contracture development into a bigger context and focus on the child's goals and their abilities when deciding on interventions and treatment.



"The small therapist"

"Oops I drew you too small." No, you did not. I'm the perfect size for my purpose. To ensure that your goals are in focus and not mine.

Conclusions

This thesis has described the prevalence of knee contractures and the development of lower limb contractures in children with CP.

Knee contractures are a common problem for children with CP at all GMFCS levels and are associated with higher GMFCS level, older age and reduced muscle length in hamstrings and gastrocnemius. Spasticity measured with MAS had a low association with the prevalence of knee contracture.

Both the unilateral and bilateral test to measure the popliteal angle showed high interrater reliability when used in children and youth with CP. Given the variability in measuring methods and results, it is important to describe what method is used and to include the results from different examinations, such as gait analysis and functional tests when deciding on treatment.

Lower limb contractures occur early and the risk increases with higher GMFCS level and older age. The first lower limb contracture to occur is an ankle contracture in children with GMFCS level I-II and a knee contracture in children at level III-V. Early interventions to prevent knee and ankle contractures should be considered.

Development of a second contracture is a common problem for children with CP. The time between the first and second contracture and the sequence of contractures are influenced by GMFCS level. A second contracture primarily occurs in the adjacent joint. This should be considered when treatment strategies are being formed.

In summary

Knee contractures affect children at all GMFCS levels and a majority of children at higher GMFCS levels will develop a knee contracture during childhood within the first ten years of follow up. Knee contractures are strongly associated with short hamstrings length. When measuring hamstrings length, both unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle measurements are reliable. Children at GMFCS level I-II most often develop an ankle contracture first and children at level III-V a knee contracture. The second contracture primarily develops in the closest adjacent joint. Treatment plans should be based on GMFCS level.

Future research

- 1. To investigate the effect of contractures on children's quality of life.
- 2. To explore children's experience of interventions to treat contractures.
- 3. To follow range of motion and contracture development during adulthood.
- 4. To analyse the effect of standing intervention to reduce contracture development.

Acknowledgements

This was the first section I wrote for this thesis since gratitude has characterised this project from the beginning.

I want to thank all **children with cerebral palsy**. You are the reason I became a physiotherapist in the first place and the reason I still am. I hope my research will give something back to you for all that you have been given me.

Thanks to **all families participating in CPUP** and to **all clinicians** who collect and report the data that is so important for improving the life of people with CP and for providing new knowledge.

I especially want to thank:

Elisabet Rodby-Bousquet, My main supervisor. You have taught me that serious research can still be fun. We have shared countless laughs and so many fantastic experiences during these years- maybe as a result of your life motto to always say yes and see what happens. You have generously shared your knowledge, contacts and opportunities with me and always supported me. To you I'm eternally grateful.

Henrik Lauge-Pedersen, my co-supervisor. Who can use the smallest amount of words to explain everything you need to hear. I want to be as smart as you. I often think "What would Henrik do?" and that helps me in many situations.

Anna Lindgren, my co-supervisor. Who showed me that statistics, opposite to most operas, can have a happy ending. You are the inspicient of our statistical work and I wouldn't have finished this thesis without you.

My co-authors **Philippe Wagner**, **Marek Jozwiak and Joanna Krasny** for great collaboration.

Gunnar Hägglund, for introducing me to CPUP-research and for inspiring and encouraging me to walk down this path. Thank you for all the interesting discussions and for always focusing on making life better for people with CP.

Katarina Lauruschkus, for taking me under your wings when I was new in this research world and for being a great friend ever since. For traveling with me to distant places and for all the good times we have shared.

Jackie Casey, my PhD colleague for all the support, laughter and shared understanding when walking beside each other on this journey. Smile and wave!

All the fantastic and inspiring researchers and colleagues around the world I have had the opportunity to meet during these years.

All my colleagues at the Departement of Research and Development, Kronoberg, for inspiring discussions and support.

All my colleagues at Habiliteringen barn och ungdom, Kronoberg, for believing in me and for your support.

Elinor Romin, my lifelong mentor, for your endless support and our equally endless discussions.

My family and friends for being there and for believing in me. Especially my sister Sally Cloodt for helping me with the creation of posters, the cover of this thesis and my mental health and happiness during this project. You are my star!

My husband Mattias Cloodt, for everything and beyond. For making our children believe that moms have works while dads are at home cooking and cleaning. This thesis wouldn't been possible without you. Nothing would.

Axel, Vilgot and Edith, for remining me of what's most important in life and for keeping me down to earth. You are the reason I always strive to become the best version of myself to be an inspiration for you. You are everything.

Grants

I would like to acknowledge the financial support received:

Study II - Stiftelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne.

Study III - Stiftelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne, Promobilia, Forte (Grant number: 2018-01468) and Departement of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg.

Study IV- Stiftelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne, Promobilia, Forte (Grant number: 2018-01468) and Departement of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg.

The funding had no role in decision making or influence on the content or publication of this thesis.

References

- 1 Bax M, Goldstein M, Rosenbaum P, Leviton A, Paneth N, Dan B, Jacobsson B, Damiano D, Executive Committee for the Definition of Cerebral P. Proposed definition and classification of cerebral palsy, April 2005. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2005; 47: 571-6.
- 2 Rosenbaum P, Paneth N, Leviton A, Goldstein M, Bax M, Damiano D, Dan B, Jacobsson B. A report: the definition and classification of cerebral palsy April 2006. *Dev Med Child Neurol Suppl* 2007; 109: 8-14.
- 3 Lieber RL, Friden J. Muscle contracture and passive mechanics in cerebral palsy. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2019; **126**: 1492-501.
- 4 Pandyan AD, Cousins E, van Wijck F, Barnes MP, Johnson GR. Spasticity research: some common catches. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2005; **86**: 845; author reply -6.
- 5 Little WJ. On the influence of abnormal parturition, difficult labours, premature birth, and asphyxia neonatorum, on the mental and physical condition of the child, especially in relation to deformities. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1966; **46**: 7-22.
- 6 Little WJ. The classic: Hospital for the cure of deformities: course of lectures on the deformities of the human frame. 1843. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2012; **470**: 1252-6.
- 7 Morris C. Definition and classification of cerebral palsy: a historical perspective. *Dev Med Child Neurol Suppl* 2007; **109**: 3-7.
- 8 Panteliadis C, Panteliadis P, Vassilyadi F. Hallmarks in the history of cerebral palsy: from antiquity to mid-20th century. *Brain Dev* 2013; **35**: 285-92.
- 9 Prevalence and characteristics of children with cerebral palsy in Europe. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2002; **44**: 633-40.
- 10 Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in E. Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers. Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE). *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2000; **42**: 816-24.
- 11 McIntyre S, Goldsmith S, Webb A, Ehlinger V, Hollung SJ, McConnell K, Arnaud C, Smithers-Sheedy H, Oskoui M, Khandaker G, Himmelmann K, Global CPPG. Global prevalence of cerebral palsy: A systematic analysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022.
- 12 Sellier E, Platt MJ, Andersen GL, Krageloh-Mann I, De La Cruz J, Cans C, Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy N. Decreasing prevalence in cerebral palsy: a multisite European population-based study, 1980 to 2003. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2016; 58: 85-92.

- 13 Oskoui M, Coutinho F, Dykeman J, Jette N, Pringsheim T. An update on the prevalence of cerebral palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2013; **55**: 509-19.
- 14 Larsen ML, Rackauskaite G, Greisen G, Laursen B, Uldall P, Krebs L, Hoei-Hansen CE. Continuing decline in the prevalence of cerebral palsy in Denmark for birth years 2008-2013. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* 2020.
- 15 Galea C, McIntyre S, Smithers-Sheedy H, Reid SM, Gibson C, Delacy M, Watson L, Goldsmith S, Badawi N, Blair E, Australian Cerebral Palsy Register G. Cerebral palsy trends in Australia (1995-2009): a population-based observational study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2019; **61**: 186-93.
- 16 Larsen ML, Rackauskaite G, Greisen G, Laursen B, Uldall P, Krebs L, Hoei-Hansen CE. Declining prevalence of cerebral palsy in children born at term in Denmark. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022; 64: 715-22.
- 17 Blair E, Langdon K, McIntyre S, Lawrence D, Watson L. Survival and mortality in cerebral palsy: observations to the sixth decade from a data linkage study of a total population register and National Death Index. *BMC Neurol* 2019; **19**: 111.
- Hagberg B, Hagberg G, Olow I. The changing panorama of cerebral palsy in Sweden 1954-1970. I. Analysis of the general changes. *Acta Paediatr Scand* 1975; 64: 187-92.
- 19 Palisano R, Rosenbaum P, Walter S, Russell D, Wood E, Galuppi B. Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 1997; **39**: 214-23.
- 20 Alriksson-Schmidt A, Nordmark E, Czuba T, Westbom L. Stability of the Gross Motor Function Classification System in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy: a retrospective cohort registry study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2017; **59**: 641-6.
- 21 Palisano RJ, Rosenbaum P, Bartlett D, Livingston MH. Content validity of the expanded and revised Gross Motor Function Classification System. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2008; **50**: 744-50.
- 22 Howard JJ, Graham K, Shortland AP. Understanding skeletal muscle in cerebral palsy: a path to personalized medicine? *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022; **64**: 289-95.
- 23 Willoughby K, Ang SG, Thomason P, Graham HK. The impact of botulinum toxin A and abduction bracing on long-term hip development in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2012; **54**: 743-7.
- 24 Howard JJ, Herzog W. Skeletal Muscle in Cerebral Palsy: From Belly to Myofibril. *Front Neurol* 2021; **12**: 620852.
- 25 Tedroff K, Granath F, Forssberg H, Haglund-Akerlind Y. Long-term effects of botulinum toxin A in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2009; **51**: 120-7.
- 26 Tedroff K, Lowing K, Jacobson DN, Astrom E. Does loss of spasticity matter? A 10year follow-up after selective dorsal rhizotomy in cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2011; 53: 724-9.
- 27 Foran JR, Steinman S, Barash I, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Structural and mechanical alterations in spastic skeletal muscle. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2005; 47: 713-7.

- 28 Barrett RS, Lichtwark GA. Gross muscle morphology and structure in spastic cerebral palsy: a systematic review. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2010; 52: 794-804.
- 29 Handsfield GG, Meyer CH, Abel MF, Blemker SS. Heterogeneity of muscle sizes in the lower limbs of children with cerebral palsy. *Muscle Nerve* 2016; **53**: 933-45.
- 30 Moreau NG, Teefey SA, Damiano DL. In vivo muscle architecture and size of the rectus femoris and vastus lateralis in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2009; **51**: 800-6.
- 31 Lampe R, Grassl S, Mitternacht J, Gerdesmeyer L, Gradinger R. MRT-measurements of muscle volumes of the lower extremities of youths with spastic hemiplegia caused by cerebral palsy. *Brain Dev* 2006; **28**: 500-6.
- 32 Herskind A, Ritterband-Rosenbaum A, Willerslev-Olsen M, Lorentzen J, Hanson L, Lichtwark G, Nielsen JB. Muscle growth is reduced in 15-month-old children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2016; **58**: 485-91.
- 33 Handsfield GG, Williams S, Khuu S, Lichtwark G, Stott NS. Muscle architecture, growth, and biological Remodelling in cerebral palsy: a narrative review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2022; 23: 233.
- 34 Smith LR, Lee KS, Ward SR, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Hamstring contractures in children with spastic cerebral palsy result from a stiffer extracellular matrix and increased in vivo sarcomere length. *J Physiol* 2011; **589**: 2625-39.
- 35 Lieber RL, Ward SR. Skeletal muscle design to meet functional demands. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2011; **366**: 1466-76.
- 36 Dayanidhi S, Dykstra PB, Lyubasyuk V, McKay BR, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Reduced satellite cell number in situ in muscular contractures from children with cerebral palsy. *J Orthop Res* 2015; 33: 1039-45.
- 37 Smith LR, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Reduced satellite cell population may lead to contractures in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2013; 55: 264-70.
- 38 Campbell R, Tipping N, Carty C, Walsh J, Johnson L. Orthopaedic management of knee joint impairment in cerebral palsy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gait Posture* 2020; 80: 347-60.
- 39 Prabhu RK, Swaminathan N, Harvey LA. Passive movements for the treatment and prevention of contractures. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013: CD009331.
- 40 Holmes SJ, Mudge AJ, Wojciechowski EA, Axt MW, Burns J. Impact of multilevel joint contractures of the hips, knees and ankles on the Gait Profile score in children with cerebral palsy. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)* 2018; **59**: 8-14.
- 41 Bottos M, Gericke C. Ambulatory capacity in cerebral palsy: prognostic criteria and consequences for intervention. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2003; **45**: 786-90.
- 42 Jahnsen R, Villien L, Egeland T, Stanghelle JK, Holm I. Locomotion skills in adults with cerebral palsy. *Clin Rehabil* 2004; **18**: 309-16.
- 43 Tieman B, Palisano RJ, Gracely EJ, Rosenbaum PL. Variability in mobility of children with cerebral palsy. *Pediatr Phys Ther* 2007; **19**: 180-7.

- Pantzar-Castilla EHS, Wretenberg P, Riad J. Knee flexion contracture impacts functional mobility in children with cerebral palsy with various degree of involvement: a cross-sectional register study of 2,838 individuals. *Acta Orthop* 2021; 92: 472-8.
- 45 Rodda JM, Graham HK, Carson L, Galea MP, Wolfe R. Sagittal gait patterns in spastic diplegia. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2004; **86**: 251-8.
- 46 Sangeux M, Rodda J, Graham HK. Sagittal gait patterns in cerebral palsy: the plantarflexor-knee extension couple index. *Gait Posture* 2015; **41**: 586-91.
- 47 Lundh S, Nasic S, Riad J. Fatigue, quality of life and walking ability in adults with cerebral palsy. *Gait Posture* 2018; **61**: 1-6.
- 48 Wichers M, Hilberink S, Roebroeck ME, van Nieuwenhuizen O, Stam HJ. Motor impairments and activity limitations in children with spastic cerebral palsy: a Dutch population-based study. *J Rehabil Med* 2009; **41**: 367-74.
- 49 Steele KM, Demers MS, Schwartz MH, Delp SL. Compressive tibiofemoral force during crouch gait. *Gait Posture* 2012; **35**: 556-60.
- 50 Rozumalski A, Schwartz MH. Crouch gait patterns defined using k-means cluster analysis are related to underlying clinical pathology. *Gait Posture* 2009; **30**: 155-60.
- 51 O'Sullivan R, Horgan F, O'Brien T, French H. The natural history of crouch gait in bilateral cerebral palsy: A systematic review. *Res Dev Disabil* 2018; **80**: 84-92.
- 52 Thompson NS, Baker RJ, Cosgrove AP, Saunders JL, Taylor TC. Relevance of the popliteal angle to hamstring length in cerebral palsy crouch gait. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2001; **21**: 383-7.
- 53 Stout JL NT, Gage JR. Gage, Schwart MH. Treatment of crouch gait. In: Gage JR SM, Koop SE, Novacheck TF editor. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy, 2nd Edition. Mac Keith Press; 2009. 555-78.
- 54 Delp SL, Arnold AS, Speers RA, Moore CA. Hamstrings and psoas lengths during normal and crouch gait: implications for muscle-tendon surgery. *J Orthop Res* 1996; 14: 144-51.
- Steele KM, Seth A, Hicks JL, Schwartz MS, Delp SL. Muscle contributions to support and progression during single-limb stance in crouch gait. *J Biomech* 2010; 43: 2099-105.
- 56 Rodby-Bousquet E, Czuba T, Hagglund G, Westbom L. Postural asymmetries in young adults with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2013; **55**: 1009-15.
- 57 Pettersson K, Wagner P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Development of a risk score for scoliosis in children with cerebral palsy. *Acta Orthop* 2020; **91**: 203-8.
- 58 Agustsson A, Sveinsson T, Pope P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Preferred posture in lying and its association with scoliosis and windswept hips in adults with cerebral palsy. *Disabil Rehabil* 2019; **41**: 3198-202.
- 59 Casey J, Agustsson A, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Relationship between scoliosis, windswept hips and contractures with pain and asymmetries in sitting and supine in 2450 children with cerebral palsy. *Disabil Rehabil* 2021: 1-6.

- 60 McKinnon CT, Meehan EM, Harvey AR, Antolovich GC, Morgan PE. Prevalence and characteristics of pain in children and young adults with cerebral palsy: a systematic review. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2019; **61**: 305-14.
- 61 Kay RM, McCarthy J, Narayanan U, Rhodes J, Rutz E, Shilt J, Shore BJ, Veerkamp M, Shrader MW, Theologis T, Van Campenhout A, Pierz K, Chambers H, Davids JR, Dreher T, Novacheck TF, Graham K. Finding consensus for hamstring surgery in ambulatory children with cerebral palsy using the Delphi method. *J Child Orthop* 2022; **16**: 55-64.
- 62 Pierz K, Brimacombe M, Ounpuu S. Percutaneous hamstring lengthening in cerebral palsy: Technique and gait outcomes based on GMFCS level. *Gait Posture* 2022; **91**: 318-25.
- 63 Steele KM, Damiano DL, Eek MN, Unger M, Delp SL. Characteristics associated with improved knee extension after strength training for individuals with cerebral palsy and crouch gait. *J Pediatr Rehabil Med* 2012; **5**: 99-106.
- 64 Kim SK, Rha DW, Park ES. Botulinum Toxin Type A Injections Impact Hamstring Muscles and Gait Parameters in Children with Flexed Knee Gait. *Toxins (Basel)* 2020; **12**.
- 65 Thompson NS, Baker RJ, Cosgrove AP, Corry IS, Graham HK. Musculoskeletal modelling in determining the effect of botulinum toxin on the hamstrings of patients with crouch gait. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 1998; **40**: 622-5.
- 66 Miller F. Knee Flexion Deformity in Cerebral Palsy. In: Miller F, Bachrach S, Lennon N, O'Neil ME editors. Cerebral Palsy. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020. 2137-58.
- 67 Graham HK, Aoki KR, Autti-Ramo I, Boyd RN, Delgado MR, Gaebler-Spira DJ, Gormley ME, Guyer BM, Heinen F, Holton AF, Matthews D, Molenaers G, Motta F, Garcia Ruiz PJ, Wissel J. Recommendations for the use of botulinum toxin type A in the management of cerebral palsy. *Gait Posture* 2000; **11**: 67-79.
- 68 Westberry DE, Davids JR, Jacobs JM, Pugh LI, Tanner SL. Effectiveness of serial stretch casting for resistant or recurrent knee flexion contractures following hamstring lengthening in children with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2006; **26**: 109-14.
- 69 Cheewasukanon S, Osateerakun P, Limpaphayom N. Recurrence of knee flexion contracture after surgical correction in children with cerebral palsy. *Int Orthop* 2021; 45: 1523-30.
- 70 Alriksson-Schmidt AI, Arner M, Westbom L, Krumlinde-Sundholm L, Nordmark E, Rodby-Bousquet E, Hagglund G. A combined surveillance program and quality register improves management of childhood disability. *Disabil Rehabil* 2017; **39**: 830-6.
- 71 CPUP Årsrapport. 2020.
- 72 Westbom L, Hagglund G, Nordmark E. Cerebral palsy in a total population of 4-11 year olds in southern Sweden. Prevalence and distribution according to different CP classification systems. *BMC Pediatr* 2007; **7**: 41.

- Hagglund G, Alriksson-Schmidt A, Lauge-Pedersen H, Rodby-Bousquet E, Wagner P, Westbom L. Prevention of dislocation of the hip in children with cerebral palsy: 20-year results of a population-based prevention programme. *Bone Joint J* 2014; **96-B**: 1546-52.
- 74 Hagglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H, Persson Bunke M, Rodby-Bousquet E. Windswept hip deformity in children with cerebral palsy: a population-based prospective followup. *J Child Orthop* 2016; **10**: 275-9.
- 75 Hagglund G, Andersson S, Duppe H, Lauge-Pedersen H, Nordmark E, Westbom L. Prevention of severe contractures might replace multilevel surgery in cerebral palsy: results of a population-based health care programme and new techniques to reduce spasticity. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2005; **14**: 269-73.
- 76 Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys Ther* 1987; **67**: 206-7.
- 77 Manikowska F, Chen BP, Jozwiak M, Lebiedowska MK. The popliteal angle tests in patients with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2019; **28**: 332-6.
- 78 McGraw K. Forming inferences about some interclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological Methods* 1996; 1: 30-46.
- 79 Klenø AN, Stisen MB, Cubel CH, Mechlenburg I, Nordbye-Nielsen K. Prevalence of knee contractures is high in children with cerebral palsy in Denmark. *Physiother Theory Pract* 2021: 1-8.
- 80 Kvalitetsudviklingsprogram RK. CPOP National årsrapport 2020
- 81 Rackauskaite G, Uldall PW, Bech BH, Ostergaard JR. Management of cerebral palsy varies by healthcare region. *Dan Med J* 2015; **62**: A5152.
- 82 Rethlefsen SA, Blumstein G, Kay RM, Dorey F, Wren TA. Prevalence of specific gait abnormalities in children with cerebral palsy revisited: influence of age, prior surgery, and Gross Motor Function Classification System level. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2017; **59**: 79-88.
- 83 Palisano RJ, Cameron D, Rosenbaum PL, Walter SD, Russell D. Stability of the gross motor function classification system. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2006; **48**: 424-8.
- 84 Nylen E, Grooten WJA. The Stability of the Gross Motor Function Classification System in Children with Cerebral Palsy Living in Stockholm and Factors Associated with Change. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr* 2021; **41**: 138-49.
- 85 Rosenbaum PL, Walter SD, Hanna SE, Palisano RJ, Russell DJ, Raina P, Wood E, Bartlett DJ, Galuppi BE. Prognosis for gross motor function in cerebral palsy: creation of motor development curves. *JAMA* 2002; **288**: 1357-63.
- 86 Bania TA, Taylor NF, Baker RJ, Graham HK, Karimi L, Dodd KJ. Gross motor function is an important predictor of daily physical activity in young people with bilateral spastic cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2014; **56**: 1163-71.
- 87 Bailes AF, Gannotti M, Bellows DM, Shusterman M, Lyman J, Horn SD. Caregiver knowledge and preferences for gross motor function information in cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2018; 60: 1264-70.
- 88 Brunton L. The Gross Motor Function Classification System: clinicians need to spread the word. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2018; **60**: 1197-8.

- 89 Tosi LL, Maher N, Moore DW, Goldstein M, Aisen ML. Adults with cerebral palsy: a workshop to define the challenges of treating and preventing secondary musculoskeletal and neuromuscular complications in this rapidly growing population. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2009; **51 Suppl 4**: 2-11.
- 90 Verschuren O, Smorenburg ARP, Luiking Y, Bell K, Barber L, Peterson MD. Determinants of muscle preservation in individuals with cerebral palsy across the lifespan: a narrative review of the literature. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* 2018; 9: 453-64.
- 91 Bell KJ, Ounpuu S, DeLuca PA, Romness MJ. Natural progression of gait in children with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2002; **22**: 677-82.
- 92 Penner M, Xie WY, Binepal N, Switzer L, Fehlings D. Characteristics of pain in children and youth with cerebral palsy. *Pediatrics* 2013; **132**: e407-13.
- 93 Nordmark E, Hagglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H, Wagner P, Westbom L. Development of lower limb range of motion from early childhood to adolescence in cerebral palsy: a population-based study. *BMC Med* 2009; 7: 65.
- 94 Alriksson-Schmidt A, Hagglund G. Pain in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy: a population-based registry study. *Acta Paediatr* 2016; **105**: 665-70.
- 95 Parkinson KN, Dickinson HO, Arnaud C, Lyons A, Colver A, group S. Pain in young people aged 13 to 17 years with cerebral palsy: cross-sectional, multicentre European study. *Arch Dis Child* 2013; **98**: 434-40.
- 96 Rodby-Bousquet E, Alriksson-Schmidt A, Jarl J. Prevalence of pain and interference with daily activities and sleep in adults with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2021; 63: 60-7.
- 97 Ten Berge SR, Halbertsma JP, Maathuis PG, Verheij NP, Dijkstra PU, Maathuis KG. Reliability of popliteal angle measurement: a study in cerebral palsy patients and healthy controls. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2007; 27: 648-52.
- 98 White H, Wallace J, Walker J, Augsburger S, Talwalkar VR, Muchow RD, Iwinski H. Hamstring lengthening in females with cerebral palsy have greater effect than in males. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2019; 28: 337-44.
- 99 Joseph B, Reddy K, Varghese RA, Shah H, Doddabasappa SN. Management of severe crouch gait in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2010; **30**: 832-9.
- 100 Herrington L. The effect of pelvic position on popliteal angle achieved during 90:90 hamstring-length test. *J Sport Rehabil* 2013; **22**: 254-6.
- 101 Gajdosik RL, Rieck MA, Sullivan DK, Wightman SE. Comparison of four clinical tests for assessing hamstring muscle length. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther* 1993; 18: 614-8.
- 102 Hoffinger SA, Rab GT, Abou-Ghaida H. Hamstrings in cerebral palsy crouch gait. J Pediatr Orthop 1993; 13: 722-6.
- 103 Gough M SA. *The musculoskeletal system in children with cerebral palsy*. Mac Keith Press; 2022.
- 104 Scholtes VA, Becher JG, Beelen A, Lankhorst GJ. Clinical assessment of spasticity in children with cerebral palsy: a critical review of available instruments. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2006; **48**: 64-73.
- 105 Alhusaini AA, Dean CM, Crosbie J, Shepherd RB, Lewis J. Evaluation of spasticity in children with cerebral palsy using Ashworth and Tardieu Scales compared with laboratory measures. *J Child Neurol* 2010; **25**: 1242-7.
- 106 Clopton N, Dutton J, Featherston T, Grigsby A, Mobley J, Melvin J. Interrater and intrarater reliability of the Modified Ashworth Scale in children with hypertonia. *Pediatr Phys Ther* 2005; 17: 268-74.
- 107 Willerslev-Olsen M, Lorentzen J, Sinkjaer T, Nielsen JB. Passive muscle properties are altered in children with cerebral palsy before the age of 3 years and are difficult to distinguish clinically from spasticity. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2013; **55**: 617-23.
- 108 Fosdahl MA, Jahnsen R, Pripp AH, Holm I. Change in popliteal angle and hamstrings spasticity during childhood in ambulant children with spastic bilateral cerebral palsy. A register-based cohort study. *BMC Pediatr* 2020; **20**: 11.
- 109 Biering-Sorensen F, Nielsen JB, Klinge K. Spasticity-assessment: a review. *Spinal Cord* 2006; **44**: 708-22.
- 110 Willerslev-Olsen M, Choe Lund M, Lorentzen J, Barber L, Kofoed-Hansen M, Nielsen JB. Impaired muscle growth precedes development of increased stiffness of the triceps surae musculotendinous unit in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2018; **60**: 672-9.
- 111 Barber L, Hastings-Ison T, Baker R, Barrett R, Lichtwark G. Medial gastrocnemius muscle volume and fascicle length in children aged 2 to 5 years with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2011; 53: 543-8.
- 112 Young JL, Rodda J, Selber P, Rutz E, Graham HK. Management of the knee in spastic diplegia: what is the dose? *Orthop Clin North Am* 2010; **41**: 561-77.
- 113 Rodby-Bousquet E, Agustsson A. Postural Asymmetries and Assistive Devices Used by Adults With Cerebral Palsy in Lying, Sitting, and Standing. *Front Neurol* 2021; 12: 758706.
- 114 Houx L, Lempereur M, Remy-Neris O, Brochard S. Threshold of equinus which alters biomechanical gait parameters in children. *Gait Posture* 2013; **38**: 582-9.
- 115 Leung J, Smith R, Harvey LA, Moseley AM, Chapparo J. The impact of simulated ankle plantarflexion contracture on the knee joint during stance phase of gait: a within-subject study. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)* 2014; **29**: 423-8.
- 116 Attias M, Chevalley O, Bonnefoy-Mazure A, De Coulon G, Cheze L, Armand S. Effects of contracture on gait kinematics: A systematic review. *Clin Biomech* (*Bristol, Avon*) 2016; **33**: 103-10.
- 117 Eek MN, Zugner R, Stefansdottir I, Tranberg R. Kinematic gait pattern in children with cerebral palsy and leg length discrepancy: Effects of an extra sole. *Gait Posture* 2017; **55**: 150-6.
- 118 Akaltun MS, Altindag O, Bicer S, Turan N, Gursoy S, Gur A. Use of lower extremity orthoses in patients with cerebral palsy and related factors. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2021; 45: 487-90.

- 119 Sacaze E, Garlantezec R, Remy-neris O, Peudenier S, Rauscent H, le Tallec H, Bernier-Francois V, Pichancourt D, Brochard S, Groupe de Recherche sur la paralysie cerebrale en B. A survey of medical and paramedical involvement in children with cerebral palsy in Britanny: preliminary results. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med* 2013; 56: 253-67.
- 120 Wingstrand M, Hagglund G, Rodby-Bousquet E. Ankle-foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy: a cross sectional population based study of 2200 children. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2014; **15**: 327.
- 121 Morris C. A review of the efficacy of lower-limb orthoses used for cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2002; **44**: 205-11.
- 122 Liu XC, Embrey D, Tassone C, Zvara K, Brandsma B, Lyon R, Goodfriend K, Tarima S, Thometz J. Long-Term Effects of Orthoses Use on the Changes of Foot and Ankle Joint Motions of Children With Spastic Cerebral Palsy. *PM R* 2018; **10**: 269-75.
- 123 Novak I, Morgan C, Fahey M, Finch-Edmondson M, Galea C, Hines A, Langdon K, Namara MM, Paton MC, Popat H, Shore B, Khamis A, Stanton E, Finemore OP, Tricks A, Te Velde A, Dark L, Morton N, Badawi N. State of the Evidence Traffic Lights 2019: Systematic Review of Interventions for Preventing and Treating Children with Cerebral Palsy. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2020; **20**: 3.
- 124 Zaino NL, Yamagami M, Gaebler-Spira DJ, Steele KM, Bjornson KF, Feldner HA. "That's frustrating": Perceptions of ankle foot orthosis provision, use, and needs among people with cerebral palsy and caregivers. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2022.
- 125 Pin T, Dyke P, Chan M. The effectiveness of passive stretching in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2006; **48**: 855-62.
- 126 Tardieu C, Lespargot A, Tabary C, Bret MD. For how long must the soleus muscle be stretched each day to prevent contracture? *Dev Med Child Neurol* 1988; **30**: 3-10.
- 127 Paleg GS, Smith BA, Glickman LB. Systematic review and evidence-based clinical recommendations for dosing of pediatric supported standing programs. *Pediatr Phys Ther* 2013; **25**: 232-47.
- 128 Gorter JW, Becher J, Oosterom I, Pin T, Dyke P, Chan M, Shevell M. 'To stretch or not to stretch in children with cerebral palsy'. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2007; **49**: 797-800; author reply 799.
- 129 Gillett JG, Boyd RN, Carty CP, Barber LA. The impact of strength training on skeletal muscle morphology and architecture in children and adolescents with spastic cerebral palsy: A systematic review. *Res Dev Disabil* 2016; **56**: 183-96.
- 130 Hagglund G, Hollung SJ, Ahonen M, Andersen GL, Eggertsdottir G, Gaston MS, Jahnsen R, Jeglinsky-Kankainen I, Nordbye-Nielsen K, Tresoldi I, Alriksson-Schmidt AI. Treatment of spasticity in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy in Northern Europe: a CP-North registry study. *BMC Neurol* 2021; 21: 276.
- 131 Franzen M, Hagglund G, Alriksson-Schmidt A. Treatment with Botulinum toxin A in a total population of children with cerebral palsy a retrospective cohort registry study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2017; **18**: 520.
- 132 Multani I, Manji J, Hastings-Ison T, Khot A, Graham K. Botulinum Toxin in the Management of Children with Cerebral Palsy. *Paediatr Drugs* 2019; **21**: 261-81.

- 133 Tedroff K, Hagglund G, Miller F. Long-term effects of selective dorsal rhizotomy in children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2020; **62**: 554-62.
- 134 Porter D, Michael S, Kirkwood C. Is there a relationship between foetal position and both preferred lying posture after birth and pattern of subsequent postural deformity in non-ambulant people with cerebral palsy? *Child Care Health Dev* 2010; **36**: 742-7.
- 135 Persson-Bunke M, Hagglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H. Windswept hip deformity in children with cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2006; **15**: 335-8.
- 136 Wright FV, Rosenbaum PL, Goldsmith CH, Law M, Fehlings DL. How do changes in body functions and structures, activity, and participation relate in children with cerebral palsy? *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2008; **50**: 283-9.
- 137 Rosenbaum PL. The F-words for child development: functioning, family, fitness, fun, friends, and future. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022; **64**: 141-2.
- 138 Rosenbaum P, Gorter JW. The 'F-words' in childhood disability: I swear this is how we should think! *Child Care Health Dev* 2012; **38**: 457-63.
- 139 Almoajil H, Hopewell S, Dawes H, Toye F, Theologis T. A core outcome set for lower limb orthopaedic surgery for children with cerebral palsy: An international multi-stakeholder consensus study. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022.
- 140 Tonmukayakul U, Imms C, Mihalopoulos C, Reddihough D, Carter R, Mulhern B, Chen G. Health-related quality of life and upper-limb impairment in children with cerebral palsy: developing a mapping algorithm. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2020; **62**: 854-60.
- 141 Ronen GM, Rosenbaum PL, Streiner DL. Patient perspectives in pediatric neurology: a critical shift in the paradigm of outcome measurement. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2022; 64: 149-55.
- 142 Rodby-Bousquet E, Hagglund G. Sitting and standing performance in a total population of children with cerebral palsy: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* 2010; **11**: 131.
- 143 Pinero JR, Goldstein RY, Culver S, Kuhns CA, Feldman DS, Otsuka NY. Hip flexion contracture and diminished functional outcomes in cerebral palsy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2012; 32: 600-4.
- 144 Hancock GE, Hepworth T, Wembridge K. Accuracy and reliability of knee goniometry methods. *J Exp Orthop* 2018; **5**: 46.
- 145 Kim DH, An DH, Yoo WG. Validity and reliability of ankle dorsiflexion measures in children with cerebral palsy. *J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil* 2018; **31**: 465-8.
- 146 Kilgour G, McNair P, Stott NS. Intrarater reliability of lower limb sagittal range-ofmotion measures in children with spastic diplegia. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2003; 45: 391-9.
- 147 Mulderij KJ. Dualistic notions about children with motor disabilities: hands to lean on or to reach out? *Qual Health Res* 2000; **10**: 39-50.

Paper I

Demographic and modifiable factors associated with knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

ERIKA CLOODT¹ | ANDREAS ROSENBLAD² | ELISABET RODBY-BOUSQUET^{2,3} 🕞

1 Department of Health Sciences Lund, Division of Physiotherapy, Lund University, Lund; 2 Centre for Clinical Research Västerås, Uppsala University, Region Västmanland, Västerås; 3 Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

Correspondence to Elisabet Rodby-Bousquet, Centre for Clinical Research Västerås, Uppsala University, Region Västmanland, S-721 89 Västerås, Sweden. E-mail: elisabet.rodby_bouque@med.lu.se

This article is commented on by Van Campenhout and Bar-On on pages 335-336 of this issue.

PUBLICATION DATA

Accepted for publication 29th November 2017. Published online 10th January 2018.

ABBREVIATIONS

CPUP	Cerebral Palsy Surveillance
	Programme
ROM	Range of motion

AIM To identify the prevalence of knee contracture and its association with gross motor function, age, sex, spasticity, and muscle length in children with cerebral palsy (CP). **METHOD** Cross-sectional data for passive knee extension were analysed in 3 045 children with CP (1 756 males, 1 289 females; mean age 89 1mo [SD 3.84]). CP was classified using the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) levels I (*n*=1 330), II (*n*=508), III (*n*=280), IV (*n*=449), and V (*n*=478). Pearson's χ^2 test and multiple binary logistic regression were applied to analyse the relationships between knee contracture and GMFCS level, sex, age, spasticity, hamstring length, and gastrochemius length.

RESULTS Knee contracture greater than or equal to 5 degrees occurred in 685 children (22%). The prevalence of knee contracture was higher in older children and in those with higher GMFCS levels. Odds ratios (ORs) for knee contracture were significantly higher for children at GMFCS level V (OR=13.17), with short hamstring muscles (OR=9.86), and in the oldest age group, 13 years to 15 years (OR=6.80).

INTERPRETATION Knee contracture is associated with higher GMFCS level, older age, and shorter muscle length; spasticity has a small effect. Maintaining muscle length, especially of the hamstrings, is important for reducing the risk of knee contracture.

Despite preventive treatment, children with cerebral palsy (CP) often develop muscle contracture that limits their range of motion (ROM). Contracture often results from the chronic activation of a muscle, sometimes in combination with weakness of the antagonists, which occurs in people with CP.^{1,2} Low joint mobility also affects adjacent joints and can cause postural asymmetry.³ The mechanisms underlying contracture in CP are complex and are not fully understood.⁴

Knee flexion contracture frequently occurs in children with CP. A number of different factors can contribute to the development of knee contracture, including older age, spasticity, muscle imbalance, immobility, and prolonged sitting posture.^{5,6} Limited knee extension affects both ambulant and non-ambulant children. For non-ambulant children, knee contracture may affect the ability to transfer and to assume an aligned standing or lying posture. For ambulant children, knee contracture can cause an asymmetric posture, impaired gait pattern, increased energy consumption, and difficulty wearing orthoses.⁷

Limited knee extension can lead to a gait pattern that imposes a greater pressure on the knee extensor apparatus and the patellofemoral joint, which can cause knee pain.⁸ The proportion of children with pain increases with age and pain is most common in the lower extremities.⁹ One in four adults with CP experiences knee pain,¹⁰ which is associated with decreased joint mobility.

The Cerebral Palsy Surveillance Programme (CPUP) is a national quality registry in Sweden.¹¹ More than 95 per cent of all children with CP nationwide are included in this programme. In the CPUP, children are followed regularly by their local rehabilitation team and are examined every 6months, once a year, or every other year, depending on their age and level in the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS).¹²

To our knowledge, no studies have investigated multiple factors associated with knee contracture in a large population of children with CP. A deeper understanding of the factors that contribute to the development of knee contracture might help in the creation of treatment strategies.¹ The purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence of knee contracture and its association with GMFCS level, age, sex, spasticity, and muscle length in children with CP.

METHOD Participants

This was a cross-sectional study based on data from the Swedish CP registry and the CPUP. The study participants were all 3 045 children with CP aged 1 year to 15 years, born between 2000 and 2014 who were reported to the registry in 2014 and 2015. The data for the most recent visit were used. The children represent all 21 counties in Sweden with a total population of 10 million inhabitants. The Research Ethics Committee at Lund University approved the study (LU-443-99), and permission to extract data was obtained from the registry holder.

Classifications and measurements

The diagnosis of CP was verified at the age of four years by a neuro-paediatrician, according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria of the Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe network.¹³ Children younger than 4 years with presumed, although not yet confirmed, CP are included in the CPUP, while those who at a later stage do not fulfil the criteria for CP are excluded. In the present study, 521 children were younger than 4 years with presumed but not yet confirmed CP. Gross motor function was classified by the child's physiotherapist into levels I to V according to the expanded and revised version of the GMFCS.¹²

Passive knee extension was assessed by goniometric measurement in a standardized supine position according to the CPUP manual (http://www.cpup.se). In the CPUP, ROM is graded into three levels according to a traffic light system with separate cut-offs for GMFCS levels I to III compared with GMFCS levels IV to V. Green indicates a good passive ROM. Yellow indicates a reduced ROM and the need for increased observation and actions to improve ROM. Red indicates the development of a contracture that requires intervention. In this study, we used the same classification values for all GMFCS levels. We classified knee extension as a mild contracture if the extension was minus 5 degrees to minus 14 degrees and as a severe contracture if the extension was minus 15 degrees or less.

The hamstring length was classified according to the popliteal angle with the hip flexed to 90 degrees with the child in the supine position. We classified a popliteal angle of 120 to 139 degrees as indicating a mildly reduced hamstring length and below 120 degrees as a severely reduced hamstring length. The length of the gastrocnemius was classified according to the angle of the ankle joint in dorsi-flexion with the hip and knee extended. Angles between 9 degrees and 0 degrees of dorsiflexion were considered to indicate mildly reduced muscle length and below 0 degrees indicated severely reduced muscle length.

Muscle tone of the knee and plantar flexors was measured according to the Modified Ashworth Scale.¹⁴ In the statistical analyses, the Ashworth levels were divided into three groups: 0, normal muscle tone; 1 to 1+, slight increase in muscle tone; and 2 to 4, large increase in muscle tone. For all children in this study, information from only one leg, that with the lowest ROM, was used in the analyses. If the ROM was equal on both sides, we used the leg with the highest Ashworth level. For children with the same measurements in both legs, one leg was randomly assigned to be included in the analyses.

Passive knee extension was analysed according to GMFCS level, age, sex, spasticity of the knee and plantar

What this paper adds

- Knee contracture occurs in children with cerebral palsy at all Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) levels.
- Knee contracture in children is associated with short hamstring muscles, higher GMFCS level, and older age.
- Short hamstring muscles present a greater risk for knee contracture than spasticity.

flexors, and length of the hamstring and gastrocnemius muscles.

Statistical analyses

In the statistical analyses, age was classified into five groups (1-3y, 4-6y, 7-9y, 10-12y, and 13-15y). The Ashworth levels were divided into three groups (0, 1 to 1+, and 2 to 4). Knee extension and length of the hamstrings (popliteal angle) and gastrocnemius (dorsiflexion) were also divided into three groups: normal, mild contracture, and severe contracture. Categorical variables are described by frequencies (*n*) and percentage (%).

Pearson's χ^2 test was used to analyse categorical data, while a χ^2 test for trend (linear-by-linear association test) was used to analyse trends in knee contracture according to GMFCS level and age. Since the outcome variable knee extension was originally measured as the angle of extension, it is essentially a circular data variable, that is, given as the angle of a circle.¹⁵ To fully take this characteristic into account in the statistical analyses, the Watson–Williams test for homogeneity of means was used to identify differences in the mean direction of knee extension between the different levels of categorical variables. For these analyses, knee extension is described by mean direction with accompanying circular standard deviation.

Multiple binary logistic regression was used to analyse the simultaneous associations between the outcome knee contracture (yes/no) and the explanatory variables sex, age, GMFCS level, hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths, and spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors. For the regression analysis, a child was classified as having a knee contracture if the knee extension was below 5 degrees or less (i.e. mild or severe contracture) and as not having a knee contracture if the knee extension was below 4 degrees or more. The results of the regression analyses are presented as odds ratios (ORs) with accompanying 95 per cent confidence intervals (CIs). Nagelkerke R^2 is used as a measure of goodness-of-fit. SPSS v23/24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and R 3.3.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) with the package 'circular' version 0.4-7 were used for the statistical analyses, with p values less than 0.05 considered significant.

RESULTS

Data were obtained from a total of 3 045 children; 1 756 (58%) males and 1 289 (42%) females. Their mean age was 8 years 1 month (SD 3.84). The distributions according to age, sex, and GMFCS levels are presented in Table I.

Table I: Dis	ble I: Distribution of age, sex, and GMFCS level											
		Sex	n (%)		GI	MFCS level n (%	6)					
Age (y)	N of children	Male	Female	I	II	III	IV	V				
1–3	521	288 (55)	233 (45)	212 (41)	90 (17)	61 (12)	79 (15)	79 (15)				
4–6	737	440 (60)	297 (40)	358 (49)	98 (13)	76 (10)	100 (14)	105 (14)				
7–9	683	401 (59)	282 (41)	282 (41)	124 (18)	60 (9)	106 (15)	111 (16)				
10–12	665	390 (59)	275 (41)	301 (45)	114 (17)	46 (7)	91 (14)	113 (17)				
13–15	439	237 (54)	202 (46)	177 (40)	82 (19)	37 (8)	73 (17)	70 (16)				
Total	3 045	1 756 (58)	1 289 (42)	1 330 (44)	508 (17)	280 (9)	449 (15)	478 (16)				

GMFCS, Gross Motor Function Classification System.

Knee contracture was reported in 685 (22%) of the 3 045 children; 369 (12%) had a mild contracture (-5° to -14°) and 316 (10%) had a severe contracture (-15° or less). Data for passive knee extension were missing for 67 children, 43 of whom were classified as being in GMFCS I. Slightly more males (n=419, 24%) than females (n=266, 21%) had a knee contracture. The percentages of children with a severe contracture were 12 per cent in GMFCS level III, 25 per cent in level IV, and 35 per cent in level V. A severe contracture was exhibited by 3 per cent of children in the 4- to 6-year-old group and 25 per cent of children in the 13- to 15-year-old group (Table II).

Significant differences were observed in knee extension related to sex (p=0.029), age (p<0.001), GMFCS level (p<0.001), length of the hamstring and gastrocnemius muscles (p<0.001), and spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors (p<0.001) (Table III). Knee extension was slightly lower in males than in females; the mean directions (circular SDs) were -2.4 degrees (0.2°) and -1.7 degrees (0.2°) respectively. Knee extension decreased with increasing age from 0.9 degrees (0.1°) for the 1-year to 3-year-old group and to -7.1 degrees (0.2°) for the 13-year to 15-year-old group. Knee extension also decreased with increasing GMFCS level from 1.5 degrees (0.1°) for children at GMFCS level I to -10.6 degrees (0.3°) for those at

 Table II: Distribution of knee extension in relation to sex, age, and

 GMFCS level

		Knee extension							
Variable	Level	Normal ROM ≥−4° n (%)	Mild contracture -5° to -14° n (%)	Severe con- tracture ≤−15° n (%)					
Sex	Male	1 300 (75)	220 (13)	199 (12)					
	Female	993 (79)	149 (12)	117 (9)					
Age (y)	1–3	461 (93)	30 (6)	5 (1)					
	4-6	611 (85)	85 (12)	25 (3)					
	7–9	576 (77)	90 (13)	66 (10)					
	10–12	443 (67)	103 (16)	112 (17)					
	13–15	262 (61)	61 (14)	108 (25)					
GMFCS	1	1 214 (94)	73 (6)	0 (0)					
level	11	447 (89)	49 (10)	4 (1)					
	III	199 (72)	43 (16)	33 (12)					
	IV	236 (53)	96 (22)	112 (25)					
	V	197 (42)	108 (23)	167 (35)					

GMFCS, Gross Motor Function Classification System; ROM, range of motion.

GMFCS level V. The largest difference in knee extension was related to the length of the hamstring muscle; the mean direction of knee extension (circular SD) was 1.0 degree (0.1°) for children with a normal muscle length compared with -19.5 degrees (0.3°) for those with a severe knee contracture (Table III).

In the multiple binary logistic regression model, age, GMFCS level, hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths, and spasticity of the knee flexors were significantly

Table III: Knee extension in relation to sex, age, GMFCS level, hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths, and spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors

Variable	Level	n (%)	Knee exten- sion (°), mean direc- tion (CSD)	<i>p</i> - valueª
Sex	Male	1 719 (58)	-2.43 (0.17)	0.029
Age (y)	Female 1–3 4–6 7–9 10–12	1 259 (42) 496 (17) 721 (24) 672 (23) 658 (22)	-1.65 (0.16) 0.90 (0.08) 0.28 (0.11) -1.68 (0.14) -4.26 (0.20)	<0.001
GMFCS level	3=15 V V	431 (14) 1 287 (43) 500 (17) 275 (9) 444 (15) 472 (16)	-7.08 (0.24) 1.50 (0.07) 0.96 (0.08) -2.44 (0.14) -7.13 (0.20) -10.58 (0.25)	<0.001
Muscle length				
Hamstring muscle	Normal Mildly shortened Severely	1 825 (62) 924 (31) 189 (6)	0.97 (0.08) -4.75 (0.17) -19.52 (0.30)	<0.001
	shortened			
Gastrocnemius muscle	Normal Mildly shortened Severely shortened	1 744 (59) 903 (31) 287 (10)	-0.77 (0.15) -2.48 (0.14) -5.61 (0.17)	<0.001
Spasticity	Shortened			
Knee flexors	0 1–1+ 2–4	1 751 (69) 548 (22) 238 (9)	0.41 (0.11) -4.11 (0.18) -10.70 (0.24)	<0.001
Plantar flexors	0 1–1+ 2–4	1 279 (53) 674 (28) 480 (20)	-0.32 (0.14) -2.04 (0.17) -5.08 (0.19)	<0.001

^ap-values for the difference in mean direction between group levels using the Watson–Williams test for homogeneity of means. CSD, circular standard deviation; GMFCS, Gross Motor Function Classification System.

Variable	Level	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Sex	Male	Ref.		
	Female	0.95	(0.71–1.27)	0.714
Age (y)	1–3	Ref.		
	4–6	1.88	(1.02-3.49)	0.044
	7–9	3.27	(1.80–5.94)	< 0.001
	10–12	5.18	(2.84–9.45)	< 0.001
	13–15	6.80	(3.62–12.77)	< 0.001
GMFCS level	I	Ref.		
	11	0.95	(0.58–1.57)	0.849
	III	3.52	(2.14–5.79)	< 0.001
	IV	7.91	(5.03-12.46)	< 0.001
	V	13.17	(8.42-20.60)	< 0.001
Muscle length				
Hamstring muscle	Normal length	Ref.		
	Mildly shortened	3.05	(2.24–4.17)	< 0.001
	Severely shortened	9.86	(5.49-17.69)	< 0.001
Gastrocnemius muscle	Normal length	Ref.		
	Mildly shortened	1.70	(1.24–2.32)	0.001
	Severely shortened	3.62	(2.31–5.66)	< 0.001
Spasticity				
Knee flexors	0	Ref.		
	1–1+	1.49	(1.03–2.15)	0.035
	2–4	2.10	(1.27–3.47)	0.004
Plantar flexors	0	Ref.		
	1–1+	1.00	(0.70–1.42)	0.984
	2–4	0.80	(0.51–1.24)	0.317

Table IV: Results of multiple binary logistic regression for the association between knee contracture (yes/no) and sex, age, GMFCS level, hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths, and spasticity of the knee and plantar flexors

Results based on n=2 168 out of n=3 045 individuals with complete cases (complete data set and no missing variables included in the regression analysis), of which 407 (19%) had knee contracture. Nagelkerke R²=0.499. Cl, confidence intervals; GMFCS, Gross Motor Function Classification System; OR, odds ratios; Ref., reference.

associated with an increased risk of knee contracture (Table IV). The goodness-of-fit was quite high, with Nagelkerke R^2 equalling 0.499. However, neither sex nor spasticity of the plantar flexors was significantly associated with knee contracture. Mildly reduced (OR 3.05) and severely reduced (OR 9.86) hamstring length and reduced gastrocnemius length (OR 1.7–3.62) were associated with an increased risk of knee contracture. A higher degree of spasticity in the hamstrings (OR 1.49–2.10) was also associated with a slightly increased risk of knee contracture. Both reduced hamstring length and reduced gastrocnemius length were more strongly associated with knee contracture than increased spasticity in the knee or plantar flexors.

DISCUSSION

Despite the high prevalence of knee contracture in CP, few studies have investigated this issue in children with CP. We found that almost one out of four children of a total population of children with CP aged up to 15 years, which included all GMFCS levels, had a knee contracture of 5 degrees or more. Children at all GMFCS levels exhibited knee contracture, although this was more common in older children and in those with a lower level of motor function. A strong association was observed between reduced hamstring length and knee contracture. Reduced hamstring and gastrocnemius lengths conferred a higher risk for knee contracture than increased spasticity of the knee flexors, but no significant association was found

between knee contracture and spasticity in the plantar flexors.

Our finding that 2 per cent of the 13-year to 15-yearolds had knee contractures compared with 10 per cent of the 4-year to 6-year-olds is consistent with previous studies that have reported an increase in the frequency of knee contractures with age.5,6 It is also the most frequent contracture in adults with CP.3 In our study, the frequency of knee contracture increased with age at all GMFCS levels, but was more frequent in children with a lower level of motor function. For example, none of the children at GMFCS level I had a severe contracture compared with 35 per cent of those at level V. Even in children at GMFCS level V who lack the ability to walk, knee contracture is highly associated with postural asymmetries, which may cause progressive deformity such as scoliosis, windswept hip deformity, or hip dislocation when the legs are tilted to the side in the supine position. Limited knee extension also obstructs the ability to find optimal lying and standing positions for these children.3

Knee contracture was strongly associated with reduced muscle length, particularly of the hamstrings, but also to the gastroenemius muscles to some extent. In a study by Nordmark et al.⁶ hamstring length measured as the popliteal angle started to reduce on average 4 years before the development of knee contractures in children with CP. Both the hamstring and gastroenemius are two-joint muscles that pass the knee joint and thus affect its ROM. It is common for nonoperative interventions to maintain the length of the gastrocnemius.^{16,17} Short hamstring muscles are a challenge and often require operative interventions such as hamstrings release¹⁸ or extension osteotomy. This study shows that children with a hamstring length of less than 120 degrees have an almost 10-fold increase in the risk of knee contracture.

Molenaers et al.¹⁹ described the importance of treating spasticity to prevent joint deformity. However, our data suggest that knee contracture is more strongly associated with reduced muscle length than with spasticity, which may also contribute to reduced muscle length. It is sometimes difficult to distinguish limb stiffness resulting from muscle shortening from that caused by spasticity. Because muscle stiffness increases with age, this difficulty in differentiating shortening from spasticity may occur more frequently in adolescents than in younger children.²⁰

This study had several limitations. The Ashworth Scale is a widely used clinical measure of spasticity, but its validity and precision remain open to question.¹⁴ In this study, only 1 of 2 844 children had a reported grade of 4 (rigid) on the Ashworth Scale for the knee flexors, and only 55 (2%) had a reported grade of 3, although more than 10 per cent of the children had a severe knee contracture. Several children with contracture and spasticity received treatment to reduce spasticity, such as the use of an intrathecal baclofen pump and botulinum neurotoxin injections, which may explain the low numbers reported as grade 3 or 4. In the present study, the low reliability of the Modified Ashworth Scale may have underestimated the effects of spasticity on knee contracture. The reliability is slightly higher for the original Ashworth Scale than for the Modified Ashworth Scale and, in this study, we grouped the 1 and 1+ levels according to the original scale.

Another limitation of this study was the cross-sectional design, which involved the collection of information from the last examination for each child and no longitudinal data to follow the development of contracture over time. Our study does not reflect the natural development of knee contracture because many of the children received treatment to prevent its development. Since the CPUP programme started, the number of children with severe contracture has been reduced and the children receive earlier treatment.²¹ However, with no treatment, the relationship between reduced muscle length and development of knee contracture would probably have been even more pronounced. The cut-off value of greater than or equal to 5 degrees (mild contracture) affected the high frequency of knee contracture in the present study. A cut-off value of greater than or equal to 15 degrees (severe contracture) would have reduced the percentage by more than half, from 23 per cent to 11 per cent. The measurement of the popliteal angle was used as a surrogate value for hamstring length. Unless adjusted for, the popliteal angle measured in supine with the opposite leg straight may be affected by a limited hip flexion below 90 degrees or a hip flexion contracture pulling the pelvis forward. However only 218 of 3 045 children (7%) were reported to have a hip flexion contracture exceeding 5 degrees on either side.

One strength of this study is that it included a total population of children with CP at all GMFCS levels aged from 1 year to 15 years. Given the prevalence and distributions of sex and GMFCS levels, the study population is likely to be representative of children with CP in other countries with similar development.

The association between knee contracture and reduced hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths is important for the treatment of children with CP. Chan and Miller¹⁸ described the importance of early interventions and noted that children should not be allowed to develop severe contracture that causes them to lose function and ambulatory potential. Maintaining hamstring and gastrocnemius muscle lengths can reduce the risk of developing severe knee contracture and may prevent contracture of the ankle and hip.

In conclusion, knee contracture is frequent in children with CP at all GMFCS levels and is associated with higher GMFCS level, older age, and reduced length of the hamstring and gastrocnemius muscles.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the children and their families who participate in the CPUP.

The authors have stated that they have no interests that might be perceived as posing a conflict or bias.

REFERENCES

- Fergusson D, Hutton B, Drodge A. The epidemiology of major joint contractures: a systematic review of the literature. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2007; **456**: 22–9.
- Smith LR, Lee KS, Ward SR, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Hamstring contractures in children with spastic cerebral palsy result from a stiffer extracellular matrix and increased in vivo sarcomere length. *J Physiol* 2011; 589: 2625–39.
- Rodby-Bousquet E, Czuba T, Hägglund G, Westbom L. Postural asymmetries in young adults with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2013; 55: 1009–15.
- Poon DM, Hui-Chan CW. Hyperactive stretch reflexes, co-contraction, and muscle weakness in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2009; 51: 128–35.
- Hägglund G, Wagner P. Development of spasticity with age in a total population of children with cerebral palsy. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2008; 9: 150.
- Nordmark E, Hägglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H, Wagner P, Westborn L. Development of lower limb range of motion from early childhood to adolescence in cerebral palsy: a population-based study. *BMC Med* 2009; 7: 65.
- Morris C, Bowers R, Ross K, Stevens P, Phillips D. Orthotic management of cerebral palsy: recommendations from a consensus conference. *NeuroRebabilitation* 2011; 28: 37–46.
- Steele KM, Demers MS, Schwartz MH, Delp SL. Compressive tibiofemoral force during crouch gait. *Gait Pasture* 2012; 35: 556–60.
- Alriksson-Schmidt A, Hägglund G. Pain in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy: a populationbased registry study. *Acta Paediatr* 2016; 105: 665– 70.

Knee Contractures in Children with CP Erika Cloodt et al. 395

- Doralp S, Bartlett DJ. The prevalence, distribution, and effect of pain among adolescents with cerebral palsy. *Pediatr Phys Ther* 2010; 22: 26–33.
- Alriksson-Schmidt AI, Arner M, Westbom L, et al. A combined surveillance program and quality register improves management of childhood disability. *Disabil Rebabil* 2017; 39: 830–6.
- Palisano RJ, Rosenbaum P, Bartlett D, Livingston MH. Content validity of the expanded and revised gross motor function classification system. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2008; 50: 744–50.
- Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe. Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 2000; 42: 816–24.

- Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys Ther* 1987; 67: 206–7.
- Pewsey A, Ruxton GD. Circular Statistics in R. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013.
- Bourseul JS, Lintanf M, Saliou P, Brochard S, Pons C. Effect of ankle-foot orthoses on gait in children with cerebral palsy: a meta-analysis. Ann Phys Rebabil Med 2016; 59(Suppl.): e6.
- 17. Dursun N, Gokbel T, Akarsu M, Dursun E. A randomized controlled trial on effectiveness of intermittent serial casting on spastic equinus foot in children with cerebral palsy after botulinum toxin-a treatment. Am J Phys Med Rebabil 2017; 96: 221-5.
- Chan G, Miller F. Assessment and treatment of children with cerebral palsy. Orthop Clin North Am 2014; 45: 313–25.
- Molenaers G, Fagard K, Van Campenhout A, Desloovere K. Botulinum toxin a treatment of the lower extremities in children with cerebral palsy. *J Child* Orthop 2013; 7: 383–7.
- Bell KJ, Ounpuu S, DeLuca PA, Romness MJ. Natural progression of gait in children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop 2002; 22: 677–82.
- 21. Hägglund G, Andersson S, Düppe H, Lauge-Pedersen H, Nordmark E, Westbom L. Prevention of severe contractures might replace multilevel surgery in cerebral palsy: results of a population-based health care programme and new techniques to reduce spasticity. J Pediatr Orthop B 2005; 14: 269–73.

New from Mac Keith Press Clinics in Developmental Medicine Neuroendocrine Disorders in Children



Edited by Mehul Dattani, Peter Hindmarsh, Lucinda Carr and Iain CAF Robinson

- The first book to provide unique, comprehensive coverage of the topic of paediatric and adolescent neuroendocrinology.
- Investigates a highly translational theme from basic science to clinical application.
- Includes clear explanations of complex topics and covers a difficult area in a relatively easy to follow manner, with clinical relevance provided in all chapters.

Contact us at admin@mackeith.co.uk to receive full table of contents and further details. September 2016 / Hardback / ISBN 978-1-909962-50-7 / £74.95

www.mackeith.co.uk/shop

Paper II

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Interrater reliability for unilateral and bilateral tests to measure the popliteal angle in children and youth with cerebral palsy

Erika Cloodt^{1,2*}[®], Joanna Krasny³, Marek Jozwiak³[®] and Elisabet Rodby-Bousquet^{1,4}[®]

Abstract

Background: Short hamstring muscles can cause several problems for children with cerebral palsy. The results of the clinical measurement of hamstring length are often used in decision-making about treatment of children with cerebral palsy. There are different ways of performing this measurement. The aim of this study was to evaluate the interrater reliability of the unilateral and bilateral measurement of the popliteal angle in children and youth with cerebral palsy.

Methods: Two methods for estimating hamstring length using unilateral and bilateral measurements of the popliteal angle were applied in children with cerebral palsy. Both tests were applied bilaterally by two independent examiners on the same day for each child. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated to evaluate the interrater reliability of both measurements. Seventy young people with cerebral palsy (32 females, 38 males, mean age 10 years 8 months, range 5–22 years) at Gross Motor Function Classification System levels I (n = 17), II (n = 31), III (n = 12) and IV (n = 10) were included.

Results: The interrater reliability was good for both measurements. The ICC values were 0.80 on the right and 0.86 on the left for the unilateral popliteal angle, and 0.82 on the right and 0.83 on the left for the bilateral popliteal angle.

Conclusions: Both unilateral and bilateral measurement of the popliteal angle is a reliable method for estimating hamstring length in children and youth with cerebral palsy.

Keywords: Cerebral palsy, Hamstring muscles, Physical examination, Range of motion, Reproducibility of results

Background

Reduced muscle length is a common problem among children with cerebral palsy because of the effects of this non-progressive brain disorder and secondary problems such as spasticity, immobility, pathological muscle growth and fewer satellite cells compared with children

* Correspondence: erika.cloodt@med.lu.se; erika.cloodt@kronoberg.se ¹Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

²Department of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg, Växjö, Sweden

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

BMC

can cause gait problems for ambulatory children and can lead to postural asymmetries in standing and lying for non-ambulant children. The hamstring muscles semitendinosus, semimembranosus and biceps femoris (long head) are two-joint muscles that cross both the hip and knee joint, and are active in hip extension and knee flexion movements. Short hamstrings can cause the "crouch gait" and can reduce knee extension during the stance phase of walking in children with cerebral palsy [4, 5].

without cerebral palsy [1-3]. Short hamstring muscles

© The Author(s). 2021 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, any unitended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, wish http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.



Open Access

Cloodt et al. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders (2021) 22:275 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-021-04135-6 Two of five gait patterns described for unilateral cerebral palsy and three of four described for bilateral cerebral palsy involve limited knee extension and potential short hamstring muscles. The gait pattern can be described as equinus, jump knee and crouch gait [6]. Shortened hamstrings are strongly associated with a high risk for knee contracture, and muscle length has a stronger impact on knee contracture development than the level of spasticity [7]. Shortened muscle length of the hamstrings is a common reason for surgery in children with cerebral palsy [8, 9]. Hamstring lengthening is performed to improve gait and/or standing [4, 10].

The average routine for estimating hamstring length in the clinic is the goniometric measurement of the passive range of motion of the knee joint with the patient in the supine position and the hip in flexion [11]. There are different ways of performing this test, two of which are unilateral and bilateral measurements of the popliteal angle. The bilateral popliteal angle test is also called the 90-90 straight-leg test in the literature [12]. The results of the clinical measurement of hamstring length are often used in decision-making about treatment and when evaluating the treatment of children with cerebral palsy [9, 13, 14]. Given the lack of other convenient methods for estimating hamstring length in daily clinical practice and the need for this information for decisionmaking, it is important to know the reliability of the measurements in current use.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the interrater reliability of unilateral and bilateral tests to measure the popliteal angle when used in children and youth with cerebral palsy.

Methods

The popliteal angle was measured using the unilateral and bilateral tests in 70 children and youth with cerebral palsy. All children were recruited at a rehabilitation centre, between 10 June and 2 September 2019. The inclusion criterion was diagnosis of cerebral palsy. The exclusion criterion was unilateral cerebral palsy to ensure that no unaffected legs were included. All measurements were performed independently by two physiotherapists on the same day for each child. Both the left and right legs were measured, and the order of measurements was randomized for the two examiners. Before the start of the study, the examiners were instructed in performing the two tests using a goniometer and a standardized method. Both physiotherapists had recently graduated and had no previous experience measuring children with cerebral palsy.

The unilateral test was performed with the child in the supine position on the examination table. The examiner held the test leg in 90 degrees of hip flexion and the contralateral leg was fully extended and fixed. The examiner increased the knee extension until the leg was maximally passively extended. The movement was performed slowly (>5 s for the entire range of motion) and with as much force as required to reach the passive end of motion. Reference marks for the goniometer ran along the femur to the greater trochanter and along the tibia to the lateral malleolus. The bilateral test was performed in a similar way as the unilateral test except that the child's contralateral leg was flexed at the hip to a position in which the anterior superior iliac spine and the posterior superior iliac spine were vertical (Fig. 1).

For both tests, the goniometric measurement of the popliteal angle was defined as the angle, in degrees, of the lower leg relative to full extension (where 0 degrees was equal to full extension). The angle was recorded in 5-degree intervals as 0, 5, 10 or 15 degrees.

Statistical analyses

The interrater reliability was evaluated using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) and 95% confidence interval (CI) with two-way random and absolute agreement for single measures [15]. The ICC takes the degree of disagreement into account and should exceed 0.75 [16]. The ICC was estimated for the left and right sides separately and for the average value of the left and right side of each child. All analyses were performed by independent physiotherapists with no other knowledge of the participants using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25).

Results

In total, 70 participants (38 males and 32 females) with cerebral palsy were included. Their mean age was 10.8 years (range 5–22 years). The participants were classified according to the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) level as follows: I (n = 17); II (n = 31); III (n = 12) and IV (n = 10).

The mean popliteal angle was 31 degrees measured in the unilateral test and 15 degrees in the bilateral test, in which the pelvis is tilted slightly more posteriorly. The popliteal angle measured in both tests increased with higher GMFCS level (Table 1).

The mean popliteal angle for both tests also increased with older age and there was a tendency for slightly higher values in males than females (Table 2).

There was a high interrater reliability, with ICCs of ≥ 0.80 for both the unilateral and bilateral measurements of the popliteal angle (Table 3).

Discussion

This study showed that both the unilateral and bilateral tests to measure the popliteal angle have high interrater reliability for measuring hamstring length in children and youth with cerebral palsy. The participants in this study represented different ages and GMFCS levels. All



participants had bilateral cerebral palsy to ensure that only the affected legs were included. Previous studies have shown that measuring range of motion can be more difficult in children with cerebral palsy than in those without cerebral palsy [17, 18]. A previous study of 15 children with cerebral palsy by Ten Berge et al. [19] showed good intrarater reliability but low interrater reliability for the unilateral popliteal test.

The unilateral popliteal angle reported was lower in
this study (mean 31 degrees) than in other studies. Choi
et al. [20] reported a mean unilateral popliteal angle of
37 degrees in children with GMFCS I or II. Bell et al.
[21] reported a mean angle of 28 or 59 degrees, in chil-
dren with CP depending on walking function and White
et al. [22] reported a mean of 57.6 degrees for 8 to 12-
year-old children with CP but did not specify whether
the test was bilateral or unilateral. None of the previous
studies specified how much pressure the examiners

 Table 1
 Mean value, standard deviation (SD) and range for the unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests

GMFCS level (n)	Type of test	Examiner	Mean	SD	Range
l (17)	Unilateral	1	27.35	10.1	10-50
		2	25.59	10.66	10-50
	Bilateral	1	13.53	10.5	0-35
		2	13.38	9.68	0-35
II (31)	Unilateral	1	33.31	10.69	15-65
		2	31.86	9.83	15-50
	Bilateral	1	16.21	9.9	0-35
		2	14.92	10.49	0-35
III (12)	Unilateral	1	33.96	7.65	20-50
		2	32.5	8.66	20-50
	Bilateral	1	17.71	8.36	0-35
		2	17.50	8.26	0-35
IV (10)	Unilateral	1	32.0	10.12	15-55
		2	32.75	11.99	20-60
	Bilateral	1	14.75	7.86	0-25
		2	17.75	15.96	0-60

Popliteal angles of the two examiners presented separately for each level of the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS)

 Table 2 Popliteal angle with mean value and standard deviation (SD) for age, sex and GMFCS

	Unilateral test Mean (SD)	Bilateral test Mean (SD)
GMFCS		
I	26.47 (10.17)	13.46 (9.9)
Ш	32.58 (10)	15.56 (10.02)
Ш	33.23 (7.84)	17.6 (8.13)
IV	32.38 (10.82)	16.25 (11.32)
Sex		
Female	29.14 (9.04)	12.81 (8.03)
Male	32.89 (10.54)	17.76 (10.61)
Age group		
0–6	28 (9.23)	11.63 (8.46)
7–12	30.64 (9.34)	15.03 (8.71)
13–18	32.98 (11.12)	17.31 (11.62)
19–22	47.5 (10.61)	33.75 (10.61)

Average values for the unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests of both examiners together presented for the different sub groups

Table 3 Interrater reliability for the unilateral and bilateral popliteal angle tests

Unilate	eral test	Bilater	al test
ICC	95% CI	ICC	95% CI
0.80	0.67-0.87	0.82	0.72-0.88
0.86	0.78-0.91	0.83	0.74–0.89
	Unilate ICC 0.80 0.86	Unilateral test ICC 95% CI 0.80 0.67-0.87 0.86 0.78-0.91	Unilateral test Bilateral ICC 95% CI ICC 0.80 0.67-0.87 0.82 0.86 0.78-0.91 0.83

Intraclass Correlation Coefficients (ICC) with 95% Confidence Intervals (CI) for the right and the left \log

applied to extend the knee. The examiners in our study were instructed to extend the child's leg with as much pressure as tolerated by the child and to reach the end range of movement. The range of 5–60 degrees reported by Choi et al. [20] was similar to the 0–60 degrees observed in our study. This wide range highlights the variability of measurement of the popliteal angle in children with cerebral palsy, which would affect the mean value in a smaller study population. Also capsular contracture may affect the range of motion. Reduced popliteal angle is one criterion for surgery to lengthen the hamstrings, but this should not be the only criterion [19, 23, 24].

The unilateral and bilateral tests can yield different results, as measured in degrees, according to the position of the pelvis. Therefore, when reporting results, it is important to indicate the type of measurement used and to consider the pelvic position [12]. A more posteriorly tilted pelvis, as in the bilateral test, will automatically yield a smaller popliteal angle. The bilateral test allows for relaxation of the hip flexors of the contralateral leg [25] and may be easier to use when measuring children with hip flexion contractures. A study by Manikowska et al. [23] showed a greater muscle activation of the contralateral leg during the unilateral compared with the bilateral test. The authors suggested that this muscle activation may affect the result and, therefore, should be considered.

The speed at which the knee extends during measurement is also important. Choi et al. [20] used the sum of a fast speed and slow speed measure of the popliteal angle when considering both spasticity and mechanical resistance, which can be important when evaluating treatment [26]. The aim of our study was to compare the interrater reliability between two frequently used clinical test methods to measure the muscle length of the hamstrings.

The popliteal angle was measured with a goniometer by two independent physiotherapists on the same day for all participants to minimize the effects of true changes in muscle length over time. The ICC was used to evaluate interrater reliability, and the values for both tests exceeded the minimum of 0.75 recommended by Streiner et al. [16] for clinical tests.

One limitation of this study is the potential influence on the examiners by the first test when performing the second test. However, the two examiners performed their measurements independently of each other and with the same conditions. The examiners had no personal interest in the results of the study that may have affected their measurements.

Another limitation of our study is that no children at GMFCS level V were included. It is possible that children at GMFCS level V are more difficult to measure depending on the severity and number of contractures. The tests were performed passively in the supine position, and it is unlikely that this affected the measurements in this study. However, the lack of children at GMFCS level V likely affected the mean value obtained in the tests to measure popliteal angle.

Some authors have questioned the measurement of hamstring length and suggest that the popliteal angle is a substitute measure and not a true measure of hamstring length [24, 27]. Other ways of measuring hamstring length, for example software techniques, have been used to evaluate the results of hamstring lengthening in children with cerebral palsy [28, 29]. A study by Park et al. showed that hamstring length measured with musculoskeletal modelling software correlated with the results of popliteal angle measurement [27].

Conclusions

The popliteal angle is part of the regular examination of children with cerebral palsy. Given the variability in measuring methods and results, it is important to also include other examinations, such as gait analysis, when considering potential treatments [29].

This study showed high interrater reliability for both the unilateral and bilateral tests to measure popliteal angle. The ICCs were high and did not differ significantly between the two methods. Our finding suggests that both tests are reliable methods of measuring popliteal angle in children and youth with cerebral palsy.

Abbreviations

CP: Cerebral palsy; CI: Confidence interval; GMFCS: Gross Motor Function Classification System; ICC: Intraclass correlation coefficient

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all the young people and their families who participated in this study, physiotherapists Aleksandra Wlodarczyk and Karolina Mielczarek for assessing all children, and Beata Adamczak, physiatrist and head of the Rehabilitation Center.

Authors' contributions

EC designed the study, analysed the data and drafted the manuscript. JK designed the study, collected the data and improved and revised the manuscript. MJ designed the study, recruited the children and improved and revised the manuscript. ERB designed the study, analysed the data and improved and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final draft.

Authors' information

EC is a physiotherapist and PhD student at Lund University, Sweden. Joanna Krasny is a medical doctor in orthopaedics at the Department of Pediatric Orthopedics and Traumatology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland. MJ is a pediatric orthopaedic surgeon and rehabilitation specialist, PhD, Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery & Division Head at Department of Pediatric Orthopedics and Traumatology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland. EB is a physiotherapist, PhD, Associate professor at the Department of Clinical Sciences, Orthopaedics Lund University and at the Centre for Clinical Research, Uppsala University, Västerås.

Funding

This study received funding from Stiftelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne. The funding source had no influence on any part of the study or in the decision to submit the article for publication. Open Access funding provided by Lund University.

Availability of data and materials

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, upon reasonable request.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by the Ethical committee of Poznan University of Medical Sciences (nr 244/20).

Written informed consent was obtained from a parent or guardian for participants under 18 years old.

Consent for publication

Consent to use data for research was provided by all families participating in this study.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ²Department of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg, Växjö, Sweden. ³Department of Pediatric Orthopedics and Traumatology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland. ⁴Centre for Clinical Research, Uppsala University-Region Västmanland, Västerås, Sweden.

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 2 March 2021 Published online: 13 March 2021

References

- Smith LR, Chambers HG, Lieber RL. Reduced satellite cell population may lead to contractures in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2013;55(3):264–70.
- Williams PE, Goldspink G. The effect of immobilization on the longitudinal growth of striated muscle fibres. J Anat. 1973;116(Pt 1):45–55.
- Dayanidhi S, Lieber RL. Skeletal muscle satellite cells: mediators of muscle growth during development and implications for developmental disorders. Muscle Nerve. 2014;50(5):723–32.
- Long JT, Cobb L, Garcia MC, McCarthy JJ. Improved clinical and functional outcomes in crouch gait following minimally invasive hamstring lengthening and serial casting in children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 2019.
- O'Sullivan R, Horgan F, O'Brien T, French H. The natural history of crouch gait in bilateral cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Res Dev Disabil. 2018;80: 84–92.
- Rodda J, Graham HK. Classification of gait patterns in spastic hemiplegia and spastic diplegia: a basis for a management algorithm. Eur J Neurol. 2001;8(Suppl 5):98–108.
- Cloodt E, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Demographic and modifiable factors associated with knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018;60(4):391–6.
- Osborne M, Mueske NM, Rethlefsen SA, Kay RM, Wren TAL. Pre-operative hamstring length and velocity do not explain the reduced effectiveness of

repeat hamstring lengthening in children with cerebral palsy and crouch gait. Gait Posture. 2019;68:323–8.

- Laracca E, Stewart C, Postans N, Roberts A. The effects of surgical lengthening of hamstring muscles in children with cerebral palsy-the consequences of pre-operative muscle length measurement. Gait Posture. 2014;39(3):847–51.
- Rethlefsen SA, Yasmeh S, Wren TA, Kay RM. Repeat hamstring lengthening for crouch gait in children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 2013;33(5): 501–4.
- Herrero P, Carrera P, Garcia E, Gomez-Trullen EM, Olivan-Blazquez B. Reliability of goniometric measurements in children with cerebral palsy: a comparative analysis of universal goniometer and electronic inclinometer. A pilot study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2011;12:155.
- 12. Herrington L. The effect of pelvic position on popliteal angle achieved during 90:90 hamstring-length test. J Sport Rehabil. 2013;22(4):254–6.
- Molony DC, Harty JA, Burke TE, D'Souza LG. Popliteal angle as an indicator for successful closed reduction of developmental dysplasia of the hip. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2011;19(1):46–9.
- Arnold AS, Blemker SS, Delp SL. Evaluation of a deformable musculoskeletal model for estimating muscle-tendon lengths during crouch gait. Ann Biomed Eng. 2001;29(3):263–74.
- 15. McGraw KOaSPW. Forming inferences about some interclass correlation coefficients. Psychol Methods. 1996;1(1):30–46.
- Streiner DL, Norman GR, Cairney J. Health measurement scales : a practical guide to their development and use. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- Stuberg WA, Fuchs RH, Miedaner JA. Reliability of goniometric measurements of children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1988; 30(5):657–66.
- Kilgour G, McNair P, Stott NS. Intrarater reliability of lower limb sagittal range-of-motion measures in children with spastic diplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2003;45(6):391–9.
- Ten Berge SR, Halbertsma JP, Maathuis PG, Verheij NP, Dijkstra PU, Maathuis KG. Reliability of popliteal angle measurement: a study in cerebral palsy patients and healthy controls. J Pediatr Orthop. 2007;27(6):648–52.
- Choi JY, Park ES, Park D, Rha DW. Dynamic spasticity determines hamstring length and knee flexion angle during gait in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Gait Posture. 2018;64:255–9.
- 21. Bell KJ, Ounpuu S, DeLuca PA, Romness MJ. Natural progression of gait in children with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 2002;22(5):677–82.
- White H, Wallace J, Walker J, Augsburger S, Talwalkar VR, Muchow RD, lwinski H. Hamstring lengthening in females with cerebral palsy have greater effect than in males. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2019;28(4):337–44.
- Manikowska F, Chen BP, Jozwiak M, Lebiedowska MK. The popliteal angle tests in patients with cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2019;28(4):332–6.
- Thompson NS, Baker RJ, Cosgrove AP, Saunders JL, Taylor TC. Relevance of the popliteal angle to hamstring length in cerebral palsy crouch gait. J Pediatr Orthop. 2001;21(3):383–7.
- Lee KM, Chung CY, Kwon DG, Han HS, Choi IH, Park MS. Reliability of physical examination in the measurement of hip flexion contracture and correlation with gait parameters in cerebral palsy. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011;93(2):150–8.
- Boyd RNGK. Objective measurement of clinical findings in the use of botulinum toxin type A for the management of children with cerebral palsy. Eur J Neurol. 1999;6(4):23–35.
- Park MS, Chung CY, Lee SH, Choi IH, Cho TJ, Yoo WJ, Park BS, Lee KM. Effects of distal hamstring lengthening on sagittal motion in patients with diplegia: hamstring length and its clinical use. Gait Posture. 2009;30(4):487– 91.
- Arnold AS, Liu MQ, Schwartz MH, Ounpuu S, Dias LS, Delp SL. Do the hamstrings operate at increased muscle-tendon lengths and velocities after surgical lengthening? J Biomech. 2006;39(8):1498–506.
- Salami F, Brosa J, Van Drongelen S, Klotz MCM, Dreher T, Wolf SI, Thielen M. Long-term muscle changes after hamstring lengthening in children with bilateral cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2019;61(7):791–7.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Paper III

Knee and foot contracture occur earliest in children with cerebral palsy: a longitudinal analysis of 2,693 children

Erika CLOODT ^{1,2}, Philippe WAGNER ³, Henrik LAUGE-PEDERSEN ¹, and Elisabet RODBY-BOUSQUET ^{1,3}

Submitted 2020-06-17. Accepted 2020-10-17.

Background and purpose — Joint contracture is a common problem among children with cerebral palsy (CP). To prevent severe contracture and its effects on adjacent joints, it is crucial to identify children with a reduced range of motion (ROM) early. We examined whether significant hip, knee, or foot contracture occurs earliest in children with CP.

Patients and methods — This was a longitudinal study involving 27,230 measurements obtained for 2,693 children (59% boys, 41% girls) with CP born 1990 to 2018 and registered before 5 years of age in the Swedish surveillance program for CP. The analysis was based on 4,751 legs followed up for an average of 5.0 years. Separate Kaplan–Meier (KM) curves were drawn for each ROM to illustrate the proportions of contracture-free legs at a given time during the follow-up. Using a clustered bootstrap method and considering the child as the unit of clustering, 95% pointwise confidence intervals were generated for equally spaced time points every 2.5 years for each KM curve.

Results — Contracture developed in 34% of all legs, and the median time to the first contracture was 10 years from the first examination. Contracture was most common in children with a higher Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) level. The first contracture was a flexion contracture preventing dorsiflexion in children with GMFCS level I or II and preventing knee extension in children with GMFCS level III to V.

Interpretation — Early interventions to prevent knee and foot contractures in children with CP should be considered.

Joint contracture is a common problem in children with cerebral palsy (CP) (Rosenbaum et al. 2007). Spasticity, muscle imbalance, inability to move, and muscle pathology constrain normal muscle growth and lead to dynamic contracture followed by static joint contracture over time because of tight muscles surrounding the joints (Barrett and Lichtwark 2010). Children with CP exhibit increased sarcomere length and reduced number of satellite cells, both of which affect the ability to maintain muscle length during development and bone growth (Barrett and Lichtwark 2010, Smith et al. 2013). The risk of contracture increases with age and higher level on the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) (Nordmark et al. 2009). Some 60% of adults with CP experience contracture in the lower limbs (Agustsson et al. 2018).

Joint contracture prevents mechanical alignment of the joints, which affects standing and lying positions, and the quality and energy cost of gait (Raja et al. 2007). Contracture of the foot, knee, or hip joint may also affect adjacent joints and lead to severe postural asymmetries, windswept hips, and scoliosis (Agustsson et al. 2017, 2018, Pettersson et al. 2020). Contracture is often associated with pain, which occurs most frequently in the lower limbs of children with CP (Alriksson-Schmidt and Hägglund 2016, Blackman et al. 2018). To prevent severe joint contracture and reduce its effects on adjacent joints, it is crucial to identify children with reduced range of motion (ROM) to begin targeted treatment early (Chan and Miller 2014).

We analyzed whether contracture preventing hip extension, knee extension, or foot dorsiflexion occurs first in children with CP with GMFCS level I to V.

¹ Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund; ² Department of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg, Växjö;

³ Centre for Clinical Research Västerås, Uppsala University-Region Västmanland, Västerås, Sweden Correspondence: erika.cloodt@med.lu.se

^{© 2020} The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group, on behalf of the Nordic Orthopedic Federation. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. DOI 10.1080/17453674.2020.1848154

Age, years	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
GMFCS I																								
GMFCS II						ø																		
GMFCS III	ġ	ģ	ģ	¢	÷	ø	÷	ġ		÷		ŵ		ġ		÷		ė		ø		ġ		ġ
GMFCS IV	¢	ø	ġ	ģ	ø	ø	÷	ġ		÷		ė		ŵ		÷		ŵ		÷		ė		ġ
GMFCS V	ġ	ġ	ø	ġ	ø	ø	ġ	ė		÷,		ė		÷		÷		÷		ė		ġ.		ġ.
Clinical	exar	nina	tion	twi	ce a	yea	r		(Clinio	cal e	xam	nina	tion		4	8	-lip r	adio	ogra	ph			

Figure 1. Guidelines for clinical examination and hip radiograph within the Swedish Cerebral Palsy Follow-up Program (CPUP).

Patients and methods

This was a prospective study based on register data from the Swedish Cerebral Palsy Follow-up Program (CPUP), which includes > 95% of all children with CP in Sweden. We analyzed all measurements reported from the start of the program in October 1994 until the end of June 2018 and included all children born 1990 to 2018 and registered in the CPUP before 5 years of age. Children registered at 5 years of age or later were excluded. Children included in the CPUP were examined every 6 months, once a year, or every other year, depending on their age and GMFCS level (Figure 1).

The systematic follow-up includes several variables such as reports of surgery, CP subtype, and clinical examinations of passive ROM and gross motor function. The full protocol is available at: https://cpup.se/in-english/manuals-and-evalua-tion-forms/.

Gross motor function was classified by the child's physiotherapist into level I to V according to the expanded and revised version of the GMFCS (Palisano et al. 2008). Passive hip extension, knee extension, and dorsiflexion were assessed by goniometric measurements in standardized positions. Hip extension was measured with the child in the prone position with legs over the end of the examining table and the pelvis straight. Knee extension and foot dorsiflexion were measured with the child in the supine position with the hip and knee extended.

Contracture was defined as hip and knee flexion contracture of 10° or more and plantarflexion contracture of at least 10° in extension of the hip, knee, or foot. Children with unilateral spastic CP were identified, and only the affected side was used in the analyses. For children with ataxic, dyskinetic, or spastic bilateral CP, both legs were included.

Each leg that underwent soft tissue surgery or bony surgery and both legs of children with an intrathecal baclofen pump (ITB) or who underwent a selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR) operation before the onset of the first contracture were censored from the analyses at the date of surgery. If information on which leg was operated on was missing, both legs were censored at the date of surgery. Reports of spasticity-reducing surgery, such as that to insert an ITB or SDR, and the date of surgery or pump insertion were extracted. Surgery of the lower limbs was recorded in the database and was grouped into either soft tissue surgery or bony surgery for the hip, knee, or foot along with the date of surgery for the left and right leg. Examples of the soft tissue surgeries performed were adductor tenotomy, hamstring or Achilles tendon lengthening, and tendon or muscles transfer. Examples of the bony surgeries reported were

osteotomy, physiodesis, or arthrodesis. Surgery on the upper extremity or the spine, fracture, extraction of osteosynthesis material, or treatment with botulinum toxin injection were not censored and data for children who received these treatments were retained in the analyses.

Statistics

Hip extension, knee extension, and foot dorsiflexion were dichotomized into 2 groups: no contracture and contracture. Both legs for each child were then followed up from inclusion in the CPUP surveillance program until the last examination or the date of surgery. The follow-up time was calculated for each leg for each child, and separate Kaplan-Meier (KM) curves were drawn for each leg's ROM to illustrate the proportions of contracture-free legs at a given time during the followup. For children with unilateral spastic CP, only the affected side was included in the analyses. Using a clustered bootstrap method and considering the child as the unit of clustering, 95% pointwise confidence intervals (CI) were generated for equally spaced time points every 2.5 years for each KM curve. IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25.0; IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA), STATA (version 14, Stata-Corp, College Station, TX, USA), and R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were used for the statistical analyses. Categorical variables are described by frequency (n) and percentage (%).

Ethics, funding, and potential conflicts of interest

The study was approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee in Lund (383/2007, 443-99), and permission was obtained to extract data from the CPUP registry. The study received funding from Stiftelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne, Promobilia, Forte and Region Kronoberg. The funding sources had no decision-making role or influence on the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Results

2,693 children (1,598 boys, 1,095 girls) with an examination before the age of 5 years were reported between 1994 and

Table 1. Contracture events and number of person-years according to the Gross Motor Function Classification System I-V (GMFCS)

GMFCS	level n (%)	Contracture, legs (%)	Person-years (mean)
I II III IV V	1,901 (40) 765 (16) 540 (11) 752 (16) 793 (17)	237 (13) 183 (24) 247 (46) 436 (58) 499 (63)	11,450 (6.0) 4,495 (5.9) 2,250 (4.2) 3,166 (4.2) 2,406 (3.0)
Total	4,751	1,602 (34)	23,768 (5.0)

Table 2. Age at first hip, knee, and foot operation

Age at first operation									
Type of surgery	Median	1st quartile	3rd quartile						
Hip, soft tissue	4.0	3.0	6.0						
Hip, bony	6.5	4.0	10						
Knee, soft tissu	9.0	7.0	12						
Knee, bony	10	5.5	12						
Foot, soft tissu	7.0	5.0	10						
Foot, bony	11	8.5	14						

Proportion of operation-free legs



Figure 2. Proportions of operation-free legs from the time of the first measurement for each GMFCS level.

2018. The analysis was based on 4,751 legs followed up for an average of 5.0 years (only the affected leg was included for children with unilateral CP). Contractures were in general most common at higher GMFCS levels (Table 1). There were 27,230 measurement occasions.

Within the 10 years of follow-up, 937 legs (20%) had been operated on. The most common operation was soft tissue surgery of the hip (316 legs, 6.7%), followed by soft tissue surgery of the foot (201 legs, 4.2%), and bony surgery (osteotomy) of the hip (151 legs 3.2%). The median ages were 4 years for soft tissue surgery of the hip, 7 years for soft tissue surgery of the foot, and 6.5 years for bony surgery of the hip (Table 2). The proportions of legs not operated on in children with different GMFCS levels are presented in Figure 2.

1,602 contractures were recorded. A contracture developed in 34% of all legs, and the median time to the first contracture was 10 years from the first examination within the follow-up program. Contracture occurred most frequently in children with a higher GMFCS level. The first contracture to occur in children with GMFCS level I or II was a foot or ankle con-





Proportion of legs without contracture



Figure 3. Proportions of legs free from hip, knee, and foot contracture, stratified by GMFCS level and 95% pointwise confidence intervals for equally spaced time points every 2.5 years during the follow-up.

Proportion of legs without contracture

Years from first follow-up

GMFCS II

0

Hip Kne

Proportion of legs without contracture







Table 3. Proportions of legs free from hip, knee, and foot contracture, stratified by GMFCS level, and 95% pointwise confidence intervals after 10 years of follow-up

GMFCS level	Hip	Knee	Ankle	
I II IV V	1.0 (0.9–1.0) 0.9 (0.8–0.9) 0.9 (0.8–0.9) 0.8 (0.8–0.8) 0.8 (0.7–0.8)	1.0 (0.9–1.0) 0.9 (0.9–0.9) 0.5 (0.4–0.6) 0.3 (0.3–0.4) 0.2 (0.2–0.3)	0.9 (0.9–0.9) 0.8 (0.8–0.9) 0.7 (0.6–0.8) 0.7 (0.7–0.8) 0.6 (0.6–0.7)	

tracture, and a knee contracture was the first contracture to develop in children with GMFCS level III to V. Proportions of legs free from hip, knee, and foot contracture in each GMFCS level are presented in Table 3 and with separate KM curves in Figure 3.

Discussion

We identified that the first joint contracture to occur in the lower limb involved foot contracture for children with GMFCS level I or II and knee contracture for children with GMFCS level III to V. Children classified with GMFCS level I and II are ambulant whereas those classified with GMFCS level III to V in general rely on wheeled mobility and spend more time sitting with flexed knees. This could explain the sequence in which the contracture presents. This seems to follow the same pattern as previously reported for pain localization in children with CP, in which children with GMFCS level I or II report pain primarily in the feet and those with GMFCS III to V pain in the knees and hips (Alriksson-Schmidt and Hägglund 2016).

These results are consistent with those of a previous study (Nordmark et al. 2009) that reported decreasing ROM from 2 years of age in all lower limb joints. Together, these findings suggest that contracture should be treated early given that ROM seems to decrease over time. Cloodt et al. (2018) found that hamstring length, measured as the unilateral popliteal angle, and dorsiflexion of the foot are strongly associated with the development of knee contracture, whereas spasticity had a significantly smaller effect. Contracture in the lower limbs affects the mechanical position of both the affected and adjacent joints. Preventing normal movements and forces around the joint may increase the risk for additional contractures.

Our study excluded children whose first measurement was at 5 years of age or later. The reason for this was to increase the opportunity of identifying the first contracture and to reflect the natural development of contracture as much as possible because information on treatment and surgery before enrollment in the CPUP was not available in these children. Among the children included, their access to early service and follow-up during their first years of life should be considered. All children with CP in Sweden have access to free health care and interventions from multiprofessional habilitation centers (Alriksson-Schmidt et al. 2017).

Surgery or treatment with SDR and ITB can affect the development of contracture in a specific joint as well as in adjacent joints (McGinley et al. 2012).

There are several strengths and limitations of our study. Classification of subtype was missing in several cases and therefore not included. The contractures were recorded by goniometric measurement, which is a standard measurement in clinical settings but whose reliability varies according to the joint and position (Hancock et al. 2018, Kim et al. 2018). The results included in our study were based on repeated measurements taken by many different examiners, and this may have introduced information bias or measurement errors. In survival analysis, as we used, measurement error can introduce bias. However, this bias has been shown to be small when differences between groups are moderate in terms of hazard ratios (Oh et al. 2018). Furthermore, in some situations in which bias was found to be substantial, bias attenuates observed differences between groups. For our study, this would mean an underestimation of differences in risk of having a first contracture in a specific joint compared with another joint. We validated the data for incorrectly reported measurements to reduce the risk of incorrect outliers. Examiners in the CPUP are encouraged to practice and learn to perform the register's standardized measurements, which has been shown to be important for reliability (Fosang et al. 2003).

One limitation of our study was the cutoff values for defining contracture. We chose -10° as the cutoff for all joints to be consistent with the reference values used in the surveillance program. Hip or knee extension or foot dorsiflexion of -10° or less causes functional limitations and affects mechanical alignments. To evaluate the effects of this cutoff, we also ran the statistical analyses using less than 0° as the cutoff and found a similar outcome. For children with GMFCS level III to V, the statistical analyses indicated that the conclusion of this study was insensitive to the choice of cutoff values for contracture, that is, 0° or -10° . It is more difficult to draw a conclusion from the trend for GMFCS level I and II because the fewer contractures at these levels of motor function (Nordmark et al. 2009) make it harder to detect statistically significant differences.

Another limitation was the age of the children censored because of surgery. In the CPUP surveillance program, children at risk for hip dislocation have their first soft tissue surgery of the hip early (median age 4 years), which precedes the first foot and knee surgery by 3 and 5 years, respectively. In some cases, hip surgery is likely to occur before confirmed contracture of the hip because of the indication for surgery based solely on lateralization on radiographs (Hägglund et al. 2005). In our study, the operated leg was censored from analyses at the time of the first operation. This may have affected the results, especially for children with GMFCS level IV or V, because many of these children receive their hip operation early and therefore were not included in the analysis.

Botulinum toxin A injection is a common treatment for spasticity in children with CP in Sweden (Franzén et al. 2017) and it could be argued that this interfered with our results. However, given the large number of treated children and the fact that the effect of botulinum toxin is not permanent, these children were included.

The intervals between examinations in the CPUP are based on GMFCS level and age, from twice a year up to the age of 6 years and then every year (GMFCS II–V) or every second year (GMFCS I) (Figure 1). This indicates that some differences between GMFCS levels may stem from differences in detection, probably because of the different number of examinations. Although this may explain some of the differences in the proportion of contractures, it does not explain the fact that contractures occurred in a different sequence, with dorsiflexion first in children with GMFCS level I or II and knee extension first in children with GMFCS level III to V.

Our longitudinal study covers a time period of 24 years and during this period several interventions have changed. Physiotherapy interventions have changed from hands-on sessions to a greater focus on activity and participation. The use of assistive devices and orthoses has increased, and interventions are primarily integrated into the child's everyday life. There are regional differences in pediatric physiotherapy interventions in Sweden (Degerstedt et al. 2020). More intensive treatment has been associated with better outcome for the children (Storvold et al. 2020). Surgeries are more proactive rather than reactive today and the amount of surgeries has decreased (Hägglund et al. 2005).

Our study indicates that contractures in the lower limb occur early. It seems possible to avoid major surgeries by monitoring patients with CP and treating contractures early on with physiotherapy, orthoses, and botulinum toxin (Hägglund 2005, Novak et al. 2013). Knowledge regarding the occurrence of the first contracture is important to be able to provide early treatment.

An ankle–foot orthosis (AFO) is used widely to facilitate dorsiflexion and to improve walking ability, gait pattern, or foot alignment when standing. In Sweden, 50% of children with CP use an AFO, and the use of AFO starts early and increases with age up to 5 years (Wingstrand et al. 2014). A similar trend has been reported for the development of spasticity of the gastrosoleus muscle, which peaks at age 5–6 years in children with CP (Lindén et al. 2019). Knee orthoses can also be used to increase ROM, but this has not been evaluated widely (Laessker-Alkema and Eek 2016). Most children with CP in Sweden who require a standing device use individually molded hip–knee–ankle–foot orthoses for mechanical alignment of all the segments of the lower extremities.

Botulinum toxin is frequently used in children with CP in Sweden (Franzén et al. 2017). It is most frequently injected into the gastrocnemius muscle to improve gait and increase ROM. The treatment is usually followed by use of orthosis or in some cases serial casting. Botulinum toxin is more frequently used in younger children (Franzén et al. 2017) and its use corresponds to the development of spasticity that increases over the first 5 years of life and then decreases after 6 years of age (Lindén et al. 2019) and GMFCS level I or II. Our results are consistent with this observation that foot contracture occurred first in children with GMFCS levels I–II. Botulinum toxin injection into the hamstring muscles is most common in older children with GMFCS level IV or V (Franzén et al. 2017). Our study showed that knee contracture occurs first in children with GMFCS level IV or V but that contracture occurs at an early age.

It is reasonable to think that a contracture in a joint affects the adjacent joints, which are then at risk for developing contracture. With a knee joint contracture, the hip will not be extended and flexion contracture in connection with abduction or adduction is likely to occur. Knowledge concerning the sequence of the development of contracture in children at different GMFCS levels is crucial for treating the joints early on and preventing the sequence of contractures following the first one.

In conclusion, lower limb contracture occurs first in the foot of children with GMFCS level I and II and in the knee in children with GMFCS level III to V. Early interventions to prevent knee and foot contractures in children with CP should be considered.

Abbreviations

AFO: ankle–foot orthosis; CP: cerebral palsy; CPUP: Cerebral Palsy Follow-up Program (Sweden); GMFCS: Gross Motor Function Classification System; ITB: intrathecal baclofen pump; KM: Kaplan–Meier; ROM: range of motion; SDR: selective dorsal rhizotomy.

Study design: EC, PW, HLP, ERB. Data collection: EC, ERB. Data analysis: EC, PW, ERB. Manuscript preparation: EC, PW, HLP, ERB.

The authors thank Anna Lindgren for statistical support.

Acta thanks Marek Jozwiak and Wade M Shrader for help with peer review of this study.

- Agustsson A, Sveinsson T, Rodby-Bousquet E. The effect of asymmetrical limited hip flexion on seating posture, scoliosis and windswept hip distortion. Res Dev Disabil 2017; 71: 18-23. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2017.09.019.
- Agustsson A, Sveinsson T, Pope P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Preferred posture in lying and its association with scoliosis and windswept hips in adults with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil 2018: 1-5. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1492032.
- Alriksson-Schmidt A, Hägglund G. Pain in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy: a population-based registry study. Acta Paediatr 2016; 105(6): 665-70. doi: 10.1111/apa.13368.
- Alriksson-Schmidt A I, Arner M, Westbom L, Krumlinde-Sundholm L, Nordmark E, Rodby-Bousquet E, Hägglund G. A combined surveillance program and quality register improves management of childhood disability. Disabil Rehabil 2017; 39(8): 830-6. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2016.1161843.

- Barrett R S, Lichtwark G A. Gross muscle morphology and structure in spastic cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2010; 52(9): 794-804. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03686.x.
- Blackman J A, Svensson C I, Marchand S. Pathophysiology of chronic pain in cerebral palsy: implications for pharmacological treatment and research. Dev Med Child Neurol 2018; 60(9): 861-5. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13930.
- Chan G, Miller F. Assessment and treatment of children with cerebral palsy. Orthop Clin North Am 2014; 45(3): 313-25. doi: 10.1016/j.ocl.2014.03.003.
- Cloodt E, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Demographic and modifiable factors associated with knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2018; 60(4): 391-6. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13659.
- Degerstedt F, Enberg B, Keisu B I, Björklund M. Inequity in physiotherapeutic interventions for children with cerebral palsy in Sweden: a national registry study. Acta Paediatr 2020; 109(4): 774-82. doi: 10.1111/apa.14980.
- Fosang A L, Galea M P, McCoy A T, Reddihough D S, Story I. Measures of muscle and joint performance in the lower limb of children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2003; 45(10): 664-70. doi: 10.1017/ s0012162203001245.
- Franzén M, Hägglund G, Alriksson-Schmidt A. Treatment with Botulinum toxin A in a total population of children with cerebral palsy: a retrospective cohort registry study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2017; 18(1): 520. doi: 10.1186/s12891-017-1880-y.
- Hägglund G, Andersson S, Duppe H, Lauge-Pedersen H, Nordmark E, Westbom L. Prevention of severe contractures might replace multilevel surgery in cerebral palsy: results of a population-based health care programme and new techniques to reduce spasticity. J Pediatr Orthop B 2005; 14(4): 269-73.
- Hancock G E, Hepworth T, Wembridge K. Accuracy and reliability of knee goniometry methods. J Exp Orthop 2018; 5(1): 46. doi: 10.1186/s40634-018-0161-5.
- Kim D H, An D H, Yoo W G. Validity and reliability of ankle dorsiflexion measures in children with cerebral palsy. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil 2018; 31(3): 465-8. doi: 10.3233/BMR-170862.
- Laessker-Alkema K, Eek M N. Effect of knee orthoses on hamstring contracture in children with cerebral palsy: multiple single-subject study. Pediatr Phys Ther 2016; 28(3): 347-53. doi: 10.1097/PEP.000000000000267.
- Lindén O, Hägglund G, Rodby-Bousquet E, Wagner P. The development of spasticity with age in 4,162 children with cerebral palsy: a registerbased prospective cohort study. Acta Orthop 2019; 90(3): 286-91. doi: 10.1080/17453674.2019.1590769.

- McGinley J L, Dobson F, Ganeshalingam R, Shore B J, Rutz E, Graham H K. Single-event multilevel surgery for children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol 2012; 54(2): 117-28. doi: 10.1111/j.1649-8749.2011.04143.x.
- Nordmark E, Hägglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H, Wagner P, Westbom L. Development of lower limb range of motion from early childhood to adolescence in cerebral palsy: a population-based study. BMC Med 2009; 7: 65. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-65.
- Novak I, McIntyre S, Morgan C, Campbell L, Dark L, Morton N, Stumbles E, Wilson S A, Goldsmith S. A systematic review of interventions for children with cerebral palsy: state of the evidence. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013; 55(10): 885-910. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12246.
- Oh E J, Shepherd B E, Lumley T, Shaw P A. Considerations for analysis of time-to-event outcomes measured with error: bias and correction with SIMEX. Stat Med 2018; 37(8): 1276-89. doi: 10.1002/sim.7554.
- Palisano R J, Rosenbaum P, Bartlett D, Livingston M H. Content validity of the expanded and revised Gross Motor Function Classification System. Dev Med Child Neurol 2008; 50(10): 744-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.03089.x.
- Pettersson K, Wagner P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Development of a risk score for scoliosis in children with cerebral palsy. Acta Orthop 2020: 91(2): 203-8 doi: 10.1080/17453674.2020.1711621.
- Raja K, Joseph B, Benjamin S, Minocha V, Rana B. Physiological cost index in cerebral palsy: its role in evaluating the efficiency of ambulation. J Pediatr Orthop 2007; 27(2): 130-6. doi: 10.1097/01.bpb.0000242440.96434.26.
- Rosenbaum P, Paneth N, Leviton A, Goldstein M, Bax M, Damiano D, Dan B, Jacobsson B. A report: the definition and classification of cerebral palsy April 2006. Dev Med Child Neurol 2007; 109(Suppl.): 8-14.
- Smith L R, Chambers H G, Lieber R L. Reduced satellite cell population may lead to contractures in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013; 55(3): 264-70. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12027.
- Storvold G V, Jahnsen R B, Evensen K A I, Bratberg G H. Is more frequent physical therapy associated with increased gross motor improvement in children with cerebral palsy? A national prospective cohort study. Disabil Rehabil 2020; 42(10): 1430-8. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1528635.
- Wingstrand M, Hägglund G, Rodby-Bousquet E. Ankle-foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy: a cross sectional population based study of 2200 children. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014; 15: 327. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-327.

Paper IV

RESEARCH

Open Access



Erika Cloodt^{1,2*}[®], Anna Lindgren³[®], Henrik Lauge-Pedersen¹[®] and Elisabet Rodby-Bousquet^{1,4}[®]

Abstract

Background: To prevent severe contractures and their impact on adjacent joints in children with cerebral palsy (CP), it is crucial to treat the reduced range of motion early and to understand the order by which contractures appear. The aim of this study was to determine how a hip-knee or ankle contracture are associated with the time to and sequence of contracture development in adjacent joints.

Methods: This was a longitudinal cohort study of 1,071 children (636 boys, 435 girls) with CP born 1990 to 2018 who were registered before 5 years of age in the Swedish surveillance program for CP and had a hip, knee or ankle flexion contracture of $\geq 10^\circ$. The results were based on 1,636 legs followed for an average of 4.6 years (range 0–17 years). The Cox proportional-hazards model adjusted for Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) levels I–V was used to compare the percentage of legs with and without more than one contracture.

Results: A second contracture developed in 44% of the legs. The frequency of multiple contractures increased with higher GMFCS level. Children with a primary hip or foot contracture were more likely to develop a second knee contracture. Children with a primary knee contracture developed either a hip or ankle contracture as a second contracture.

Conclusions: Multiple contractures were associated with higher GMFCS level. Lower limb contractures appeared in specific patterns where the location of the primary contracture and GMFCS level were associated with contracture development in adjacent joints.

Keywords: Cerebral palsy, Range of motion, Contracture, Joint, Hip, Knee, Foot

Background

Lower limb contractures are often present in children with cerebral palsy (CP). A contracture is defined as reduced joint range of motion (static contracture). The risk of contractures increases with age and severity of the disease [1, 2]. The causes responsible for the development of contractures are not fully understood but are

*Correspondence: erika.cloodt@med.lu.se; erika.cloodt@kronoberg.se

¹ Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

usually referred to spasticity, muscle pathology, muscle weakness, biomechanical alignment, and positioning [3–5]. Contractures are associated with pain and affect the child's ability to walk, stand, or transfer [6]. Treatment is usually conservative when the contracture first appears and involves physical therapy, orthoses, casting, and treatment for spasticity. Preventive treatment might reduce the need for surgery and should be initiated as early as possible [7].

Children with CP are at risk of developing contractures in multiple joints [8]. It is likely that a single contracture increases the risk of further contractures because of the changes in biomechanical alignment and positioning.

© The Author(s) 2022. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.01 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, and use included use is not permitted by statutoy regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, wish http://creativecconmons.org/licenses/byl/40/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecon mmons.org/ovel/bublicdomain/2001/0) applies to the data made available in this article, uness otherwise stated to the data.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

Previous studies have shown that hip and knee contractures increase the risk of scoliosis [9, 10]. Therefore, it is important to understand the pattern in which contractures occur to be able to customize effective treatment strategies and prevent severe contractures.

The first contracture to occur in the lower limb varies according to the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) level [11]. Children at GMFCS level I or II are most likely to develop an ankle contracture first, whereas children at GMFCS levels III–V are most likely to develop a knee contracture first [12]. To our knowledge, no studies have investigated the association between the location of the first contracture with further contracture development in the lower limb in children with CP.

The aim of this study was to analyze how a hip, knee or ankle contracture affects the time to and sequence of contracture development in adjacent joints in children with CP at GMFCS levels I–V.

Methods

This was a longitudinal cohort study based on register data from the Swedish Cerebral Palsy Follow-Up Program (CPUP), which includes > 95% of all children with CP in Sweden. Children with at least one flexion contracture in the hip, knee, or ankle joint were included in this study. The study included all measurements reported in the registry since the start of the program in October 1994 until the end of June 2018. All children born in 1990– 2018 who were registered in the CPUP before 5 years of age were included. Children registered at 5 years of age or later were excluded. According to CPUP, children are examined every 6 months, once a year, or every other year, depending on their GMFCS level and age [12].

The follow-up includes several variables, such as examination of gross motor function, passive range of motion (ROM), and surgeries reported by the child's multiprofessional habilitation team and orthopedic department. The full protocol is available at https://cpup.se/in-engli sh/manuals-and-evaluation-forms/. The examiners have access to the child's previous measurements. The CPUP registry has a yearly reporting rate of 90–95%.

Gross motor function was classified as levels I–V according to the expanded and revised version of the GMFCS [13]. The GMFCS level from the child's most recent visit were used. Passive ROM was measured using a universal goniometer and standardized positions, and included hip extension (Thomas test), knee extension, and ankle dorsiflexion (knee extended). The range of motion was rounded to the nearest 0 or 5 degrees according to the manual. A contracture was defined as a flexion contracture of at least 10° of the hip and knee or at least

 Table 1
 Number of legs and involvement for children at GMFCS

 level I-V at baseline
 Vector

GMFCS level	Children N	Legs N (%)	Involvement		
	(%)		Unilateral CP Legs N (%)	All other subtypes Legs N (%)	
1	185 (17)	212 (13)	115 (54)	97 (46)	
11	206 (19)	269 (16)	68 (25)	201 (75)	
Ш	156 (15)	249 (15)	14 (6)	235 (94)	
IV	234 (22)	405 (25)	8 (2)	397 (98)	
V	290 (27)	501 (31)	0 (0)	501 (100)	
Total	1,071 (100)	1,636 (100)	205 (13)	1431 (87)	

GMFCS Gross Motor Function Classification System

10° plantar flexion of the ankle. The primary outcome was the onset and location of a second contracture.

For children with unilateral CP, only the affected leg was included in the analyses. Children included at baseline had not received lower limb surgeries, selective dorsal rhizotomy operation or an intrathecal baclofen pump before their first hip, knee or ankle contracture occurred. Each leg that underwent soft tissue or bone surgery any time after enrollment, that potentially could influence the risk of further contracture development, was censored at the date of surgery. Examples of reported soft tissue surgeries were adductor tenotomy, hamstring or Achilles tendon lengthening, and tendon or muscle transfer. Examples of reported bone surgeries were osteotomy, physiodesis, or arthrodesis [12]. Both legs were censored from the analysis at the date of a selective dorsal rhizotomy or insert of an intrathecal baclofen pump, or if information about which leg was operated on was missing. Surgery to the upper extremity or the spine, treatment with botulinum toxin injection, oral baclofen medication, orthotics, or serial casting were not censored, and the data for children who received these treatments were retained in the analyses.

Statistical analysis

All legs with a contracture were followed up individually from the date of the first contracture until the development of the second contracture, the last examination, or date of surgery. The time from first to second contracture was analyzed, for each leg for each child, using the Cox proportional-hazards model, adjusting for GMFCS level. The model assumptions for proportional hazards was tested and fulfilled. This was done first for all legs and then separately according to the joint where the first contracture occurred. Legs with more than one contracture measured at baseline were included in the descriptive analyses (Tables 1 and 2) and when analyzing the time between contractures. They were however excluded when analyzing the sequences of contracture development (Table 3). The chi-squared test was used to analyze in which joint the second contracture occurred according to the GMFCS level; this analysis was performed separately for joints affected by a baseline contracture of the hip, knee, or ankle [14]. The p-for-trend was calculated using logistic regression to analyze systematic, linear, associations of contracture development in these joints

Table 2 Location of the baseline contracture, prevalence of a second contracture during follow-up and number of limb- years for children at GMFCS I-V

GMFCS level	Location of the first contracture Legs N (%)				Second contracture		Limb-years (mean)	
					Legs N (%)			
	Hip	Knee	Ankle	>1 joint		>1 joint		
	41 (19)	83 (39)	78 (37)	10 (5)	53 (25)	2 (4)	899 (4.2)	
11	43 (16)	98 (36)	112 (42)	16 (6)	101 (38)	2 (2)	989 (3.7)	
111	40 (16)	124 (50)	66 (27)	19 (8)	115 (46)	3 (3)	747 (3.0)	
IV	58 (14)	210 (52)	90 (22)	47 (11)	203 (50)	8 (4)	1,212 (3.0)	
V	77 (15)	294 (59)	90 (18)	40 (8)	248 (50)	9 (4)	1,256 (2.5)	
Total	259 (16)	809 (49)	436 (27)	132 (8)	720 (44)	24 (3)	5,103 (3.1)	

GMFCS Gross Motor Function Classification System

Table 3 Results of the chi-squared and p-for-trend analyses of the associations between each baseline contracture and the location of a second contracture during follow-up at each level I to V of the Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) for legs that developed > 1 lower limb contracture. Only legs with one single baseline and one single follow up contracture were included

First contracture	GMFCS level	Legs N	Second contracture			p value
			Hip N (%)	Knee N (%)	Ankle N(%)	
Hip joint						0.002 ^a
	I	8	-	5 (63)	3 (37)	< 0.001 ^b
	Ш	21	-	10 (48)	11 (52)	
	ш	19	-	12 (63)	7 (37)	
	IV	28	-	22 (79)	6 (21)	
	v	45	-	40 (89)	5 (11)	
	Total	121	-	89 (74)	32 (26)	
Knee joint						0.003 ^a
	I	15	4 (27)	-	11 (73)	< 0.001 ^b
	Ш	32	7 (22)	-	25 (78)	
	ш	54	25 (46)	-	29 (54)	
	IV	80	36 (45)	-	44 (55)	
	v	111	65 (59)	-	46 (41)	
	Total	292	137 (47)	-	155 (53)	
Ankle joint						< 0.001ª
	I	18	3 (17)	15 (83)	-	0.59 ^b
	Ш	30	10 (33)	20 (67)	-	
	ш	20	3 (15)	17 (85)	-	
	IV	40	7 (17)	33 (83)	-	
	v	43	9 (21)	34 (79)	-	
	Total	151	32 (21)	119 (79)	-	

^a chi-squared test

^b p-for-trend analysis

relative to the GMFCS level. IBM SPSS Statistics (version 26.0; IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA) and R 3.6.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were used in the statistical analyses. Categorical variables were described in frequency (n) and percentage (%).

Results

In total 1,071 children with a lower limb contracture and at least one examination after their initial contracture were included at baseline. The analysis was based on 1,636 legs followed up for an average of 4.6 years (range 0–17 years) after the onset of the first contracture (Table 1). The distribution of the primary contracture varied between GMFCS levels, and multiple contractures were most common at higher GMFCS levels. Within the follow-up period, 916 of the legs (56%) did not develop further contractures, while 720 legs (44%) developed additional contractures (Table 2).

In total 132 legs had more than one contracture occurring at baseline. These were counted multiple times; both contractures occurring simultaneously were treated as the first contracture and the potentially following contracture(s) were treated as the second (or third) contracture (Fig. 1). Lower limb surgery was performed on 408 legs (25%) during the follow-up period and were censored from the analysis at the date of surgery. The number lost to follow-up was negligible.

The children's median age for a reported second contracture was 10.8 years. The risk of a second contracture



increased with older age and higher GMFCS level (Fig. 2). The second contracture occurred after an average of 5 years from the first contracture (Fig. 3).

The time from the first to second contracture varied depending on the location of the first contracture. Legs with a primary hip or ankle contracture developed a second contracture earlier than those with a primary knee contracture (Fig. 4).

Legs with more than one baseline contracture were not included in the following analyses.

When analyzing legs with one single baseline contracture and one single follow-up contracture, hip contracture was the primary contracture in 259 legs (Table 3). A second contracture developed during follow-up in 121 (47%) of these legs, most commonly in the knee (74%) and less frequently in the ankle (26%). These results were dependent on the GMFCS level; children at GMFCS level II were more likely to develop an ankle contracture after the hip contracture, whereas those at GMFCS levels I or III–V were more likely to develop a knee contracture after the hip contracture.

A knee contracture was the primary contracture in 809 legs. A second contracture developed in 297 (37%) of these legs with an even distribution between hip (47%) and ankle (53%). A primary knee contracture was more likely to be followed by an ankle contracture for children at GMFCS level I-IV whereas a hip contracture was more likely to be the second contracture in children at GMFCS level V.

An ankle contracture was the first contracture to occur in 436 legs, and a second contracture developed in 151 (35%) of these legs, with more contractures affecting the knee joint (79%) and fewer affecting the hip joint (21%). Having an ankle contracture at baseline increased the risk of developing a knee contracture regardless of GMFCS level (Table 3).

Discussion

We found that lower limb contractures appeared in specific patterns. A hip or ankle contracture primarily affected the knee joint, whereas a knee contracture affected both the hip and the ankle. Multiple contractures were most common at higher GMFCS levels. Of the children, 25% at GMFCS level I and 38% at level II developed more than one contracture during the followup compared with 50% of children at GMFCS IV and V. This corresponds with previous findings [2] that children at GMFCS IV and V are most likely to develop lower limb contractures.

The median age for developing a second contracture was 10 years. The second contracture was reported after a median of 5 years from the first contracture. The key problems in children with CP are muscle pathology,





loss of muscle control, abnormal muscle tone and muscle imbalance and these are associated with secondary problems, such as short muscles and contractures during childhood and growth. The secondary problems lead to tertiary abnormalities because the child must use compensatory strategies. It is important to understand the natural history and multifactorial pathology of contracture development [15, 16].

This study showed that the most common pattern in which the contractures appeared was a knee contracture at baseline followed by a hip or ankle contracture. The location of the second contracture varied with GMFCS level, and children at GMFCS level V were more likely to develop a hip contracture secondary to the knee contracture. Children with bilateral CP are, in general, more affected by deformities of the hip, whereas those with unilateral CP have more involvement of the ankle [17]. When Pettersson et al. [10] created a risk score for the development of scoliosis before 16 years of age in children with CP, limited knee extension was identified as an independent predictor. In supine lying, limited knee extension may force the hips into flexion and gravity is



likely to tilt the legs to one side, causing the windswept position [18]. That may be one reason why a knee contracture increases the risk of a hip contracture. Children at GMFCS level IV or V are mostly nonambulatory and spend more time sitting with flexed knees and hips. This could also contribute to the sequence in which the contracture presents. Children at higher GMFCS levels have a high prevalence of postural asymmetries in sitting and lying, and they have difficulties to change position [19]. A knee contracture also increases the risk of an ankle contracture, possibly because of the gastrocnemius muscle, which is involved in both knee flexion and plantar flexion.

For ambulatory children with bilateral CP, a knee contracture may force them to walk in apparent equinus because of the lever arm dysfunction, which could lead to an ankle contracture. It is important to recognize apparent equinus when children walk on their toes because of the flexion contracture of the knee and not because of an ankle contracture [20]. For children with unilateral CP, a knee contracture can cause a limb-length discrepancy that makes them use toe walking as a compensatory strategy [21].

We found that children who developed multiple contractures and had an ankle contracture at baseline, were most likely to develop a knee contracture during the follow-up independent of their GMFCS level. In Sweden, children with limited dorsiflexion are usually treated with ankle–foot orthoses [22]. Most of these children use their orthoses during sleep. By preventing plantar flexion of the foot, a short gastrocnemius may force the knee joint into flexion and the child to sleep with flexed knees, which could cause a knee contracture over time [16]. This may lead to a vicious cycle with more time in sitting and less time in standing.

Limited dorsiflexion and equinus in children with unilateral CP may also compensate for the leg-length discrepancy by causing them to walk with a flexed knee on the longer leg [21]. In Sweden, botulinum toxin A injections are a common treatment for reduced ROM caused by increased muscle tone in the plantar flexors [23]. Together with isolated lengthening of the Achilles tendon, excessive injection of botulinum toxin A into the calf muscles can cause crouch gait, which is likely to persist and deteriorate over time with increased knee flexion [20].

There are several limitations to our study. Even though all subtypes were included, only spastic unilateral CP was identified to select the affected leg. The examinations started in 1994, prior to the introduction of the GMFCS. Therefore, we used the GMFCS level from the most recent report. However, the GMFCS levels show stability over time [24]. The contractures were recorded by goniometric measurement, which is a standard measurement in clinical settings but whose reliability varies according to the joint and position [25–27]. The results of our study were based on repeated measurements by many different examiners, and this may have introduced information bias or measurement errors that could influence the survival analysis. However, this bias has been shown to be small when differences between groups are small in terms of hazard ratios [14]. We validated the data for incongruent measurements to reduce the risk of extreme outliers caused by errors, e.g. clear reporting errors such as ROM of 360 degrees. The examiners involved in the CPUP are encouraged to practice the standardized measurements in the program, which has been shown to be important for reliability [28].

Another limitation was the cutoff value of a contracture because -10° in the hip, knee, and ankle joint can also affect the order in which a contracture appears. Full passive range of motion allows more extension of the hip and ankle joints compared with the knee joint. However, we could not find any literature supporting a cutoff exceeding 0° in any of the joints being considered a contracture. The statistical analyses were also run with a cutoff value of 0° and produced similar outcomes. There are few reference values for passive ROM in children with CP and no standard definition of what ROM is considered a contracture [29, 30]. Reference values for typically developing children are not representative when describing ROM in children with CP, who have reduced knee and ankle extension compared with hip extension [29]. We chose -10° as the cutoff for all joints since these values are often applied in clinical practice as severely affecting biomechanical alignment, gait, function and positioning. Hip extension less than 0° affects mobility and function in ambulatory children with CP, and a hip flexion contracture of -15° significantly decreases the physical functioning [31]. A knee flexion contracture of -10° increase the risk for crouch gait, and -10° of plantarflexion is the minimum required to significantly change kinematics and kinetics[30, 32, 33].

A further limitation of this study was the age of the children censored because of surgery. In the CPUP follow-up program, children at risk for hip displacement (migration percentage>40) have their first soft tissue surgery of the hip early at a median age of 4 years. We wanted to follow the natural history of contracture development as much as possible, and it is likely that surgery of a joint affects the ROM both in the specific joint and the adjacent joints. Therefore, we censored legs at the date of surgery. This may have affected the results, especially for children at GMFCS level IV or V, who are more likely to have a surgery at a younger age. It is also possible that this decision led to underestimation of the influence of hip contracture on other joints. This may also partially explain why a hip flexion contracture was the least common contracture in our study. However, loss of hip extension seems less common than loss of knee extension and ankle dorsiflexion in children with CP at GMFCS I-II [29].

Children who received botulinum toxin treatment were not excluded from analyses and it could be argued that this interfered with our results since this treatment is more common in muscles affecting the knee and ankle than muscles affecting the hip. However, given the large number of children having this treatment[23] and the fact that the effect is not permanent, these children were included. Most children followed in CPUP receives ongoing interventions such as physiotherapy and treatment with orthoses. This should be taken under consideration when translating the results to other groups. This study covers a period of 24 years and interventions have changed during this time from more hands-on therapy to focus on participation and activities in daily life.

Contracture development starts early during the rapid growth in childhood and the risk of fixed contractures increases with age [2]. To prevent decompensation due to fixed deformities, clinicians should treat contractures as early as possible [34]. By monitoring children with CP, and treating contractures when they appear, with e.g. physiotherapy and orthoses, it may be possible to avoid the need for major surgery [7]. In the clinical setting, it is important to recognize how the sequence of contractures is likely to occur and to initiate prophylactic treatment of adjacent joints e.g. consider the knee joint when introducing Ankle–Foot Orthoses. For the orthopedic surgeon, knee contracture might indicate the need for closer monitoring of the hip to avoid dislocation [35].

Conclusions

Development of a second contracture is a common problem in children with CP and associated with higher GMFCS level. The time and sequence of secondary contracture development in the lower limbs are influenced by the location of the first contracture and GMFCS level. The second contracture primarily develops in the adjacent joint.

Lower limb contracture tends to appear in specific patterns, in which the location of the primary contracture affects the later development of secondary contracture in the adjacent joints. This should be considered when treatment strategies to prevent contractures are being formed.

Abbreviations

CP: Cerebral Palsy; CPUP: Cerebral Palsy Follow-up Program (Sweden); GMFCS: Gross Motor Function Classification System; ROM: Range of Motion.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the children and their families who participate in the CPUP.

Authors' contributions

EC designed the study, collected and analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. AL designed the study, analyzed the data and improved and revised the manuscript. HLP designed the study, improved and revised the manuscript. ERB designed the study, collected and analyzed the data, improved and revised the manuscript. All authors approved the final draft.
Authors' information

EC is a Physiotherapist and PhD student at Lund University, Sweden, AL is a Statistician and Assistant professor in mathematics at Lund university. HLP is a Paediatric orthopaedic surgeon and Associate professor at the Department of Clinical Sciences, Orthopaedics Lund University and ERB is a Physiotherapist and Associate professor at the Department of Clinical Sciences, Orthopaedics Lund University and at the Centre for Clinical Research, Uppsala University, Västerås.

Funding

Open access funding provided by Lund University. The study was funded by Stiffelsen för bistånd åt rörelsehindrade i Skåne, Promobilia, The Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Forte, Grant Number: 2018–01468) and Region Kronoberg. The funding sources had no role in decision-making or influence on the content of the report.

Availability of data and materials

The dataset analyzed for this study are available in the CPUP registry. Permission to access data after ethical approval is granted by KVB Region Skåne. Requests to access the dataset should be directed to https://vardgivare.skane. se/kompetens-utveckling/forskning-inom-region-skane/utlamnande-av-patie ntdata-samradkvb/.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by the Medical Research Ethics Committee in Lund, Sweden (383/2007, 443–99), and permission was obtained to extract data from the CPUP registry.

Consent for publication

Consent to use data for research was provided by all families participating in the registry.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Orthopaedics, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ²Department of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg, Växjö, Sweden. ³Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ⁴Centre for Clinical Research Västerås, Uppsala University-Region Västmanland, Västerås, Sweden.

Received: 20 October 2021 Accepted: 14 June 2022 Published online: 02 July 2022

References

- 1. Chan G, Miller F. Assessment and treatment of children with cerebral palsy. Orthop Clin North Am. 2014;45(3):313–25.
- Nordmark E, Hagglund G, Lauge-Pedersen H, Wagner P, Westbom L. Development of lower limb range of motion from early childhood to adolescence in cerebral palsy: a population-based study. BMC Med. 2009;7:65.
- Barrett RS, Lichtwark GA. Gross muscle morphology and structure in spastic cerebral palsy: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2010;52(9):794–804.
- Cloodt E, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Demographic and modifiable factors associated with knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2018;60(4):391–6.
- Casey J, Agustsson A, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Relationship between scollosis, windswept hips and contractures with pain and asymmetries in sitting and supine in 2450 children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2021;6:1–6.
- Keenan WN, Rodda J, Wolfe R, Roberts S, Borton DC, Graham HK. The static examination of children and young adults with cerebral palsy in the gait analysis laboratory: technique and observer agreement. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2004; 13(1):1–8.

- Hagglund G, Andersson S, Duppe H, Lauge-Pedersen H, Nordmark E, Westborn L. Prevention of severe contractures might replace multilevel surgery in cerebral palsy: results of a population-based health care programme and new techniques to reduce spasticity. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2005;14(4):269–73.
- Holmes SJ, Mudge AJ, Wojciechowski EA, Axt MW, Burns J. Impact of multilevel joint contractures of the hips, knees and ankles on the Gait Profile score in children with cerebral palsy. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2018;59:8–14.
- Agustsson A, Sveinsson T, Rodby-Bousquet E. The effect of asymmetrical limited hip flexion on seating posture, scoliosis and windswept hip distortion. Res Dev Disabil. 2017;71:18–23.
- Pettersson K, Wagner P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Development of a risk score for scoliosis in children with cerebral palsy. Acta Orthop. 2020;91(2):1–6.
- Palisano R, Rosenbaum P, Walter S, Russell D, Wood E, Galuppi B. Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1997;39(4):214–23.
- Cloodt E, Wagner P, Lauge-Pedersen H, Rodby-Bousquet E. Knee and foot contracture occur earliest in children with cerebral palsy: a longitudinal analysis of 2,693 children. Acta Orthop. 2020;92(2):1–9.
- Palisano RJ, Rosenbaum P, Bartlett D, Livingston MH. Content validity of the expanded and revised Gross Motor Function Classification System. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2008;50(10):744–50.
- Oh EJ, Shepherd BE, Lumley T, Shaw PA. Considerations for analysis of time-to-event outcomes measured with error: Bias and correction with SIMEX. Stat Med. 2018;37(8):1276–89.
- Novacheck TF, Gage JR. Orthopedic management of spasticity in cerebral palsy. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(9):1015–31.
- Miller F. Ankle Equinus in Cerebral Palsy. Cham: Springer; 2020.
- Young JL, Rodda J, Selber P, Rutz E, Graham HK. Management of the knee in spastic diplegia: what is the dose? Orthop Clin North Am. 2010;41(4):561–77.
- Agustsson A, Sveinsson T, Pope P, Rodby-Bousquet E. Preferred posture in lying and its association with scoliosis and windswept hips in adults with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2018;41(26):1–5.
- Casey J, Rosenblad A, Rodby-Bousquet E. Postural asymmetries, pain, and ability to change position of children with cerebral palsy in sitting and supine: a cross-sectional study. Disabil Rehabil. 2020;44(11):1–9.
- Bache CE, Selber P, Graham HK. (iii) The management of spastic diplegia. Curr Orthop. 2003;17(2):88–104.
- Eek MN, Zugner R, Stefansdottir I, Tranberg R. Kinematic gait pattern in children with cerebral palsy and leg length discrepancy: Effects of an extra sole. Gait Posture. 2017;55:150–6.
- Wingstrand M, Hagglund G, Rodby-Bousquet E. Ankle-foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy: a cross sectional population based study of 2200 children. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:327.
- Franzen M, Hagglund G, Alriksson-Schmidt A. Treatment with Botulinum toxin A in a total population of children with cerebral palsy - a retrospective cohort registry study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):520.
- Nylen E, Grooten WJA. The Stability of the Gross Motor Function Classification System in Children with Cerebral Palsy Living in Stockholm and Factors Associated with Change. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr. 2021;41(2):138–49.
- Hancock GE, Hepworth T, Wembridge K. Accuracy and reliability of knee goniometry methods. J Exp Orthop. 2018;5(1):46.
- Kim DH, An DH, Yoo WG. Validity and reliability of ankle dorsiflexion measures in children with cerebral palsy. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. 2018;31(3):465–8.
- Kilgour G, McNair P, Stott NS. Intrarater reliability of lower limb sagittal range-of-motion measures in children with spastic diplegia. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2003;45(6):391–9.
- Fosang AL, Galea MP, McCoy AT, Reddihough DS, Story I. Measures of muscle and joint performance in the lower limb of children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2003;45(10):664–70.
- Kilgour GM, McNair PJ, Stott NS. Range of motion in children with spastic diplegia, GMFCS I-II compared to age and gender matched controls. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr. 2005;25(3):61–79.
- Attias M, Chevalley O, Bonnefoy-Mazure A, De Coulon G, Cheze L, Armand S. Effects of contracture on gait kinematics: A systematic review. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2016;33:103–10.

- Pinero JR, Goldstein RY, Culver S, Kuhns CA, Feldman DS, Otsuka NY. Hip flexion contracture and diminished functional outcomes in cerebral palsy. J Pediatr Orthop. 2012;32(6):600–4.
- Houx L, Lempereur M, Remy-Neris O, Brochard S. Threshold of equinus which alters biomechanical gait parameters in children. Gait Posture. 2013;38(4):582–9.
- Leung J, Smith R, Harvey LA, Moseley AM, Chapparo J. The impact of simulated ankle plantarflexion contracture on the knee joint during stance phase of gait: a within-subject study. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2014;29(4):423–8.
- Graham HK, Selber P. Musculoskeletal aspects of cerebral palsy. J Bone Joint Surg. 2003;85-B(2):157–66.
- Hagglund G, Alriksson-Schmidt A, Lauge-Pedersen H, Rodby-Bousquet E, Wagner P, Westborn L. Prevention of dislocation of the hip in children with cerebral palsy: 20-year results of a population-based prevention programme. Bone Joint J. 2014;96:8(11):1546–52.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Knee contracture in children with cerebral palsy

Children with cerebral palsy have an increased risk of developing knee contractures which affects their ability to stand, walk and participate in daily activities. The purposes of this thesis were to increase knowledge about the development of knee contractures; determine the prevalence, analyse associated factors, follow the time



to and sequence of contracture development in the lower limb and evaluate the reliability of popliteal angle measurements in children with CP.

Erika Cloodt works as a physiotherapist with children with disabilities at Habiliteringen barn och ungdom in Växjö.

During her doctoral studies, she was affiliated to the Department of Research and Development, Region Kronoberg.

> Section of Orthopedics Department of Clinical Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:135 ISBN 978-91-8021-297-7 ISSN 1652-8220





FACULTY OF MEDICINE